
Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk

28 September 2021

Committee Executive

Date Wednesday, 6 October 2021

Time of Meeting 2:00 pm

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, 
Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1. ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by 
the nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to 
the visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further 
instructions (during office hours staff should proceed to their usual 
assembly point; outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). 
Please do not re-enter the building unless instructed to do so. 

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in 
leaving the building.  

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare 
any interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to 
which the approved Code applies.

mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Item Page(s)

2

4. MINUTES 1 - 8

To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2021. 

5. ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

To receive any questions, deputations or petitions submitted under Rule 
of Procedure 12. 

(The deadline for public participation submissions for this meeting is 30 
September 2021) 

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 9 - 15

To consider the Committee’s Forward Plan.  

7. COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE TRACKER AND COVID-19 
RECOVERY TRACKER - QUARTER ONE 2021/22

16 - 100

To receive and respond to the findings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee‘s review of the quarter one performance management and 
recovery information. 

8. HOME OFFICE CONSULTATION - EXTENDING THE POLICE AND 
CRIME COMMISSIONERS POWER OF COMPETENCE

101 - 116

To consider whether the Police and Crime Commissioner’s powers 
should be extended any further than the functional power of competence 
and to delegate power of authority to the Head of Community Services 
in association with the Leader of the Council to respond to the 
consultation.   

9. TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN - EVOLUTION OF THE CONCEPT 
PLAN

117 - 193

To note the progress and changes made to the Tewkesbury Area Draft 
Concept Masterplan which are now included in the Tewkesbury Garden 
Town ‘Evolution of the Concept Plan’. 

10. HOMESEEKER PLUS SUB-REGIONAL CHOICE BASED LETTINGS 
ALLOCATION POLICY

194 - 252

To recommend adoption of the refreshed Homeseeker Plus Policy to 
Council. 

11. COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME AND COUNCIL TAX 
DISCOUNTS

253 - 257

To recommend to Council the adoption of the default  Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme from 1 April 2022 with a minor revision to the 
national working age regulations to allow for a de minimis tolerance for 
income changes of £10 or less per week and a number of Council tax 
discounts. 



Item Page(s)

3

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 17 NOVEMBER 2021

COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE
Councillors: R A Bird (Chair), G F Blackwell, M Dean, M A Gore, D J Harwood, E J MacTiernan,               
J R Mason (Vice-Chair), C Softley, R J Stanley, M G Sztymiak and R J E Vines

Substitution Arrangements 

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the 
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings 

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chairman will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with. 

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting will 
not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting. 



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Executive Committee held at the Council Offices, 
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Wednesday, 1 September 2021 commencing at 

2:00 pm

Present:

Chair Councillor R A Bird
Vice Chair Councillor J R Mason

and Councillors:

M Dean, E J MacTiernan, C Softley, R J Stanley, R J E Vines and P N Workman (Substitute for 
M G Sztymiak)

EX.27 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

27.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

EX.28 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

28.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G F Blackwell, M A Gore,                    
D J Harwood and M G Sztymiak. Councillor P N Workman would be acting as a 
substitute for the meeting. 

EX.29 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

29.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from                      
1 July 2012. 

29.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 

EX.30 MINUTES 

30.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2021, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

EX.31 ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

31.1 There were no items from members of the public.  

EX.32 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 

32.1 Attention was drawn to the Committee’s Forward Plan, circulated at Pages No. 10-
17. Members were asked to consider the Plan. 

32.2 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: That the Committee’s Forward Plan be NOTED.  

EX.33 FINANCIAL UPDATE - QUARTER ONE 2021/22 

1

Agenda Item 4



EX.01.09.21

33.1 The report of the Head of Finance and Asset Management, circulated at Pages No. 
18-28, provided the first quarterly monitoring report of the Council’s financial 
performance for the year. Members were asked to consider the information 
provided. 

33.2 The Head of Finance and Asset Management explained that the report highlighted 
a projected outturn surplus based on the quarter one position of £22,382 on the 
revenue budget and detailed the expenditure to date against both the capital 
programme and the approved reserves. In terms of service expenditure, the 
quarter one full year projection highlighted a full year cost of service provision 
totalling £13.266 million which would result in a deficit against the approved budget 
of £849,177. In respect of employees, the full year projection highlighted a 
potential gross surplus of £377,508; however, it should be noted that within the 
Council’s corporate expenditure there was a target to save £155,000 from 
employment costs across the Council, therefore, the net position was a surplus 
against target of £222,508. Payments to third parties highlighted a small projected 
overspend of £75,005 which included additional costs relating to an increased 
amount of burials at cemeteries, the costs of a Domestic Homicide Review and a 
forecast overspend on the Ubico contract sum in relation to extra payments being 
made in order to attract and retain drivers for the Council’s services - a national 
shortage of drivers, estimated to be around 70,000, had resulted in an impact on 
many forms of business with local authority waste collection services not immune 
to that impact. There had been a growing number of examples of authorities 
having to suspend collections as a result of driver shortages. To help mitigate the 
problem on the Tewkesbury contract, an increased market supplement had been 
agreed whilst the driver training for loaders continued – the rest of the contract sum 
was on target. 

33.3 COVID-19 costs were continuing with the full year cost estimated at £415,094 
which included the continued work of the business cell, additional costs for the 
provision of waste and recycling services and the continued support to Tewkesbury 
Leisure Centre. Those costs would be met from the additional COVID-19 grant 
funding provided by the government and new burdens funding for the business cell 
work. Income levels were down but many areas of Council activity had recovered 
well from the impact of COVID-19 with several income streams either back on 
budget or delivering a small surplus. Some areas continued to be affected by the 
pandemic with reductions in income levels from car parks during the first quarter, 
an expectation that the Tewkesbury Leisure Centre contract fee would not be 
provided during the year, and current vacancies for the units within the Council 
Offices. In addition, One Legal income remained below target; although this was 
offset to an extent by the savings on employee costs. 

33.4 The expenditure associated with corporate activities, as well as the financing of the 
Council, highlighted an estimated surplus of £871,559 for the financial year. 
Treasury activities were largely expected to be in line with budget predictions, 
although a small saving on borrowing costs could be achieved. The commercial 
portfolio was currently predicting a small deficit on the year as a result of the 
expected temporary void at one office unit and the inducements offered to secure 
leases at the Clevedon units. It was anticipated that the deficit could be offset by 
the rental income for Unit 5 at the Tipton site where interested parties were 
currently agreeing Heads of Terms for a long lease. However, should the 
commercial property account remain in deficit for the full year, the Council would 
utilise the commercial property reserve to cover the void and lease costs resulting 
in no impact on the base budget position. The Council was expecting additional 
new burdens funding for its continuing administration of business grants as well as 
being able to claim compensation for losses on its sales, fees and charges as a 
result of COVID-19 for the first quarter of the year. The level of new burdens 
funding was not yet known, and the calculation of the compensation claim had yet 

2



EX.01.09.21

to take place so a prudent estimate of £100,000 for new burdens and £70,000 for 
the compensation claim had been included within the projection – it was hoped 
that, by the second quarter report, exact figures would be known for both elements. 
Referring to business rates, the Head of Finance and Asset Management 
explained that the anticipated retention of income showed a gain of approximately 
£250,000 from the original budget compiled in December 2020. At the time of 
compilation, the outlook for the economy and business was very uncertain as a 
result of the impact of COVID-19 and the Council adopted a prudent view following 
national guidelines for likely levels of business rates in 2021/22. The first quarter 
information had highlighted businesses in Tewkesbury Borough to be doing 
significantly better than those estimates with, for example, the level of empty 
properties being considerably lower than forecast. 

33.5 Appendix B to the report showed the capital budget position as at quarter one 
which was currently an underspend of £78,233 against the profiled budget of 
£286,658. The capital programme estimated total expenditure for the year to be 
approximately £3.9million which was much reduced on previous years as a result 
of the end of the acquisition phase of the commercial investment property strategy 
– the main elements of the forecast included: Ashchurch bridge; vehicle 
replacement; replacement of the heating system at the Council Offices; and 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs). Very little had been spent in the first quarter but 
the DFG scheme was ahead of the profiled budget and had incurred an overspend 
– all expenditure on DFGs was covered by grant funding provided by the County 
Council so none of the scheme cost was borne by the Borough Council. Appendix 
C showed the reserves position. Reserves had been set aside from previous years 
to fund known costs and the strategic planning of the authority’s operation. This 
year’s reserves had been boosted by both grant funding related to COVID-19 and 
also the release of provisions from the retained business rates scheme. The 
information in the appendix did not take account of reserves which had been 
committed but not yet paid. 

33.6 During the discussion which ensued, a Member questioned whether the costs of 
Domestic Homicide Reviews were paid for by the Council and whether the Council 
received income from Tewkesbury Leisure Centre in a normal year. In response, 
the Head of Finance and Asset Management explained that the Council received 
funding to offset the costs of Domestic Homicide Reviews from a pot which all 
districts across the County paid into and was matched by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. In terms of Tewkesbury Leisure Centre, the contract fee payable 
each year was £160,000 and, until COVID-19, that had been paid. At the moment 
the Leisure Centre seemed to be doing well again and it was hoped it would be 
cost neutral around September time, potentially moving into a surplus position, so 
the Council may receive some of the contract sum this year. In respect of the void 
office space within the Council Offices building, the Head of Finance and Asset 
Management advised that both vacant units had been advertised but little interest 
had been seen to date. In terms of the wider commercial property portfolio, there 
were two vacant units; one was due to be occupied shortly and the other should be 
let soon. 

33.7 In respect of the national shortage of drivers, how that impacted Ubico and 
whether that would affect the income from the Garden Waste Service, the Head of 
Finance and Asset Management advised that, if it became necessary to ‘stand 
down’ the Garden Waste Service, there would not necessarily be a need to offer 
refunds as the Council did not specify the number of collections which would be 
made in the year. The driver shortage was certainly a precarious position, but no 
services had yet been stopped. The Garden Waste subscription renewals were 
sent out in the New Year ready for April and the issue could be considered then if 
necessary. It was hoped the Council would be in a stronger position regarding 
drivers by that time as the national shortage was currently being compounded by 
staff taking summer holidays and illness through COVID-19. Ubico had been 

3



EX.01.09.21

working hard to get other crews to cover services where needed and staff were 
being flexible which was good news as it had allowed the Council to continue to 
maintain its services. 

33.8 Referring to the current situation in Afghanistan and the plan to accommodate 
refugees across the country, a Member questioned whether there was a pot of 
government funding for this purpose. In response, the Chief Executive advised 
that, in Gloucestershire, it had been agreed that accommodation would be 
provided in the county and offered to the resettlement scheme. To date, seven 
homes had been found and further homes were being identified. At the moment 
the government was providing significant amounts of funding for each refugee and, 
on that basis, Gloucester City Council had taken out a contract on behalf of the 
county with Gloucestershire Action for Refugees and Asylum Seekers (GARAS) to 
support with furniture, guidance etc. County Council services were ready to receive 
them in terms of schools etc, and would be providing administrative support, and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council had seconded a person to help run the team which 
would be looking at local authority stock, registered housing providers, private 
sector and letting agents to find available properties – this was not an easy task as 
there was already a housing need in the county which had to be addressed; 
however, he believed Gloucestershire was the first to offer housing within the 
South West as Leadership Gloucestershire had considered the matter some time 
ago and asked Officers to be ready to address it. In terms of the likely numbers 
involved, the Chief Executive advised that this was currently unknown, although 
the initial estimate - before the evacuation had been ramped up – was 3,500 
people into the country (Gloucestershire had planned for 1% of that number) so on 
that basis, if the new number was 17,000, Gloucestershire would expect to receive 
around 170 people. Officers had pointed out to the government that, in 
Gloucestershire, there was an amount of Ministry of Defence (MoD) housing which 
was empty, and it was possible that those not in high security places could be 
used; the government representative had said he would escalate that idea back up 
the chain. Officers were also aware that it would be helpful to locate people around 
where there were existing Afghan communities who could offer additional support; 
particularly now it was becoming clear that the people being housed were likely to 
be ordinary people rather than just interpreters who, by their nature, would speak 
English well. In response to a query regarding incentives for private landlords, the 
Chief Executive confirmed they were being contacted to understand what might be 
possible and Officers were checking whether incentives could be offered from the 
government funding. 

33.9 A Member raised queries regarding the extra funding required by Ubico, whether 
any deficit in the investment portfolio could be covered and whether there was any 
update on the new contract for Cleeve Hill Golf Club. In response, the Head of 
Finance and Asset Management explained that the additional funding required by 
Ubico was entirely to add to the current market supplement for drivers; a large 
proportion of the investment portfolio deficit was expected for things such as 
inducements for new tenants and that was the reason there was a reserve in place 
to cover voids etc.; the memberships at Cleeve Hill Golf Club were increasing and 
the new tenants appeared to be doing well with their plans – they were scheduled 
to provide an informal update to Members shortly. 

33.10 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: That the financial performance information for the first 
quarter of 2021/22 be NOTED.  

EX.34 COUNCIL PLAN 2020-2024 (YEAR 2) REFRESH AND COVID-19 CORPORATE 
RECOVERY PLAN REFRESH 

4



EX.01.09.21

34.1 The report of the Head of Corporate Services, circulated at Pages No. 29-67, 
provided the Council Plan refresh and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan refresh 
which Members were asked to consider and recommend to Council for adoption. 

34.2 The Chief Executive explained that this was an annual refresh of the Council Plan 
and a refresh of the relatively recently adopted COVID Recovery Plan. The actions 
which had changed in both plans reflected where they had been completed or 
moved into another phase with various examples provided within the body of the 
report. It was proposed that the COVID-19 Recovery Plan would be retained 
separately until the end of the Municipal Year and then, going forward, would be 
merged into the Council Plan. 

34.3 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: That the Council Plan refresh and the COVID-19 Corporate 
Recovery Plan refresh be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL 
for ADOPTION.  

EX.35 PROCEEDS OF CRIME AND ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 

35.1 The report of the Counter Fraud Unit Manager, circulated at Pages No. 68-78, 
presented the Committee with an updated Proceeds of Crime and Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy for approval.  

35.2 The Counter Fraud Unit Manager explained that the Policy defined a best practice 
approach to dealing with money laundering obligations and suspicious activity 
reports. It sought to enable the identification of suspicious transactions and was 
something the Council had to have in place due to its dealings with legal and 
property transactions. The Policy enabled Officers to address the way the Council, 
its employees and Members formally discharged their obligations

35.3 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the Proceeds of Crime and Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy, as attached to the report at 
Appendix 1, be APPROVED. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Head of Finance 
and Asset Management, in consultation with the 
Counter Fraud Unit Manager, One Legal and the Lead 
Member for Corporate Governance, to approve future 
minor amendments to the policy. 

EX.36 USE OF THE INTERNET AND SOCIAL MEDIA IN INVESTIGATIONS AND 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

36.1 The report of the Counter Fraud Unit Manager, circulated at Pages No. 79-86, 
presented the Committee with an updated and revised Use of the Internet and 
Social Media in Investigations and Enforcement Policy for approval. 

36.2 The Counter Fraud Unit Manager advised that the Use of the Internet and Social 
Media in Investigations and Enforcement Policy completed the policy suite 
regarding the Council’s surveillance activity with this particular policy about 
monitoring social media accounts etc. The policy sought to ensure staff were 
undertaking the processes correctly and not straying into surveillance without the 
proper consideration. It was not possible for the Council to invade someone’s 
privacy without good reason and, whilst some social media would be open to the 
public, some would be private and the Counter Fraud Unit Manager provided the 

5



EX.01.09.21

example that it would not be acceptable to create an account to befriend someone 
to gain access to private information. 

36.3 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the Use of Internet and Social Media in 
Investigations and Enforcement Policy, as attached to 
the report at Appendix 1, be APPROVED. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Borough Solicitor, in 
consultation with the Counter Fraud Unit Manager and 
the Lead Member for Corporate Governance, to 
approve future minor amendments to the policy.  

EX.37 TEWKESBURY BOROUGH HERITAGE STRATEGY 

37.1 The report of the Planning Policy Manager, circulated at Pages No. 87-104, set out 
the general heritage considerations within the Borough along with the statutory 
duties and obligations of Tewkesbury Borough Council as a planning authority. It 
also included an analysis of heritage protection within the Borough and an action 
plan showing how the aims and objectives of the strategy would be implemented. 
Members were asked to approve the draft document for consultation and to 
delegate authority to the Head of Development Services to make any necessary 
minor amendments to the draft document prior to consultation. 

37.2 Members were advised that Council’s Heritage Strategy was being brought forward 
as part of the development of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan in line with best 
practice. It was felt the strategy was especially important given the nature of 
Tewkesbury Borough and its variety of heritage assets. Referring to Page No. 102, 
a Member questioned whether the scheduled monument list was scheduled 
ancient monuments. In response, the Conservation Officer indicated that they were 
now referred to as scheduled monuments. The Member advised that there was 
land in Winchcombe – between the Redrow site off Gretton Road and Greet Road 
– which should be on the list due to Roman artefacts being found there. The 
Conservation Officer undertook to check that and add it to the list if appropriate. 
During the discussion which ensued, a Member requested that the reference to 
‘Article 4’ be explained within the document, and the Head of Development 
Services undertook to add that explanation. Referring to Page No. 93, a Member 
asked that references to the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Conservation Board be amended to reflect its new name of Cotswolds National 
Landscape. Another Member referred to amendments required at Paragraphs 1.12 
and 1.15 and the Head of Development Services agreed that she would make 
those amendments and ensure any other necessary minor amendments would be 
made before it was circulated for consultation. A Member questioned whether the 
moated site and fishpond at Urrist Barn was still there as he was not sure that it 
was; he understood the Gwynett family had lived there, one of whom had signed 
the American Declaration of Independence, and he felt this was something the 
Borough did not make enough of. In response, the Conservation Officer indicated 
that scheduled monuments were administered by Historic England through its 
inspectorate so he did not know what the condition of the monuments was. A lot of 
them were not as much about what could be seen as what the archaeological 
potential could be; however, he would draw the Councillor’s comments to the 
attention of Historic England so they could decide if they needed to visit the site. 

37.3 There was a discussion about ensuring unauthorised works were not being 
undertaken to listed buildings, that appropriate shopfronts and signage were being 
installed as well as trying to draw more businesses into the High Streets and 
ensuring the strategy was not a barrier to that. The Conservation Officer 

6



EX.01.09.21

understood the concerns and indicated that most national chains had business 
models which meant they were quite willing to adopt branding to suit the Heritage 
Strategy whilst smaller businesses would usually be happy to preserve the 
heritage. The Conservation Officer indicated that the Heritage Action Zone meant 
all shopfronts were being looked at and meetings would be taking place to 
persuade business owners to install something more in keeping if necessary. A 
Member was of the view that the description of Winchcombe within the strategy 
was overshadowed by the mention of Sudeley Castle; he felt Winchcombe could 
stand on its own in relation to heritage, as could Sudeley Castle, so they did not 
need to be linked. In response, the Head of Development Services indicated that 
Officers would consider that to see if any amendment would be made. 

37.4 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the draft Tewkesbury Borough Heritage Strategy 
be APPROVED FOR CONSULTATION PURPOSES. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Head of 
Development Services to make any necessary minor 
amendments, as considered appropriate, to the draft 
strategy prior to consultation.   

EX.38 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT - SHOPFRONTS, SHUTTERS AND 
SIGNAGE: DESIGN GUIDANCE FOR TEWKESBURY 

38.1 The report of the Head of Development Services, circulated at Pages No. 105-120, 
attached a Shopfront, Shutters and Signage Design Guidance for Tewkesbury 
Supplementary Planning Document. Members were asked to approve the draft 
document and to delegate authority to the Head of Development Services to make 
any necessary minor amendments as considered appropriate prior to consultation. 

38.2 The Head of Development Services explained that, in response to the changing 
nature of shopping habits in the surrounding populations, the Borough’s historic 
retail areas were having to adapt and play to their strengths by maintaining and 
enhancing themselves as a distinctive and culturally rich shopping and leisure 
experience. It was recognised that the appearance of the Borough’s historic retail 
areas could be negatively impacted by unattractive and inappropriate shopfronts 
and associated signage and the purpose of the guide was to promote shopfront 
and signage design within the historic areas of the Borough as well as offering 
guidance to designers and applicants in submitting planning proposals. The 
intention was to promote good design practice without stifling planning innovation 
yet respecting the historic character of buildings and the areas. 

38.3 A Member questioned whether the document could be applied retrospectively 
where the owner of a property was not respecting what the Council wanted.  In 
response, the Head of Development Services advised that this was where the 
design guide was really helpful as it ensured the Council’s own policies were not 
being undermined. The Member noted that, where people had aluminium 
shopfronts, the cost of changing them could be quite substantial so she questioned 
whether there would be grants or match funding available to help. The Head of 
Development Services indicated that a grant scheme would be launched shortly 
and there was a need to ensure interest was monitored so the grant funding was 
spread as widely as possible; however, there would be a requirement for shop 
owners to invest money as well. There may be some key shopfronts which could 
be given more funding to make a bigger impact but this needed to be considered. 
In September there would be an Officer at the ‘Regenerate the High Street’ event 
which was taking place at the Anglo-American Gardens in Tewkesbury town and it 
was intended that the Supplementary Planning Document - Shopfronts, Shutters 

7



EX.01.09.21

and Signage: Design Guidance for Tewkesbury would be launched there; it would 
also be used in enforcement work in the High Streets, there would be additional 
publicity and it would be circulated through the Council’s Growth Hub contacts with 
businesses to help get the message out. 

38.4 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED: 1. That the draft Shopfronts, Shutters and Signage 
Design Guidance for Tewkesbury Borough 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) be 
APPROVED FOR CONSULTATION PURPOSES. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Head of 
Development Services to make any necessary minor 
amendments, as considered appropriate, to the draft 
strategy prior to consultation.  

The meeting closed at 3:25 pm

8



1
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 2021/22

REGULAR ITEM:
 Forward Plan – To note the forthcoming items.

Additions to 6 October 2021
 Home Office Consultation – Extending the Police and Crime Commissioners Power of Competence.
 Tewkesbury Garden Town – Evolution of the Concept Plan.  

Committee Date:  17 November 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Financial Update – Quarter 
Two 2020/21.

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Absence Management Policy To approve the Absence Management 
Policy.

Head of Corporate Services. No.

Redundancy and 
Redeployment policy

To approve the Policy. Head of Corporate Services. No

Allocations Policy To approve the Policy. Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Tree Safety Management 
Policy. 

To approve the Policy. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Environmental Health 
Enforcement Policy – 
including Fixed Penalty 
Policy and fine levels for 
environmental offences.

To approve the Environmental Health 
Enforcement Policy.

Head of Community Services. No. 

Planning Service Review 
Action Plan.

To consider the Planning Service Review 
Action Plan. 

Head of Development Services. No. 

9

A
genda Item

 6



2
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date:  17 November 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Infrastructure Funding 
Statement 2021.

To recommend to Council approval for 
publication. 

Head of Development Services. No. 

Community Infrastructure 
Levy Review – New Draft 
Charging Schedule. 

To recommend to Council approval for 
consultation. 

Head of Development Services. No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).

10



3
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date:  5 January 2022   

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (Annual).

To recommend to Council the adoption of 
the five-year MTFS which describes the 
financial environment the Council is 
operating in and the pressures it will face 
in delivering its services and a balanced 
budget over the period.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Housing Strategy Monitoring 
Report (Annual).

To approve the Housing Strategy 
Monitoring Report.  

Housing Services Manager. No.

Treasury and Capital 
Management (Annual) 
(Policies including Capital 
Strategy, Investment 
Strategy, Minimum Revenue 
Provisions and Flexible use 
of Capital receipts).

To approve and recommend approval to 
Council, a range of statutorily required 
polices and strategies relating to treasury 
and capital management. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Social Media Policy and 
Guidelines.

To approve the Social Media Policy and 
Guidelines. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.

Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy.

To consider the Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Procurement Strategy. To approve the Procurement Strategy. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Sandbag Policy. To approve the Sandbag Policy. Head of Community Services. No. 

11



4
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 February 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Budget 2022/23 (Annual). To recommend a budget for 2022/23 to 
the Council. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Financial Update - Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Two 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter two performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).

12



5
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 March 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Digital Strategy. To approve the Digital Strategy. Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Asset Management Strategy. To approve the Asset Management 
Strategy.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No. 

Housing Strategy. To recommend the Housing Strategy to 
Council for approval.

Head of Community Services. No. 

Action for Affordable Warmth 
2013-18.

To consider and approve. Head of Community Services. No. Deleted as not a matter for 
Executive Committee. 

Tewkesbury Borough Council 
domestic waste and recycling 
collection services policy and 
procedures.

To consider and approve. Head of Community Services. No. 

Equalities and Diversity 
Policy.

To approve the Equalities and Diversity 
Policy.

Head of Corporate Services. Moved from September meeting to 
enable a bid for consultant funding to 
undertake work on equalities. 

13



6
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 30 March 2022    

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter three performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Council Plan 2020/24 
Refresh (Annual).

To consider the Council Plan and make a 
recommendation to Council.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

High Level Service Plan 
Summaries (Annual).

To consider the key activities of each 
service grouping during 2021/22.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Car Parking Strategy. To approve the Car Parking Strategy. Head of Development Services. No. 

Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy.

To approve the Strategy. Head of Development Services. No. 14



7
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

PENDING ITEMS

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Date Item Added to 
Pending 

Spring Gardens Regeneration 
Phase 1a report.

To agree the recommendation of the preferred option for the regeneration of 
Spring Gardens.

4 September 2019

Parking Strategy Review. To consider the recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 6 January 2020

Parking Strategy Review. To consider the statutory responses to the Parking Strategy Review. 6 January 2020

Council Plan 2020/24 Refresh 
(Annual).

To consider the Council Plan and make a recommendation to Council. 3 February 2021

Managing Contractors Safely 
Policy.

To approve the Policy. 26 July 2021

15



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 6 October 2021

Subject: Council Plan Performance Tracker and Covid-19 Recovery 
Plan Tracker 2021/22 (Qtr1) 

Report of: Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Members: Leader of the Council  

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
At Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 7 September 2021, consideration was given to 
2021/22, quarter one performance management and COVID-19 recovery plan information.  The 
observations made by the Committee can be found below in section 2.1. The supporting 
documents presented at the Committee can be found in Appendix 1.

Recommendation:
To receive and respond to the findings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s review 
of the quarter one performance management and recovery information. 

Reasons for Recommendation:
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Terms of Reference require it to review and scrutinise 
the decisions and performance of the Council and its Committees. The outcome of each 
quarterly review is then reported to Executive Committee.

Resource Implications:
None directly associated with this report other than to note that a number of actions have been 
impacted by the Council’s response to COVID-19.

Legal Implications:
None directly associated with this report.

Risk Management Implications:
If delivery of the Council’s priorities is not effectively monitored, then the Council cannot identify 
where it is performing strongly or where improvement in performance is necessary. The impact 
of COVID-19 has been commented upon in relation to a number of Council Plan actions. A 
separate corporate recovery plan has been developed to assist in risk identification and risk 
management in relation to COVID-19 and the Council’s responsibilities in relation to recovery. 

Performance Management Follow-up:
Performance management information is reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 

16

Agenda Item 7



quarterly basis. The outcome of each quarterly review is then reported to Executive Committee.

Environmental Implications: 
None directly associated with this report. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved 
plan included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing 
and communities and customer first plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden 
communities and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives 
and actions. Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a 
Council Plan Performance Tracker. The tracker is a combined document which also 
includes a set of key performance indicators. As in previous years, to ensure the plan 
remains a ‘live’ document, all actions are reviewed annually and where appropriate they are 
refreshed. The refreshed plan was considered by Executive Committee on 1 September 
2021 and it was recommended Council adopt the refreshed plan. It is not anticipated there 
will be any major changes to any of the actions.

1.2 Since the approval of the new Council Plan, the Council’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic has meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, 
residents, businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst 
COVID-19 continues to present the Council with significant challenges, a corporate COVID-
19 recovery plan has been established to address those challenges. The plan has been 
designed around the six priorities of the Council plan as despite COVID-19 the strategic 
priorities of the Council remain the same. Similar to the council plan, the recovery plan has a 
number of objectives and actions. The recovery plan was approved by Executive Committee 
on 5 August 2020. A recovery plan tracker has been created to monitor progress in 
delivering those objectives and actions. Similar to the council plan, the recovery plan actions 
have also been refreshed. 

1.3 Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably 
mean that some of the actions within the council plan will not have progressed as intended. 
It could also mean that those actions remain undeliverable as prioritisation is given to 
actions within the recovery plan. 

1.4 Key financial information is also reported at the same time, so Members have a rounded 
view of overall performance information. This includes the revenue budget summary 
statement, capital monitoring statement and the reserves position summary. 

17



2.0 OBSERVATIONS FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

2.1 At Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 7 September 2021, consideration was given to the 
first quarter’s performance management information for the second year of the council plan 
2021/22 and for the corporate recovery tracker.
A summary of the questions raised at its meeting can be found below:

Questions raised by Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Response from officers

Performance tracker- priority: Economic Growth

P73 – Objective 2 – Action c) Publish 
the Infrastructure Funding Statement 
– A Member questioned whether the 
additional Section 106 / Community 
Infrastructure Levy Officer post had 
been filled.

The Head of Development Services advised that 
interviews were taking place later that week.  
Once a successful applicant had been appointed, 
Members would be informed accordingly.

P71 – Objective 2 – Action a) Deliver 
employment land through allocating 
land in the Joint Core Strategy and 
Tewkesbury Borough Plan - A 
Member asked for an explanation for 
the delay to the Joint Core Strategy 
and sought clarification as to the 
timetable for getting back on 
schedule.

The Head of Development Services explained that 
the Joint Core Strategy was a very complex 
document which was produced in partnership with 
two other local authorities – Cheltenham Borough 
and Gloucester City Councils - and also involved 
close working with Gloucestershire County 
Council.  The timetable for the Joint Core Strategy 
was being revised to ensure it was achievable; a 
meeting of the Joint Core Strategy Member 
Steering Group had taken place the previous day 
where this had been discussed. She indicated 
that she would be happy to arrange a Member 
training session to provide an overview of the 
development plan - which included the Joint Core 
Strategy and the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan 
– in order to give Members a better understanding 
of the current position in terms of the review of the 
Joint Core Strategy, as well as an overview of its 
governance and structure.  She pointed out there 
was now different policy framework from the one 
that had been in place when the previous Joint 
Core Strategy had been developed and what 
needed to be done this time was quite different.  
Planning Policy Reference Panel meetings had 
been taking place with future meetings scheduled 
until Christmas – all Members were welcome to 
attend these sessions if they so wished.
In response to a query as to whether the Joint 
Core Strategy process would be easier this time, 
the Head of Development Services indicated that, 
unfortunately, that was not the case.  The Joint 
Core Strategy identified strategic allocations with 
a minimum of 500 units and next time the 
allocations were put forward it was necessary to 
set out the infrastructure required, when it would 
need to be delivered, who would deliver it and 

18



how it would be paid for so a lot of technical and 
joint working needed to be done.  A Member 
queried whether it would include all retrospective 
outstanding infrastructure, for instance, the 
A38/A40 link road, and was advised that, although 
there was approximately £80m of infrastructure 
required to deliver the original Joint Core 
Strategy, that would not be included.  This was 
one of the reasons that the Joint Core Strategy 
authorities had undertaken to develop Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  Nevertheless, there would be 
an impact if the infrastructure required for the 
original Joint Core Strategy had not been 
delivered when new sites started to be allocated. 
The Member questioned whether the outstanding 
infrastructure would be required and the Head of 
Development Services confirmed that it would be 
based on existing infrastructure in place at that 
moment in time.  If previous infrastructure had not 
been delivered, that would need to be taken into 
account – it could be determined that the same 
infrastructure was required or that greater 
mitigation was needed.

Performance tracker KPIs- priority: Economic Growth

P77 – KPI 6 – Number of visitors to 
Winchcombe Tourist Information 
Centre – A Member noted that the 
commentary stated that “Overseas 
visitor numbers are dramatically 
reduced as visitor confidence has 
grown; this has been reflected 
through numbers coming through the 
TIC”; this did not make sense to him 
so he sought an explanation as to 
what this meant.

The Community and Economic Development 
Manager explained that it should state that 
overseas visitor numbers had decreased but 
domestic visitor numbers had increased 
significantly as visitor confidence had grown.

Performance tracker KPIs- priority: Housing and Communities

P87-91– KPIs 17-22 Percentage of 
‘minor’ and ‘other’ planning 
applications determined and 
investigation of enforcement cases 
(Categories A-D) within the agreed 
timescales – A Member questioned 
whether the poor planning 
performance against these KPIs was 
likely to continue until the planning 
services review had been completed 
or whether there were any 
improvements being made in the 
interim.

The Head of Development Services provided 
assurance that Officers were not waiting for the 
outcome of the review to look at the reasons for 
the decline in performance in respect of planning 
applications and enforcement cases.  Detailed 
performance monitoring had been set-up and 
applications were being tracked on a weekly basis 
to understand exactly what percentage were 
being delivered.  A Member questioned when the 
review was due to be completed and was 
informed that a high-level report was due to be 
taken to the Executive Committee in November 
2021.

19



Performance tracker- priority: Sustainable Environment

P107 – Objective 3 – Action a) Take 
a robust approach towards fly-tipping 
and other enviro-crimes – A Member 
noted that the current Public Space 
Protection Order relating to dog 
fouling had expired in June 2021 and 
he queried whether it was required to 
lapse before it was reintroduced

The Head of Community Services advised that, 
unfortunately, in June 2021 when the current 
Order had lapsed, the focus of the team had been 
elsewhere and he confirmed that under normal 
circumstances it would have been addressed 
earlier to keep the Order in place

P108 – Objective 3 – Action c) 
Introduce a small Waste Electrical 
and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) 
scheme across the borough – A 
Member welcomed the introduction 
of the scheme but was interested 
how this had come about as it had 
not been included in the tracker 
previously.

The Head of Community Services advised that 
the project had been an aspiration for the last 
couple of years but had been held up by the 
pandemic.  There had only been a soft launch for 
the scheme due to the critical driver shortage and 
the need to ensure that the crews were not 
overloaded but a more significant launch was 
planned for later in the month as part of national 
recycling week.

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 None.

4.0 CONSULTATION

4.1 None.

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Council Plan 2020-24.
COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 None directly. 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 None directly. 

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions. 

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health And 
Safety)

9.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions.

20



10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 Council Plan 2020-24 approved by Council 28 January 2020.
COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020 approved by Executive Committee 8 August 
2020.

Background Papers:     None.

Contact Officer: Head of Corporate Services 
 Tel: 01684 272002 email: Graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk
    

Head of Finance and Asset Management 
Tel: 01684 272005 email: simon.dix@tewkesbury.gov.uk

                                               
Appendices:              1 – Overview and Scrutiny Committee report of Q1 2021/2022 council 

plan, recovery plan and financial performance information.
 

21



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting: 7 September 2021 

Subject: Council Plan Performance Tracker and Covid-19 Recovery 
Plan Tracker 2021/22 (Qtr1)  

Report of: Head of Corporate Services   

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive  

Lead Members: Leader of the Council   

Number of Appendices: 5 

 

Executive Summary: 

The Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved plan 
included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing and 
communities and customer first, plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden 
communities and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives and 
actions. Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a Council Plan 
Performance Tracker (Appendix 1). The tracker is a combined document which also includes a 
set of key performance indicators. As in previous years, to ensure the plan remains a ‘live’ 
document, all actions are reviewed annually and where appropriate they are refreshed. The 
refreshed plan is to be considered by Executive Committee on 1 September 2021 and then by 
Council on 28 September 2021. It is not anticipated there will be any major changes to any of 
the actions.  

Since the approval of the Council Plan, the council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic has 
meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, residents, 
businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst Covid-19 
continues to present the council with significant challenges, a corporate Covid-19 recovery 
plan has been established to address those challenges. The plan has been designed around 
the six priorities of the Council Plan as the strategic priorities of the council remain the same 
despite Covid-19. Similar to the council plan, the recovery plan has a number of objectives and 
actions. The recovery plan was approved by Executive Committee on 5 August 2020. A 
recovery plan tracker has been created to monitor progress in delivering those objectives and 
actions (Appendix 2).  Similar to the Council Plan, the Recovery Plan actions have also been 
refreshed.  

Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably 
mean that some of the actions within the Council Plan may not have progressed as intended.  

Key financial information is also reported so members have a rounded view of overall 
performance information. Attached is the revenue budget summary statement (Appendix 3), 
capital monitoring statement (Appendix 4) and the reserves position summary (Appendix 5).   

This performance information is reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis and the outcome is then reported to the Executive Committee by the Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

This report introduces the performance information for the first quarter of the second year of 
our Council Plan.  

22



Recommendation: 

To scrutinise the performance management information, and where appropriate require 
action or response from the Executive Committee.  

Reasons for Recommendation: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Terms of Reference require it to review and scrutinise 
the decisions and performance of the council and its committees.  

 

Resource Implications: 

None directly associated with this report other than to note that a number of actions have been 
impacted by the council’s response to Covid-19. 

Legal Implications: 

None directly associated with this report. 

Risk Management Implications: 

If delivery of the council’s priorities is not effectively monitored, then the council cannot identify 
where it is performing strongly or where improvement in performance is necessary. The impact 
of Covid-19 has been commented upon in relation to a number of Council Plan actions. A 
separate corporate recovery plan has been developed to assist in risk identification and risk 
management in relation to Covid-19 and the council’s responsibilities in relation to recovery.  

 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

Performance management information is reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis. The outcome of each quarterly review is then reported to Executive 
Committee. 

Environmental Implications:  

None directly associated with this report.  

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 A new Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved 
plan included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing 
and communities and customer first plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden 
communities and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives 
and actions. Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a 
Council Plan Performance Tracker (Appendix 1). The tracker is a combined document which 
also includes a set of key performance indicators. As in previous years, to ensure the plan 
remains a ‘live’ document, all actions are reviewed annually and where appropriate they are 
refreshed. The refreshed plan is to be considered by Executive Committee on 1 September 
2021 and then by Council on 28 September 2021. It is not anticipated there will be any 
major changes to any of the actions.  

1.2 Since the approval of the new Council Plan, the council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic has meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, 
residents, businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst 
Covid-19 continues to present the council with significant challenges, a corporate Covid-19 

23



recovery plan has been established to address those challenges. The plan has been 
designed around the six priorities of the council plan as despite Covid-19 the strategic 
priorities of the council remain the same. Similar to the council plan, the recovery plan has a 
number of objectives and actions. The recovery plan was approved by Executive Committee 
on 5 August 2020. A recovery plan tracker has been created to monitor progress in 
delivering those objectives and actions (Appendix 2). Similar to the Council Plan, the 
Recovery Plan actions have also been refreshed.  

1.3 Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably 
mean that some of the actions within the council plan will not have progressed as intended. 
It could also mean that those actions remain undeliverable as prioritisation is given to 
actions within the recovery plan.  

2.0 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE TRACKER  

2.1 The Council Plan (2020-24) has six priorities which contribute to the overall Council Plan 
vision “Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a good quality of life is open to all”. The 
priorities are:  

• Finance and resources 

• Economic growth  

• Housing and communities   

• Customer first 

• Garden communities 

• Sustainable environment  

Each of the six priorities is supported by a number of objectives and actions which will focus 
activity on delivery of the priorities. The tracker has been developed and contains a set of 
key performance measures to monitor delivery of each Council Plan action. The actions are 
reviewed and where appropriate refreshed on an annual basis.   

2.2 For monitoring the progress of the Council Plan actions, the following symbols are used:  

☺ – action progressing well 

 – the action has some issues or delay but there is no significant slippage in the delivery 

of the action 

 – significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the 

timetable or performance is below target 

Grey – project has not yet commenced 

✓– action complete or annual target achieved 

For monitoring of key performance indicators, the following symbols are used:  

↑ - PI is showing improved performance on previous year 

↔ - PI is on par with previous year performance 

↓- PI is showing performance is not as good as previous year 

2.3 

 

This report presents the first quarter of year two of the Council Plan (2020-2024). Key 
successful activities to bring to members’ attention since the last performance report 

24



 

 

 

 

 

 

include: 

• The agreement of new leases for various properties within the commercial property 
portfolio. (page 3 of the tracker)  

• The growth hub delivered 13 events during quarter one, this is on target to meet the 
50 workshops/ events target. The events were on social media, marketing, and 
action planning. (page 5 of the tracker) 

• In June 2021, Gloucestershire County Council announced its preferred design for the 
proposed upgrade to M5 all-ways Junction 10. (page 7 of the tracker) 

• The first promotion event to be held under the Tewkesbury High Street Heritage 
Action Zone is due to take place on 18 September. (page 9 of the tracker) 

• In partnership with ARK Consultancy, work on a new Housing Strategy has 
commenced. (page 15 of the tracker) 

• A collective total of £107,000 has been awarded in council capital grants to help 
improve community facilities. (page 19 of the tracker) 

• The successful implementation of the new bulky waste service. (page 27 of the 
tracker) 

• The implementation of a new recruitment microsite and an automated recruitment 
tracker system. (page 28 of the tracker).  

• In July 2021, a joint press release with Cheltenham Borough Council announcing 
HBD X Factory has been selected as its preferred development partner to assist with 
the Golden Valley Garden community. (page 38 of the tracker) 

• Specification for the new heating system has been developed and is out to tender. 
(page 39 of the tracker) 

• Year two of the Carbon Reduction action plan was approved by Executive 
Committee in July 2021. (page 39 of the tracker) 

• The implementation of a small Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) 
scheme. (page 44 of the tracker) 

 

2.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Due to the complex nature of the actions being delivered, inevitably some may not progress 

as smoothly or quickly as envisaged. Actions with either a  or  are highlighted below:  

Action  Status and reason for status  

Work with the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and other partners 
to deliver the Local Industrial Strategy 
(LIS). 

(Page No. 5 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

The LEP is still awaiting guidance from 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) on the next steps and timescales. 
Until this has been received no further 
updates can been provided. 

Deliver employment land through 
allocating land in the Joint Core 
Strategy (JCS) and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan (TBP). 

 

(Page No. 6 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

Joint Core Strategy- The target date of 

Summer 2021 for the preferred options 
consultation to take place has not been 
achieved. The JCS review requires a 
number of technical studies and covers a 
number of complex issues e.g. location of 
employment and housing growth etc, that 
need to be agreed with all three local 

25



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

authorities. The JCS timetable is being 
reviewed and until this has taken place a 
new target date is unknown.  

Work with partners to undertake the 
required review of the JCS. 

(Page No. 13 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

Please see above.  

Carry out housing needs assessments 
to deliver affordable housing in rural 
areas.  

(Page No. 15 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

 

 The next phase of surveys has been 

delayed from February 2021 to March 
2022 due to capacity issues at GRCC. 
A meeting is due to take place in 
September to re-establish the future 
timeline for the next assessments to be 
carried out. It is hoped the remaining 
assessments will likely take place 
between autumn 2021- winter 2022, this will 
be confirmed in Q2. The longer-term target 
of March 2023 should hopefully be 
achievable.  

Ensure adequate land is allocated 
within the JCS and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan to meet housing need.  

(Page No. 16 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

 Joint Core Strategy – please see first 

action above.  

Formally establish the Garden Town 
planning status through the JCS. 

(Page No. 37 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

 Joint Core Strategy- please see first 

action above.  

Establish planning policies to ensure 
the delivery of healthy and sustainable 
communities.  

(Page No. 40 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

Joint Core Strategy- please see first 

action above.  

 

2.5 It is inevitable that not everything can be delivered at once. Any actions which have yet to 
commence are ‘greyed out’ in the tracker with indicative dates for commencement stated.  

3.0 COUNCIL PLAN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIs) 

3.1 
The set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are a combination of contextual indicators and 
target related indicators. The set of KPIs must remain flexible to ensure they meet our 
needs. The data reported is the position at end of June 2021.  

For 2021/22, six new KPIs have been added. These are KPIs 12-15 and KPIs 28-29.  

Due to changes into reporting, the housing-related KPIs 9- 11 have also been revised in 
order to report more effectively, as requested by Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

3.2 Of the 22 indicators with targets, their status as at the end of the first quarter for 2021/ 22 is:   

26



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

☺ 

 (on target)  

 (below target 
but confident 
annual target 

will be achieved) 

 

(below target) 

Data not available 

10 3 6 3* 

*The three KPIs where data is not available relate to : 

• KPI 7(number of visitors entering Growth Hub) due to the hub remaining closed 
during quarter one.  

• KPI 36 (percentage of Freedom of information requests answered on time). This is 
due to a change in systems and the report functionality is currently being built. The 
data for these KPIs will be available in quarter two.  

• KPI 37 (percentage of formal complaints answered on time). See above.  

 

In terms of the direction of travel i.e. performance compared to last year, for all indicators 
the status is:  

 (better 
performance than last 

year) 

 (not as good 
as last year) 

↔  (on par with 
previous year 
performance) 

Data not available 

11 6 0 5* 

*The five KPIs where data is not available relate to: 

• KPI 7, 36 and 37 – as above.  

• KPI 28 (Average number of days to process new Council Tax Reduction claims)  

• KPI 29 (Average number of days to process change in circumstances for Council 
Tax Reductions). 

KPIs 28 and 29 are new monitoring KPIs that do not have a outturn figure for 2020-21.   

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KPIs where the direction of travel is down and/ or KPI is  are highlighted below:  

KPI 
No. 

KPI description 
Reason for   or ↓ 

17 

Percentage of ‘minor’ 
applications determined within 8 
weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant.  
(Page No. 22 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker) 

↓  The Q1 figure is lower than last 

year’s outturn with only 27 out of 49 
(55.10%) decisions being issued within the 
timescale. This meant the target figure of 
80% has not been met this quarter.  

Measures are being implemented to 
address the reduction in performance and 
these measures will be supplemented by 
improvements arising from the Review of 
Planning.  

18 

Percentage of ‘other’ 
applications determined within 8 
weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant.  

↓ 129 of 168 decisions were made 

within agreed timescales during Q1. This 
equates to performance of 76.79%, which 

27



(Page No. 24 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker)  

is just below last year’s outturn of 84.37% 
and below the local target of 90%.  

19 

Enforcement - Investigate 
category A* cases within 24 
hours (without prompt action, 
material risk of further harm 
which could be reduced by early 
intervention).  

(Page No. 24 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker) 
 

↓ Two category A cases were 

received in Q1. One of the cases was 
visited within the 24-hour target. This has 
resulted in performance of 50% for the 
quarter which is below both last year’s 
outturn of 100% and this year’s target of 
90%. 

20 

Investigate category B cases 
within five working days 
(development causing, or likely 
to cause, irreparable harm or 
damage).  
(Page No 24 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).  

 Four category B cases were received 

during Q1, and three were investigated 
within the timescale (75%).This is lower 
than the local target of 90% but was an 
improvement when compared to last 
year’s outturn of 61.54%. 

21 

Investigate category C cases 
within 10 working days (risk of 
material harm to the 
environment or undue harm to 
residential amenity). 

(Page No. 25 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker) 

↓ 26 category C cases were received 

in Q1, and five of these were handled 
within the target timeframe (19.23% 
outturn). This is significantly below both 
the local target of 80% and last year’s 
outturn of 36.51%.  

22 

Investigate category D cases 
within 15 working days 
(breaches causing limited 
material disturbance to local 
residents or to the environment). 

(Page No. 26 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker) 

↓ During Q1, 19 category D cases were 

received, and four cases (21.05%) of 
these were handled within the target 
timeframe. Performance has fallen when 
compared to last year’s outturn of 40.68%. 
Whilst it is lower than last year it is likely to 
still achieve this year’s target of 70%. 

31 

Average number of days to 
process change in 
circumstances 
to housing benefit claims.  

(Page No. 33 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker) 

↓ Whilst performance for quarter Q1 (five 

days), is above the council’s target of four 
days, the number of days has also 
increased when compared to last year’s 
outturn of two days. It is still lower than the 
national average of six days.    

38 

Number of reported enviro 
crimes. 

(Page No. 45 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

  432 enviro crimes were reported in 

Q1. If figures remain at this rate 
throughout the year it will exceed this 
year’s target of 1000 but will be lower than 
last outturn of 2,185.  

 

4.0 COVID-19 CORPORATE RECOVERY TRACKER 

4.1.  For monitoring the progress of the Corporate Recovery Plan actions, and for consistency, 
the same symbols as the Council Plan tracker are used:  

28



☺ – action progressing well 

 – the action has some issues or delay but there is no significant slippage in the delivery 

of the action 

 – significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the 

timetable or performance is below target 

Grey – project has not yet commenced 

4.2 Key activities to bring to members’ attention include: 

• A member of the Audit team has been transferred back from the Business Cell to 
review the audit plan and recommendations to begin the recovery of the internal 
audit function. (Page 1 of the recovery tracker). 

• Tewkesbury Leisure Centre has received good feedback on customer experience 
following the reopening on 12 April. The number of customers indicates that the 
leisure contract could soon return to a cost neutral position. (Page 2 of the recovery 
tracker). 

• The Public Services Centre reopened to customers from 19 July and committee 
meetings in the Civic Suite started again in-person.  (Page 2 of the recovery tracker). 

• A business intelligence officer has now been recruited and a cross service project 
plan will be developed to maximise the use of business intelligence within the 
council. (Page 3 of the recovery tracker). 

• An action plan has been agreed to deliver the ‘Welcome Back Fund’ – high street 
recovery project. (Page 7 of the recovery tracker). 

• Housing Services completed assessing the additional demand on the housing 
service. Surveys were carried out to Housing Register applicants, and responses 
show positive trends of improvement in relation to households with tenancy 
difficulties. This has been supported by the steady number of housing advice and 
homelessness cases received, and new temporary accommodation places 
decreasing. (Page 8 of the recovery tracker).  

• The Covid-19 Community Grant Scheme continues to be promoted with 139 groups 
being awarded £114,079 in total. (Page 9 of the recovery tracker). 

• 15 groups from the Voluntary and Community Sector attended an online training 
seminar hosted by Inform Gloucestershire. (Page 10 of the recovery tracker). 

• Executive Committee agreed in March 2021 a package funding of £10,000 per year 
for the next five years to support the Active Gloucestershire ‘We Can Move’ project. 
(Page 16 of the recovery tracker). 

4.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As explained when the recovery tracker was first presented in October 2020, a number of 
areas of the council are still in response mode - for example business grants and 
Environmental Health. This means there are services operating across one of ‘response’, 
‘recovery’ or ‘business as usual’ mode. Or, in some cases, operating across a combination 
of the three. This will inevitably mean that actions within the recovery tracker may not 
progress as originally intended. Such actions are detailed in the table below:  

Action  Status of action  

Review the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the environmental health service, including 
an assessment of additional demand and 
available resources. (Page 10 of recovery 

Deferred- The effectiveness review has 
been on hold due to the level of Covid-19 
response needed. The demand on the 
service remains high particularly relating to 
hosting events in a covid secure manner.  

29



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

tracker). Once cases further stabilise this will be 
revisited.  

Deliver the council tax and business rates 
e-billing project.  

(Page 12 of the recovery tracker).  

 There have been delays in this project, 

which has resulted in the target date being  
amended from July 2021 to November 
2021. This new target date will allow the 
transformation team to test the new system 
before it goes live in November.  

Agree funding for and appoint a new 
Carbon Reduction officer to support the 
council’s climate emergency declaration 
and the delivery of its action plans. 

(Page 15 of the recovery tracker). 

 It was agreed at Executive Committee 

in July to recommend to Council at July’s 
meeting, however this meeting was 
cancelled and will now go to September’s 
meeting. As a result the target date has 
been amended from July 2021 to 
September 2021.  

 
 

4.4 Similar to the council plan actions, not all recovery actions will commence at once. Again, 
any yet to commence are ‘greyed out’ in the tracker.  

5.0 FINANCIAL SUMMARY - REVENUE POSITION 

5.1 The financial budget summary for Q1 shows a projected surplus of £22,382 for the full year 
against the approved budget. Whilst there are numerous moving parts within the base 
budget reflecting both service delivery and covid response, the net forecast position is in line 
with budget estimates for the year.  

Whilst there are early indications that income streams are improving and there is potential 
for increased government support, given the report is based on performance in only the first 
three months of the year, a prudent position is taken with regards to full year estimates.  

5.2 The following table highlights the forecast outturn position for service provision, the net 
position on corporate income and expenditure and the resulting surplus. 

 

Budget  Full Year 
Projection 

Full Year 
Variance 

Services expenditure 
   

Employees £11,009,171 £10,631,663 £377,508 

Premises £590,411 £592,495 -£2,084 

Transport £55,270 £49,617 £5,653 

Supplies & Services £2,083,206 £2,088,946 -£5,740 

Payments to Third Parties £6,524,630 £6,599,635 -£75,005 

Transfer Payments - Benefits 
Service 

£13,544,132 £13,544,132 £0 

Central Recharges £29,929 £29,929 £0 

COVID-19 Costs £0 £415,094 -£415,094 

Income -£21,419,831 -£20,685,417 -£734,414 

Services Sub Total £12,416,918 £13,266,095 -£849,177 
    

Corporate expenditure 
   

Treasury – Interest Received -£345,000 -£345,000 £0 

Treasury – Borrowing Costs £480,000 £465,000 £15,000 

Investment Properties -£3,176,343 -£3,124,587 -£51,756 

30



Corporate Savings Targets -£155,000 £0 -£155,000 

Core Government funding -£1,013,409 -£1,608,336 £594,927 

New Homes Bonus -£2,508,861 -£2,508,861 £0 

Business rates £2,672,870 £2,418,711 £254,159 

Council Tax Surplus -£24,833 -£24,833 £0 

Council Tax precept -£4,579,735 -£4,579,735 £0 

Use of reserves & MRP -£3,766,607 -£3,980,836 £214,229 

Corporate Sub Total -£12,416,918 -£13,236,720 £871,559 
    

Surplus / (deficit) 
  

£22,382 
 

5.3 
Service Expenditure  

The quarter one full year projection highlights a full year cost of service provision totalling 
£13.266m, resulting in a deficit against the approved budget of £849,177. The following 
paragraphs highlight the main reasons for this projected deficit. In addition, appendix 3 
provides detail at a service level with notes on variances over £10,000. 

5.4 
The full year projection for employees highlights a potential gross surplus of £377,508. It 
should however be noted that within the councils corporate expenditure is a target to save 
£155,000 from employment costs across the Council. The net position is therefore a surplus 
against target of £222,508. Savings have accrued across a number of service areas 
including Corporate, Development and One Legal but also with senior management 
following the decision in June to delete the post of Deputy Chief Executive. This saving is 
offset to some degree this year by the cost of recruitment to a new head of One Legal. 
 

5.5 
Payments to third parties highlights a small projected overspend of £75,005. This includes 
additional costs relating to an increased amount of burials at our cemeteries, the cost of a 
Domestic Homicide Review and a forecast overspend on the Ubico contract sum in relation 
to extra payment being made in order to attract and retain drivers for our services. A 
national shortage of drivers, estimated to be around 70,000, has resulted in an impact on 
many forms of business with local authority waste collection services not immune to this 
impact. There have been a growing number of examples where authorities have had to 
suspend collections as a result of driver shortage. To help mitigate the problem on the 
Tewkesbury contract, an increased market supplement has been agreed, whilst driver 
training for loaders continues. The rest of the contract sum is on target. 
 

5.6 
Tewkesbury services continue to see a financial impact from the covid pandemic with a full 
year cost estimated at £415,094. The costs include the continued work of the business cell, 
additional costs for the provision of our waste and recycling services and the continued 
support to Tewkesbury Leisure Centre. These costs will be met from the additional covid 
grant funding provided by the Government and new burdens funding for the business cell 
work – see paragraphs 5.10 and 2.12. 
 

5.7 
Income in many areas of Council activity has recovered well from the impact of coronavirus 
with a number of income streams either back on budget or delivering a small surplus. Some 
areas however continue to be affected by the covid pandemic with reductions in income 
levels in our car parks during the first quarter, an expectation that the Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre contract fee won’t be provided during the year and current vacancies for our office 
units within the Council Offices. In addition, One Legal income remains below target 
although this is offset to an extent by the savings on employee costs. 

5.8 
Corporate Expenditure 
The expenditure associated with corporate activities as well as the financing of the Council 
is shown in the second section and highlights an estimated surplus of £871,559 for the 
financial year. 
 

31



5.9 
Treasury activities are largely expected to be in line with budget predictions although a small 
saving on borrowing costs could be achieved. Our commercial property portfolio is currently 
predicting a small deficit on the year as a result of the expected temporary void at one office 
unit and the inducements offered to secure leases at our Clevedon units. This deficit could 
be offset by rental income for Unit 5 at our Tipton site where interested parties are currently 
agreeing heads of terms for a long term lease. Should the commercial property account 
remain in deficit for the full year, the council will utilise the commercial property reserve to 
cover the void and lease costs resulting in no impact on the base budget position - see 
paragraph 2.12. 
 

5.10 
Core government funding is showing a significant surplus as a result of the additional covid 
general fund grant of £424,927. In addition to this, the council will also receive additional 
new burdens funding for its continuing administration of business grants and it will also be 
able to claim compensation for losses on its sales, fee and charges as a result of covid for 
the first quarter of the year. The level of new burdens funding is not yet known and the 
calculation of the compensation claim has yet to take place. A prudent estimate of £100,000 
for new burdens and £70,000 for the compensation claim has been included within the 
projection. It is hoped that by the second quarter report, exact figures will be known for both 
elements. 
 

5.11 
Our anticipated retention of business rates income shows a gain of approximately £1/4m 
from the original budget, complied in December 2020. At the time of compilation, the outlook 
for the economy and businesses was very uncertain as a result of the impact of covid and 
we adopted a prudent view, following national guidelines, for likely levels of business rates 
in 2021/22. The first quarter has highlighted businesses in Tewkesbury Borough to be doing 
significantly better than these estimates with, for example, the level of empty properties 
being considerably lower than forecast. 
 

5.12 
The income line ‘Use of Reserves & MRP’ highlights the intended level of reserves being 
brough into the general fund during the year less the cost of the repayment of borrowing – 
the Minimum Revenue Provision. Outside of the budgeted transfer from reserves, 
expenditure being financed by reserves is usually allocated directly to reserves and shown 
separately in section 7 of the report. However, some expenditure is recorded in the general 
fund and so additional funding is brought in to match off that expenditure. In this case, the 
additional reserve use relates to new burdens funding already received for business grant 
administration and the use of the commercial property reserve to cover any deficit on that 
account. 
 

5.13 
Overall, the first quarter projection for the full financial year shows an anticipated surplus of 
£22,382. As the country continues to recover from the pandemic we hope that income 
streams continue the upward trend, the business environment remains positive and we gain 
clarity on the additional funding due from central government.  

6.0 
CAPITAL BUDGET POSITION 

6.1 
Appendix 4 shows the capital budget position as at Q1. This is currently showing an 
underspend of £78,233 against the profiled budget of £286,658.  
 
The capital programme estimates total expenditure for the year to be circa £3.9m. This is 
much reduced on previous years as a result of the end of the acquisition phase of the 
commercial investment property strategy. The main elements of this year’s forecast include: 

• Ashchurch Bridge 

• Vehicle replacement 

• The replacement of the heating system at the council offices 

• Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 
 

As can be seen from appendix 4, the first three capital projects have yet to incur any 

32



expenditure, or in the case of vehicle acquisition only minor expenditure, but the DFG 
scheme is ahead of the profiled budget and has incurred an overspend. All expenditure on 
DFG’s is covered by grant funding provided by the County Council and so no cost of this 
scheme is borne by the Borough Council.  

7.0 RESERVES POSITION 

7.1 
Appendix 5 provides a summary of the current usage of available reserves. Supporting 
notes are provided for reserves where expenditure is high or the expenditure is of note. 
 
Reserves have been set aside from previous years to fund known future costs and the 
strategic planning of the authority’s operation. This year’s reserves have been boosted by 
both grant funding related to covid and also the release of provisions from the retained 
business rates scheme. The information in the appendix does not take account of reserves 
which have been committed, but not yet paid. 

Whilst the Q1 position shows that there remains a significant balance on the reserves, the 
expectation is that the balances will be spent in the future. Finance has asked for updates 
from all departments about their plans to ensure that earmarked reserves are either used for 
their intended purpose or released back to the general fund. 

8.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

8.1 None 

9.0 CONSULTATION 

9.1 None  

10.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

10.1 Council Plan 2020-24. 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020. 

11.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

11.1 None directly.  

12.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

12.1 None directly.  

13.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

13.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions.  

14.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health And 
Safety) 

14.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions. 

15.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

15.1 Council Plan 2020-24 approved by Council 28 January 2020. 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020 approved by Executive Committee 8 August 2020. 

 

33



Background Papers: None  
 
Contact Officer: Graeme Simpson, Head of Corporate Services (Appendix 1 and 2)  
  Tel: 01684 272002 email: Graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
     
 Simon Dix, Head of Finance and Asset Management (Appendix 3-5) 
 Tel: 01684 272005 email: simon.dix@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
                                                
Appendices:  
 Appendix 1 – Council Plan Performance Tracker Qtr 1 2021/22  
 Appendix 2 – Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan performance tracker Qtr 12021/22 
  Appendix 3 - Revenue Budget 
 Appendix 4 - Capital Budget 
 Appendix 5 - Reserves  
 
  
   

34



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 1 
 

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment 

Objective 1. To ensure the council remains financially secure in the long term. 

a) Introducing and 
complying with the 
Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s 
(CIPFA) new 
Financial 
Management 
Code. 

Target date: 
December 2021 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 Review of code to take place during the Autumn with 

an action plan to address gaps, if any, being 

compiled by the end of the calendar year.  

 

b) Produce a Medium-
Term Financial 
Strategy that 
recognises the 
impact of funding 

Target date: January 
2022 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 

 
MTFS scheduled to be presented to committee and 

Council in January 2022. Initial updates and 

scenarios have been, and will continue to be, shared 

with Transform Working Group. Still awaiting 

Council Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key: KPI direction of travel key: 

☺ Action progressing well/ PI on or above target ↑ PI is showing improved performance on previous year  

 Action has some issues/ delay but not significant 
slippage/ PI below target but likely to achieve end of year 
target 

↔ PI is on par with previous year performance  

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has 
been significant slippage in the timetable, or performance 
is below target/ PI significantly below target and unlikely 
to achieve target 

↓ PI is showing performance is not as good as previous year 

 Project has not yet commenced/ date not available or 
required to report 

 

 

  
✓ Tracker action is complete or annual target achieved  

35



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 2 
 

reform and, 
delivers a balanced 
approach to 
meeting funding 
gaps.   

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 

information from government about funding beyond 

March 22. 

 

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Objective 2. Maintain a low council tax. 

a) Ensure our council 
tax remains in the 
lowest quartile 
nationally. 

Target date: February 
2022 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management  

 

The MTFS and subsequent budget will ensure the 
central scenario and agreed annual council tax will 
remain within the lowest quartile. 

Objective 3. Maintain our assets to maximise financial returns. 

a) Update the 
council’s asset 
management plan. 

Target date: March 
2022 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 

The Asset Management Plan (AMP) is scheduled to 
be updated in the final quarter. 

b) Approve a new 
planned 
maintenance 
programme. 

Target date: June 
2022 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 The long term planned maintenance programme will 
follow the production of the Asset Management Plan. 

36



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 3 
 

c) Ensure that voids 
within our 
commercial 
property portfolio 
are re-let at the 
earliest opportunity. 

Target date: March 
2022 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

☺ 
Both units in our Clevedon property, where leases 

expired in May, have now been re-let. 

Unit 5 in Tipton, which was vacant on acquisition, 

has Heads of Terms out to the interested party for 

agreement. 

An office building in Hertfordshire saw the surrender 

of the lease for two units earlier in the year. One new 

lease has been agreed and there are interested 

parties in the other unit. 

Vacant units at the Council Offices are advertised. 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date  
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Objective 4. Deliver the council’s commercial strategy. 

a) Deliver the 
approved trade 
waste business 
case to make the 
service 
commercially 
viable. 

Target date: April 
2017 July 2017 
August 2017 April 
2018 April 2019 
December 2019 
September 2020 

 February 2021 

March 2021 

Target date: March 
2022 

(in accordance with 
project milestones 
reported to O&S 6 
April 2021) 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 

A project officer was appointed in July to lead on 
project delivery. A detailed project plan is currently 
being developed with timescales aligned to the high-
level plan reported to O&S Committee. 

37



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 4 
 

a) Ensure that the 
Ubico resource 
made available as 
a result of the bulky 
waste review is 
redeployed. 

Target date: 
March 2022 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment ☺ 

 

This project is currently being worked on with Ubico. 

A number of options are being explored.  Timescales 

will depend on which option is preferred. Options 

include using the bulky waste vehicle and crew to 

reduce agency costs and using it for fly-tipping 

recovery. The project team will also be reviewing a 

longer-term option that could potentially see a good 

return on the resource, this is at early stages and the 

Transform Working Group will be informed of any 

progress.  

   

b) Deliver the One 
Legal service 
review and action 
plan. 

Target date: 

 January 2022  

(Stage one of the 
review) 

 

Borough Solicitor 

Lead Member for 
Corporate 
Governance 

 

☺ 

 

The One Legal service review will be carried out in 

stages. The first stage is to review the operating 

model at level one and two and recruit post holders.  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

38



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 5 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver our strategic plans and economic development plans. 

a) To deliver an 
economic 
assessment of 
businesses 
within 
Tewkesbury 
Borough.   

Target date:  

June 2022 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 

Promotion 

 

The economic assessment will form part of the work to 

develop the new Economic Development and Tourism 

Strategy. It is expected that work will commence in the 

autumn.  

 

b) Deliver 50 
workshops/ 
events through 
the 
Tewkesbury 
Growth Hub. 

Target date:  

April 2022 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 
 

The Growth Hub delivers a range of workshops and 1-2-1 
events to support business growth. These are currently being 
delivered online. A phased approach to re-introducing ‘in 
person’ events is planned, in line with the appropriate 
guidance. In Quarter 1, 13 events have been delivered on 
subjects which include: social media, marketing and action 
planning. 

c) Work with the 
Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
(LEP) and 
other partners 
to deliver the 
Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS). 

Target date:  

December 2019 

June 2020 

Date to be confirmed 

(as reported to O&S 
July 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

Deferred 

pending 
response 
from BEIS  

 
In April, Central Government launched their latest plan for 
economic growth, called Build Back Better.  This plan for 
growth and recovery builds on the local industrial strategy 
and looks to maximise strengths across the economy. It is 
expected that this will include a focus on high quality 
infrastructure, skills, innovation and support for transition to 
net zero in 2050. Further information is awaited on how this 
will be rolled out regionally/locally.  
 
 

39



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 6 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 2. Deliver employment land and infrastructure to facilitate economic growth. 

a) Deliver 
employment 
land through 
allocating land 
in the Joint 
Core Strategy 
(JCS) and 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 
(TBP). 

 

Target date: Autumn 
2019 

Spring 2020 

Winter 2020 

Summer 2021 
(preferred options 
consultation) 

Date to be confirmed 

(reported to O&S 
committee in 
September 2021) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for the Built 
Environment  

 

 

 

112ha of employment land has been allocated within the JCS. 
The take up of employment land will be monitored in the 
Authority Monitoring Report (AMR), which government 
planning guidance requires the council to publish. 

At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 
Development Scheme was approved. This set out the below 
timetable for the JCS review.  
 

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19  

• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 

• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  

• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 

2023  

• Examination – Summer 2023  

• Adoption – Winter 2023 

The timetable for the review of the JCS is currently under 

another review with our JCS partners. The JCS review 

requires a number of technical studies and covers a number 

of complex issues e.g. location of employment and housing 

growth etc, that need to be agreed with all three local 

authorities. This has resulted in the Preferred Options 

Consultation (POC), which was due to commence in Summer 

2021, being delayed. Reviewing the timetable will provide 

new timings for the POC to take place but this is unknown at 

this stage and will be confirmed in due course.   

40



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 7 
 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 Spring 
2021 Autumn 2021 

Target date: Adoption: 
February 2022* 

*Timings are dependant 

on the inspector’s 
preliminary findings and if 
further work is required. 

(revised date reported 
to O&S committee in 
June 2021) 

☺ 

 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has identified further 
employment sites which have been informed by the 
Employment Land Review. 

Potential employment sites have been assessed to see if they 
would make sustainable allocations for inclusion in the plan. 
This has been supported by several evidence base documents 
to support evidence of deliverability. As such, over 40ha of new 
employment has been identified in the plan.  

The examination into the Local Plan started on 16 February 
2021 and completed on 18 March 2021. The council is now 
awaiting comments from the inspector with regards to the 
proposed modifications. 

Adoption is expected early next year.   

b) Work with 
partners to 
secure 
transport 
infrastructure 
improvements 
for the all-ways 
Junction 10.   

Target date: September 
2024 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities 

Lead Member 
for the Built 
Environment  

 

☺ 

All-ways Junction 10 
 Gloucestershire County Council has been awarded £249m to 
deliver an all-ways J10. This project includes a link road to 
the West Cheltenham development site and a park and ride 
interchange. 

 
GCC has now (June 21) announced Option Two as its 
preferred design for the proposed upgrade to M5 Junction 10. 
This option was the clear preference with those who took part 
in the public consultation and involves upgrading the existing 
junction with a grade separated roundabout centred on the 
existing junction. 
 
The scheme elements will now be developed further before 
an opportunity for additional feedback on the detailed 
proposals is made through a statutory consultation. This is 
expected to be towards the end of 2021. Further work will 
follow to confirm the scheme before an application for 
planning consent. It is currently anticipated that the upgraded 
junction will be open in 2024. 
 

41



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 8 
 

The government funding for Junction 10 also includes the 
provision of an expanded park and ride facility at Arle Court 
to help to ease congestion further by taking traffic off local 
roads. Consultation and planning on this element, now known 
as ‘Arle Court Transport Hub’, will take place later this year 
with construction anticipated to follow in 2022. 

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 
performance tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- action 
a). 

c) Publish the 
Infrastructure 
Funding 
Statement. 

Target date: December 
2021.  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment 

☺ 

 

The Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) is an annual report 
published by the council to provide a summary of all financial 
contributions relating to S106 agreements and Community 
Infrastructure Levy. The IFS is currently being worked on and 
is on target to be published on the council's website in 
December 2021.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 9 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date  
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 3. Deliver borough regeneration schemes. 

a) Increase 
community 
engagement 
through 
delivery of a 
range of 
community 
initiatives and 
events for the 
Tewkesbury 
High Street 
Heritage Action 
Zone.   

Target date:  

March 2022 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 

 

A number of events are planned to be delivered throughout the 
duration of the HSHAZ. These include training courses on 
traditional materials and skills, for example the use of lime 
mortars and how to create traditional signs. It is also planned 
to take a new photographic exhibition of Tewkesbury ‘on tour’ 
to residential care homes and schools, to ensure that as many 
different elements of the community are reached and engaged 
by the scheme.  

The first event to be held under the HSHAZ is a drop in event 
to be held in the American Gardens to the rear of the town hall 
on the morning of 18 September. This event will publicise the 
HSHAZ; it will also include exhibitions from organisations that 
will present later in the scheme as well as some 
demonstrations using traditional materials and skills.  

b) Introduce a 
shop-front 
grant scheme 
through the 
Tewkesbury 
High Street 
Heritage Action 
Zone.   

Target date:  

October 2021 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 

 

A shop front grant scheme, where funding from Historic 
England and the council is offered to specific businesses and 
property owners to undertake the restoration or reinstatement 
of historic shopfronts and carry out façade restoration, is 
currently being put together. The aim of the scheme is to give 
the High Street a more sympathetic and harmonious 
appearance by reversing some of visually discordant 
changes that have happened in recent years.  
 
A schedule of potential grant recipients has been compiled, 
and the application forms and information for applicants is 
currently being formulated with a view to the scheme being 
launched at the end of September.  
 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

43



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 10 
 

Actions Target date  
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 

to date  
Comment   

Objective 4. Promote the borough as an attractive place to live and visit. 

a) Work with 
Cotswold 
Tourism to 
increase digital 
marketing to 
promote the 
borough. 

Target date: 

March 2022 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

☺ 

 

There are a number of different aspects to the bigger 
‘uncover the cotswolds’ project which was funded through the 
visit england discover fund. Some of the work achieved so far 
includes: 

• Escape to the cotswolds website being created- this 
digital marketing campaign is complete with the website 
helping attractions, event organisers and accommodation 
providers have an online bookable presence which has 
been essential during and post covid.  

• Total social media following has now passed the 150,000 
mark. The council have been working with cotswold 
tourism in offering social media support, creating blogs, 
using #hastags training courses and a series of training 
videos have been created alongside with some helpful 
notes to help businesses improve their online presence 
and digital skills which look at tourism businesses 
website. 

• Businesses can now make business listing by directly 
booking online at cotswolds.Com. 

• Creating a digital guide for visitors that can be 
downloaded and gives them information on the attractions 
of the area. The guide has also been created as a booklet 
which is available in the bedrooms of accommodation 
establishments who are cotswold tourism members. 

b) Celebrate with 
partners the 
significance of 
2021 for 
Tewkesbury. 

Target date: December 
2021 

 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

☺ 

 

The 2021 committee will be focussing on three major events 
for 2021, incorporating a son et lumiere, Tewkesbury 
Tapestry community artwork and school engagement through 
a virtual festival. 
 
In line with the Executive Committee resolution, the council 
has awarded £25,000 towards the 2021 celebrations. 
 

 

44

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fcotswolds.us8.list-manage.com%2ftrack%2fclick%3fu%3dd81c7614d62430e16432045f7%26id%3d36f2293de4%26e%3dec21f58099&c=E,1,Zvpz2OcFcY6xqv788Cky6-UkQ9CGbUGYC1FTWJr8poZiwfJO9ZZsirLauV4VCo7ugmsQBi6ZwYjOdERFxh20DsEH-K1TQuQ8vnJYpxDwwfcdDrBElm6Ps1ZwoQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fCotswolds.com&c=E,1,v2-47cl48RZSBsMlSC2MJsznmwuENJBzfEoP06PsDSFLyGl8owwQmQ4NltGcjD9EHDBIEOjXQvlaQA-mw4g46tZNbxB4sWcnkCX8F460lNu4wOw0j9o,&typo=1&ancr_add=1


Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 11 
 

 

Key performance indicators for priority: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

1 
Employment 
rate 16-64 
year olds. 

82.4% 

 

81.6% 

   
  81.6% relates to 47,200 

people within the borough. 
This is above the national 
rate of 75.4%  

(Source ONS Jan 2020 – 
Dec 2020 current figures) 

 

Lead 
Member 
for 
Economic 
Developme
nt/ 
Promotion  

Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

2 
Claimant 
unemployment 

rate. 
3.9% 

 

3.2%    

  June 2021 figure of 3.2% 
relates to 1780 people 
within the borough. This 
figure is below the county 
rate of 3.8 % and UK rate 
of 5.6%. 

(Source: ONS).   

 

Lead 
Member 
for 
Economic 
Developme
nt/ 
Promotion  

Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

3 
Number of 
business 
births. 

465 
(2019 
figure) 

 
  

 

 
  These are the current 

ONS figures for Business 
Births and Death Rates.  

Business births have 
increased with 465 new 
businesses in 2019.  

The number of business 
deaths has increased on 
last year but remains 
below the county, regional 
and national average. 

Lead 
Member 
for 
Economic 
Developm
ent/ 
Promotion  

Head of 
Developm
ent 
Services 

 

4 

Number of 
business 
deaths 

 
 

415 
(2019 
figure) 

 
  

 

 
  

45



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 12 
 

5 

Number of 
visitors to 
Tewkesbury 
Tourist 
Information 
Centre (TIC) 

0 8,000 2997    ↑ 

 

☺ 

 

Both TICs were closed 

throughout last year, due 

to Covid-19. 

Tewkesbury TIC re-

opened in April 2021 in 

line with government 

guidance when non-

essential shops were able 

to re-open. 

Overseas visitor numbers 

are dramatically reduced 

as visitor confidence has 

grown; this has been 

reflected through numbers 

coming through the TIC. 

Winchombe TIC remains 

closed whilst discussions 

are being finalised 

regarding lease for 

moving back to the 

refurbished Winchcombe 

Heritage Centre, rather 

than its temporary 

location.  

Lead 
Member 
for 
Economic 
Developm
ent/ 
Promotion  

Head of 
Developm
ent 
Services 

6 

Number of 
visitors to 
Winchcombe 
Tourist 
Information 
Centre (TIC) 

0 
 

 
0      

7 

Number of 
visitors 
entering the 
Growth Hub 

 

0 

 

250 0      

Tewkesbury Growth Hub 
(located in the reception 
area of the PSC) was 
closed throughout last 
year, due to Covid-19. 

In line with Government 
guidance the hub has a 
gradual and phased 
reopening from July 2021, 
running an appointment 
only service. The reduced 
target for visitor numbers 
reflects this and the fact 

Lead 
Member 
for 
Economic 
Developm
ent/ 
Promotion  

Head of 
Developm
ent 
Services 

46



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 13 
 

that the hub cannot 
currently offer its usual 
drop-in service and 
events which generate 
footfall. 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the housing needs of our communities 

a) Work with 
partners to 
undertake the 
required review 
of the JCS.  

Autumn 2019 

Spring 2020 

Target date: Winter 
2020  

Summer 2021 
(Preferred Options 
Consultation) 

Date to be confirmed 

(Reported to O&S 
committee in 
September 2021) 

 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 

 

 

Key pieces of evidence for the review have been completed or 
are nearing completion. This includes a retail assessment, a 
study on the potential for strategic sites; a sustainable 
transport strategy and an assessment of economic need 
requirements.  

At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 

Development Scheme was approved. This set out the below 

timetable for the JCS review.  

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19  

• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 

• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  

• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 

2023  

• Examination – Summer 2023  

• Adoption – Winter 2023 

The timetable for the review of the JCS is currently under 

another review with our JCS partners. The JCS review 

requires a number of technical studies and covers a number 

of complex issues e.g. location of employment and housing 

47



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 14 
 

growth etc, that need to be agreed with all three local 

authorities. This has resulted in the Preferred Options 

Consultation (POC), which was due to commence in Summer 

2021, being delayed. Reviewing the timetable will provide 

new timings for the POC to take place but this is unknown at 

this stage and will be confirmed in due course. 

b) Finalise and 
adopt the 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan. 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 

December 2019 
Spring 2021Autumn 
2021 

Target date: 
Adoption: February 
2022* 

*Timings are 

dependant on the 
inspector’s preliminary 
findings and if further 
work is required. 

(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in June 
2021) 

 

 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

☺ 
 

 
 

The examination in public was completed on 18 March 2021. 
The council is awaiting comments from the Inspector with 
regard to the proposed modifications. Adoption is expected 
early next year.   

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the housing needs of our communities 

48



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 15 
 

c) Developing a fit 
for purpose 
four-year 
housing 
strategy. 

Target date: April 
2022 

 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Housing 

☺ 

In partnership with ARK Consultancy, work on the new 
Housing Strategy has commenced. A member workshop will 
be held in November 2021 and the strategy taken through the 
committee process. It is scheduled for final approval by Council 
on 12 April 2022.  

d) Carry out 
housing needs 
assessments to 
deliver 
affordable 
housing in rural 
areas. 

March 2020  

February 2021 

New target date: 
March 2022 

March 2023 (overall 
completion) 

(New short term 
target date reported 
to O&S committee in 
September 2021) 

  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Housing 

 

Gloucestershire Rural Community Council (GRCC) 
undertakes Housing Needs Surveys on our behalf. To capture 
all rural areas across the borough, surveys will be carried out 
in phases.   
 
GRCC will contact each parish from the latest set of surveys in 
Forthampton, Chaceley, Tirley, Hasfield, Ashleworth and 
Deerhurst to offer some time to discuss the findings and next 
steps.  This piece of work has been instructive and led to 
GRCC adopting a change in approach across the rest of the 
County in relation to Community Led Housing (CLH). 
 
The next phase of surveys has been delayed from spring 2021 
due to capacity issues at GRCC. A meeting is due to take place 
in September to re-establish the future timeline for the next 
assessments to be carried out. It is hoped the remaining 
assessments will likely take place between autumn 2021- 
winter 2022, this will be confirmed in Q2 update. The longer-
term target of March 2023 should still be achievable.    
 
 
 
 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 2. Ensure development plans provide for the five-year land supply requirement.  

49



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 16 
 

a) Ensure 
adequate land 
is allocated 
within the JCS 
and 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 
to meet 
housing need. 

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 

 Winter 2020  

Target date: 

Summer 2021 
(Preferred Options 
Consultation) 

Date to be confirmed 

(Reported to O&S 
committee in 
September 2021) 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 

 

 

The JCS Review and the initial issues and options consultation 
was completed on 11 January 2019. Responses to the 
consultation are now being considered to progress the review 
to Draft Plan stage.  

The review will consider future growth requirements in the 
area, including addressing the shortfalls identified in the 
adopted JCS as well as planning for the long term. A key piece 
of ongoing work is an assessment of the potential options for 
strategic growth in the area. 

At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 

Development Scheme was approved. This set out the below 

timetable for the JCS review.  

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19  

• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 

• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  

• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 

2023  

• Examination – Summer 2023  

• Adoption – Winter 2023 

The timetable for the review of the JCS is currently under 

another review with our JCS partners. The JCS review 

requires a number of technical studies and covers a number 

of complex issues e.g. location of employment and housing 

growth etc, that need to be agreed with all three local 

authorities. This has resulted in the Preferred Options 

Consultation (POC), which was due to commence in Summer 

2021, being delayed. Reviewing the timetable will provide 

new timings for the POC to take place but this is unknown at 

this stage and will be confirmed in due course. 

50



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 17 
 

Winter 2018 

Summer 2019 

Autumn 2019 

December 2019 
Spring 2021Autumn 
2021 

Target date: 
Adoption: February 
2022* 

*Timings are 

dependant on the 
inspector’s preliminary 
findings and if further 
work is required. 

(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in June 
2021) 

☺ 

The examination in public was completed on 18 March 2021. 
The council is awaiting comments from the Inspector with 
regard to the proposed modifications. Adoption is expected 
early next year.   

 

b) Work with 
developers and 
stakeholders to 
deliver 
sustainable 
sites to meet 
housing needs. 

Target date: March 
2022 

 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  ☺ 

The JCS was adopted on 11 December 2017. The JCS sets 
out the overall housing requirement for the borough and sets 
the spatial strategy for meeting development needs.  

In undertaking strategic duties with the planning authority, 
officers are working to deliver housing needs. 

The JCS review will further consider development needs and 
the identification of additional sites to meet growth 
requirements going forward. This will involve further work with 
developers and stakeholders to progress sustainable site 
options.   

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

51



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 18 
 

Objective 3. Support infrastructure and facilities delivery to enable sustainable communities. 

a) Work with 
partners, 
infrastructure 
providers and 
developers, to 
progress the 
delivery of key 
sites. 

Target date: March 
2022 

 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 

☺ 

Innsworth 

• A programme of reserved matters approvals continues 

with approval granted for 428 dwellings to date. 

• A full application for 99 dwellings has been submitted 
(20/00679/FUL) within the strategic allocation but outside 
of the allowed appeal sites and is pending. No target 
committee date yet. 

Twigworth-  

• A programme of reserved matters approvals continues 
with approval granted for 385 dwellings to date. 

• Reserved matters approval has also been granted for key 
infrastructure including the erection of a local centre.  

  
South Churchdown  

• Development is underway with reserved matters 
application granted for 465 dwellings as a first phase of 
development within this allocation. The development is 
progressing on site with several dwellings now out of the 
ground. 

Brockworth 

• Development is underway with reserved matters 

applications approved for 600 dwellings and key 

infrastructure.  

• Permission was refused for 50 dwellings at the strategic 

allocation but outside the ‘Perrybrook’ application site. An 

appeal is expected later this year on this site. 
  
North West Cheltenham  
An outline application has been submitted. Officers are 
continuing to work with the developers on transport issues in 
order to progress the planning application. The additional 
transport modelling has now been completed with a view to 
resolving the highway issues.  

 

52



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 19 
 

Feedback from Highways England indicates that the 
application can be progressed.  
There will need to be updates to matters including ecology 
and the Transport Statement before a further round of 
consultation can take place. Work continues on the s106 
agreement. 
West Cheltenham  
As above, officers are working on transport matters as well as 
other master planning/development issues. The Golden 
Valley (West Cheltenham) SPD has now been adopted to 
guide the development. It is anticipated that an outline 
application will be submitted in December. 

b) Provide training 
to parish 
councils on 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) 
monies. 

Target date: 

November 2021 and 
April 2022.  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment 

 
 

☺ 

 

The parishes who are to receive CIL monies in October have 
been identified and they will be invited to a training session in 
November 2021. Another training session will be organised in 
April 2022.   

 
 

c) Support 
community 
groups to 
access funding 
to deliver 
improved 
community 
facilities.  

Target date: 

March 2022  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment 

 
 
 
 

☺ 

 

Various funding support has been provided during the 
quarter: 
-  Covid19 Small Community Grants (promoted, processed 

and awarded) - £17,467 awarded to 22 VCS groups since 
April 2021 (total amount awarded since start of scheme 
April 2020 = £114,079)   

- Council Capital Grants awarded (Bishop’s Cleeve 
Football Club £57,000/ Harvey Centre, Minsterworth 
£15,850 / Highnam Community Centre Trust £18,105 / 
Hatherley & Reddings Cricket Club £10,360 / Northway 
Parish Council £5,685) - total amount awarded = 
£107,000 

- Ongoing support for community groups to access external 
funding. 

 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

53



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 20 
 

KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2020-21 

Target 
2021-22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

8 

Total number 
of active 
applications 
on the 
housing 
register at 
the end of 
the quarter. 
 

1835  

1 bed 

single=  

732 

1 bed 

couple=   

170 

2 bed=  

531 

3 bed= 

272 

4 bed= 

102 

5 bed= 23 

6 bed= 4 

7 bed= 1 

 
1823  

1 bed 

single=  

705 

1 bed 

couple=   

161 

2 bed=  

545 

3 bed= 

284 

4 bed= 

100 

5 bed= 24 

6 bed= 3 

7 bed= 1 

    

 The breakdown of 
bands is:  
Emergency – 46 
Gold – 69 
Silver – 581 
Bronze – 1127 
  
Total – 1823 
 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

 

9 

Total number 
of new 
homeless 
applications 
opened 
during 
quarter. 

Revised 
KPI 

 

 

111     

 This will include 36 
Triage (advice only), 44 
Prevention and 31 Relief 
cases newly 
approaching for 
assistance.  

 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

10 

Total number 
of homeless 
relief cases 
held at the 

Revised 
KPI 

 

 

20     

 This is the total number 
of homeless applications 
held at the Relief Duty 
stage usually when the 
applicant has had to 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

54



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 21 
 

end of the 
quarter. 
 

leave their previous 
accommodation. 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

11 

Total number 
of homeless 
applications 
with main 
duty 
accepted 
held at end of 
the quarter. 

Revised 
KPI 

 

 

25     

 
This is the total number 
of cases that we have a 
Main Duty to following a 
full homelessness 
application process. 

 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

12 

Total number 
of homeless 
prevention 
cases held at 
the end of 
the quarter. 
 

New KPI 

 

 

54 

 
    

 
This is the total number 
of homeless applications 
held at the Prevention 
Duty stage while still in 
the accommodation they 
are threatened with 
homelessness from. 

This is a new KPI. 

 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

13 

Numbers in 
Temporary 
Accommodatio
n at the end of 
the quarter. 

 

 

12 

 

17     

 
Total numbers of 
households in temporary 
accommodation 
including hotel, B&B & 
our temporary houses. 
 

This is a new KPI. 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

14 

Total New 
Affordable 
Housing 
properties 
delivered by 
tenure type. 

 

 

80 

 

47     

 
Social Rent = Zero 

Affordable Rent = 29 

Affordable Home  
Ownership = 18 

 

This is a new KPI. 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services 

15 

New 
Affordable 
Housing 
properties 

 

 

 

28     

 
Social Rent = Zero 
Affordable Rent = 18 
Affordable Home 
Ownership = 10 

Lead 
member 
for 
Housing  

55



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 22 
 

delivered on 
JCS sites by 
tenure type. 
 

2  
This is a new KPI. 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 

2020-
2021 

Target 
2021-22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

16 

Percentage 
of ‘major’ 
applications 
determined 
within 13 
weeks or 
alternative 
period 
agreed with 
the applicant. 

80% 

 

85% 

 

87.5%    ↑ ☺ 

For Q1, 87.5% of major 
decisions were within 
target timescales (seven 
out of eight decisions). 

Performance is just 
above the local indicator 
and significantly 
exceeds the national 
threshold of 60%, below 
which local planning 
authorities can be 
designated as a poorly 
performing authority. 

 

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/ 

Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

17 

Percentage 
of ‘minor’ 
applications 
determined 
within 8 
weeks or 
alternative 
period 
agreed with 
the applicant. 

69.94% 

 

80% 

 

55.10%    ↓  

In Q1, 55.10% of minor 
decisions (27 of the 49 
decisions issued) were 
within agreed 
timescales. 

 
This is a significant 
reduction in 
performance and well 
below the local indicator. 
There are various 
factors leading to this 
downturn in 
performance including 

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/ 

Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

 

56



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 23 
 

staff turnover and 
backlogs of work across 
the service resulting 
from this and covid 
related issues. 
Measures are being 
implemented to address 
the reduction in 
performance and these 
measures will be 
supplemented by 
improvements arising 
from the Review of 
Planning. 

 
The government 
threshold for ‘minor’ 
applications is combined 
with ‘other’ applications 
(see below). 
Performance against 
this measure is currently 
79.69% well above the 
threshold of 70% 
however this needs to 
be monitored closely. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

57



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 24 
 

KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 

2020-
2021 

Target 
2021-22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

18 

Percentage of 
‘other’ 
applications 
determined 
within 8 weeks 
or alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant.  

84.37% 

 

90% 

 

 

 

76.79% 

   
 
 
 
 

↓ 

 

 
 
 
 

 

For Q1, 76.79% of other 

applications were within 

agreed timescales (129 

out of 168 decisions 

issued).  

See above. 

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/ 

Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

19 

Enforcement - 
Investigate 
category A* 
cases within 
24 hours 
(without 
prompt action, 
material risk of 
further harm 
which could be 
reduced by 
early 
intervention). 

100% 90% 50%    

 
 
 
 
 
↓ 

 

 

There were two 
category A cases 
received in Q1. 
One of the cases was 
visited within the 24-
hour target. 

 
The other case, 
although related to a 
listed building, referred 
to works carried out 
some time ago and 
therefore an immediate 
visit was not required. 

*Category A- 
Development causing, 
or likely to cause, 
irreparable harm or 
damage. 

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/  
Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

20 

Investigate 
category B* 
cases within 
five working 
days 
(development 

61.54% 90% 75%    

 

↑ 

 
 

 

During Q1 four Category 
B cases were received 
and three of these were 
investigated within the 
target timescale. 

 

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/  

58



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 25 
 

causing, or 
likely to cause, 
irreparable 
harm or 
damage).   

Relates to a small 
number of cases, only 
one of which was not 
visited in the target 
timescale. 
 
*Category B- Unless 
prompt action is taken, 
there is a material risk of 
further harm being 
caused which could be 
reduced or prevented by 
early intervention.  

Head of 
Developme
nt Services 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 

2020-
2021 

Target 
2021-22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

21 

Investigate 
category C* 
cases within 
10 working 
days (risk of 
material harm 
to the 
environment or 
undue harm to 
residential 
amenity).   

36.51% 80% 19.23%    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

↓ 
 

 

26 Category C cases 
were received during 
Q1.  Five were 
investigated within 10 
working days.  

Downturn in 
performance which 
reflects the priority given 
to high profile cases and 
the continuing vacancy 
in the senior 
enforcement officer role. 

*Category C- unless 
action is taken, there is 
a risk of material harm 
to the environment or 
undue harm to 
residential amenity.  

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/  
Head of 
Developme
nt Services 

 

59



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 26 
 

22 

Investigate 
category D* 
cases within 
15 working 
days 
(breaches 
causing limited 
material 
disturbance to 
local residents 
or to the 
environment).   

40.68% 70% 21.05%    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

↓ 
  

During Q1, 19 category 
D cases were reported, 
four cases were 
reviewed within 15 
working days.  

 
Downturn in 
performance which 
reflects the priority given 
to high profile cases and 
the absence of a senior 
post in the enforcement 
post. 
 
*Category D- breaches 
of planning control 
causing limited material 
disturbance to local 
residents or harm to the 
environment, which do 
not come with any of the 
higher categories, and 
where a delay would not 
prejudice the council’s 
ability to resolve the 
matter.  
 

Lead 
Member 
Built 
Environm
ent/  
Head of 
Developm
ent 
Services 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 27 
 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line 
Progress 
to date 

Comment   

Objective 1. Maintain our culture of continuous service improvement. 

a) Continue to 
improve the 
proactive 
homelessness 
prevention 
programme. 

Target date: 

March 2022 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Housing 

☺ 

 

The Housing Advice Team have made contact with the major 

housing providers to encourage early contact for potential homeless 

cases.   

Future activity will be supported by Business Transformation to help 

improve engagement with customers. 

 

b) Continue to 
build on the 
early success of 
our new bulky 
waste service. 

Target date: 
March 2022 

 

 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 

 

During quarter one 835 bulky waste collections were carried out by 
Orchard, the council's new contractor. Orchard have increased the 
capacity and frequency of the collections which has reduced the 
waiting times from six weeks to one week. This together with the price 
increase has generated an income of over £19,000 which is an 
income increase of 154% when compared to 2019/20 (not compared 
with 2020/21 due to suspending the service during Covid-19).  

c) Deliver the 
planning service 
improvement 
plan.  

March 2021 

Target date:  

November 2021 

(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in June 
2021) 

Head of 
Development 

Lead Member Built 
Environment 

 

 

 

☺ 

 

The previous improvement plan inherited by the Head of 
Development has been reviewed and the remaining actions are not 
proposed to be brought forward. This is due to a new review of the 
systems and procedures of the Development Management Service 
being undertaken.  

This review commenced in April and is being undertaken by Planning 
Officers Enterprises, an arm of the Planning Officers’ Society. The 

review will include performance, staff structure and systems.   

The final report is expected end of August/early September. It is 
anticipated that the action plan will be presented to the Executive 
Committee in November 2021.  

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

61



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 28 
 

Actions Target date Reporting Line 
Progress 
to date Comment   

Objective 2. Develop online services to achieve ‘digital by preference, access for all’. 

a) Carry out a 
review of our 
corporate 
website. 

Target date:  

April 2022  

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Commercial 
Transformation 

☺ 

 

A full review of the council’s website has started, and the 
transformation team is currently exploring alternative platforms. Key 
areas for improvement are around the search function and meeting 
the government’s accessibility standards.  

The business transformation team has the delivery of this project as 
one of its priorities for over the next eight months.  

b) Implement an 
online offering 
for the licensing 
service. 

April 2021 

Target date: Sept 
2021 

(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
March 2021) 

Target date: 
November 2021 

(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
September  2021) 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

The business transformation team and the licensing team has held 

initial meetings to scope out the project.  

 

The licensing team is now working to ensure the information on its 

internal system (Uniform) is up-to-date and set up correctly – this is 

a vital piece of work that will assist with the transformation team’s 

online forms work. 

 

Meanwhile, the licensing team is also gathering data on the types of 

licenses and the number received to help develop a project plan.  

 
Given the vital work needed on the Uniform system, this project will 

be delayed – it is anticipated it will be delivered by November 2021.  

 

Additional resource has been brought in to support a full review of 

the licensing service and support the Head of Service in delivering 

service improvements. 

c) Implement a 
digital solution 
to improve 
internal HR 
processes. 

Target date:  

December 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Commercial 
Transformation 

☺ 

The HR team has recently launched a new recruitment microsite. 
This showcases the council as an attractive employer and why it’s 
fantastic place to work. It also means searching and applying for a 
job has never been easier, with candidates able to upload CVs, 
which can be used to auto-fill the application form. Job hunters can 
also sign up to receive job alerts depending on their area of interest. 
This new microsite is supported by a new HR system Eploy, which 

62



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 29 
 

introduces a really user –friendly cloud-based applicant tracking 
system. Eploy manages the entire recruitment process from filling a 
post, viewing applications, shortlisting candidates, carrying our pre-
employment checks, finalising contracts and onboarding.  
 
The next phase is to implement a self-service option to allow online 
access to activities such as monitoring absence, approving travel 
and subsistence claims, annual leave records etc.  

d) Explore the 
opportunity for 
an online 
offering for our 
cemeteries 
function. 

Target date: 31 
March 2022 

Head of Finance 
and Asset 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management  

 

This work is scheduled within the Business Transformation Team’s 
work programme for the latter part of the calendar year.   
 
 

 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outturn 
2020-21 

Target 
2021-

22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio Lead 
/ Head of 
service 

23 

 
Total enquiries 
logged by the 
Area Information 
Centre (AIC).  

0 

 

0    

  The AICs have been 

closed since 11 March 

2020 due to Covid-19.  

Regular communication 

with the parish councils 

has been maintained.   

The AICs reopened from 

19 July in line with 

government guidance.  

Lead Member 
Customer 
Focus/ 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

63



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 30 
 

24 

Total number of 
people assisted 
within the 
borough by 
Citizens Advice 
Bureau (CAB). 

1,548 

 

345 
(928 

20/21) 
   

  The majority of services 

have remained on the 

telephone or via email.  

As the quarter has come 

to an end, face to face 

appointments for 

vulnerable clients have 

been offered as have 

home visits where needed 

(covid safe).     

 

345 clients raised 686 

issues during quarter one, 

this is down from last year 

where 928 issues were 

raised in Q1 2019/20. 

72% (494) of the issued 

raised represented by the 

following:  

• Benefits including UC 

25% (173 -issues). 

Last year: 21%  

• Debt and Financial 

16% (107 -issues). 

Last year: 20%  

• Housing 11% (77- 

issues). Last year:  

6% 

• Employment 10% 

(71- issues). Last 

year- 14%  

• Relationships 10% 

(70- issues). Last 

year: 8%  
  

Of the 345 clients seen, 

the heaviest demand was 

Tewkesbury South with 

Lead Member 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

64



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 31 
 

31 (8.9%). The following 

seven wards represents 

172 (49.8%) of all clients 

seen: 

• Tewkesbury South- 

31 (8.9%) 

• Innsworth- 30 (8.6%) 

• Churchdown St 

Johns- 27 (7.8%) 

• Brockworth West- 23 

(6.6%) 

• Tewkesbury East- 21 

(6.0%) 

• Churchdown 

Brookfield with 

• Hucclecote- 20 

(5.7%) 

• Northway- 20 (5.7%) 

25 

 
Financial gain to 
clients resulting 
from CAB 
advice 

£1,784,76
4 

 

£260,990    

  During the quarter, clients 

in Tewkesbury have 

benefitted from £260,990 

of financial gains, of which 

£152,979.00 represented 

debts written-off.   

Lead Member 
Economic 
Development/Pro
motion / Head of 
Development 
Services 

26 

Community 
groups assisted 
with funding 
advice 

 
276 

 
 
 
 

96    

  Over quarter one: 

• 57 Voluntary & 
Community Sector 
groups supported with 
funding advice 

• 18 attended training 
(budgeting workshop 
& Inform 
Gloucestershire 
workshop)  

• 16 groups received a 
Covid-19 Community 
grant 

Lead Member 
Community 
Development / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

65



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 32 
 

• 5 groups received a 
capital community 
grant 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description 
Outturn 
2020-21 

Target 
2021-
22 

Outturn 
Q1  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3  

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio Lead 
/ Head of 
service 

27 

Benefits 
caseload: 

a) Housing 
Benefit 

b) Council 
Tax 
Reduction 

2,437 
4,874 

 

2,375 
4,914 

   

  The housing benefit 
caseload continues to fall 
due to the migration of 
claimants to Universal 
Credit, however still not to 
the extent estimated 
previously. We receive an 
average of 19 new claims 
a month. Delays in 
managed migration 
means that we will 
continue to deal with 
some claim types until 
September 2024. 
  
There continues to be an 
increase in the working 
age Council Tax 
Reduction caseload due 
to the financial impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  
The split at the end of 
quarter one was as 
follows: 
Pension age 1,846. 
Working age 3,068  

Lead Member 
Finance and Asset 
Management/ 
Head of Corporate 
Services 

66



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 33 
 

28 

Average number 
of days to 
process new 
claim for Council 
Tax Reduction 
(CTR). 

New 
KPI 

 
20 21      

This is a new 
performance indicator for 
2021/22. 
 
In Q1 we continued to 
receive a large number of 
new CTR claims.  There 
were some delays 
experienced due to the 
time taken for DWP to 
notify us that universal 
credit had gone into 
payment.  

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

29 

Average number 
of days to 
process change 
in 
circumstances 
for Council Tax 
Reductions. 

New 
KPI 

 
10 3     

 

☺ 

 

This is a new 
performance indicator for 
2021/22. 
 
6,355 notified changes 
were processed in quarter 
1. The high volume of 
changes is mainly due to 
universal credit 
assessment periods. 
 

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

30 

Average number 
of days to 
process new 
Housing benefit 
claims. 

8 15 7    ↑ 

 

☺ 

 

Performance on new 
housing benefit claims 
continues to be well below 
the national average of 17 
days. 
 

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

31 

Average number 
of days to 
process change 
in 
circumstances 
to housing 
benefit claims. 

2 4 5    ↓ 
 

 

 

Performance on change 
in circumstances 
continues to be well below 
the national average of six 
days.  There was some 
slippage in performance 
in Q1 due to resources 
being focussed on 
assessing the increased 
volume of Council Tax 

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

67



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 34 
 

Reduction claims and 
Test and Trace Support 
Payments in response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic. 

32 
Percentage of 
council tax 
collected  

97.6% 98% 30.4%    ↑ 

 

☺ 

 

We have been able to 
reintroduce normal 
recovery processes 
following the reopening of 
the magistrates’ court in 
May for liability order 
hearings.  Reminders and 
summonses are sent 
monthly in accordance 
with the recovery 
timetable.  This has had a 
positive impact on our 
council tax collection rate 
and were 0.4% above 
target at the end of 
quarter one. 

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

33 
Percentage of 
NNDR collected 

95.9% 98% 25.5%    ↓ 
 

 

 

Business rates collection 

performance is 

significantly below target, 

primarily because of the 

continuing impact of the 

Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

As the magistrates’ court 

has reopened for liability 

order hearings it is 

anticipated that this 

position will improve over 

the coming months as we 

are now able to take 

further enforcement 

action.  This is alongside 

continuing to engage with 

business to provide them 

with further support whilst 

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

 

68



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 35 
 

the economy continues to 

recover such as giving 

them payment 

arrangements over a 

longer period of time. 

 

 

34 

Average number 
of sick days per 
full time 
equivalent 

 

 

9.68 8.0 2.1    ↑ 
☺ 

 

403 days were lost to 
sickness absence during 
Qtr 1. Comprising 172 
short term days and 231 
long term days. Of the 
total 61.5 days are covid-
related across 10 
members of staff. 
 
Total short-term days lost 
for 2020/21 was 476.6 
and long term 1279.4  

Lead Member 
Organisational 
Development/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

35 
Food 
establishment 
hygiene ratings. 

3.6% 

 
5% 

With a 
food 

hygiene 
rating 
Under 
three  

 

3.5%    ↑ 

 

☺ 

 

 
There are 771 registered 
and rated food premises, 
an overall decrease of 69 
on the previous quarter. 
Of these 27 are rated with 
a score of 2 or less 
therefore the figure for 
this KPI remains below 
target at 3.5% 
 
The decrease in 
registered premises 
relates to businesses no 
longer trading and a 
backlog of new premises 
unrated due to Covid.  
New businesses are still 
registering and we have a 
backlog of 150 unrated 
premises to be completed 

Lead Member 
Clean and 
Green 
Environment/ 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

69



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 36 
 

by end of March 2022. 
The total number of 
premises is therefore 921.  
 
Food inspections 
restarted during May 2021 
using external contractors 
and internal staff.  We 
have calculated we have 
a backlog of 474 
inspections and a further 
200 inspections due of to 
be completed in 2021/22.  

36 

Percentage of 
Freedom of 
information 
(FOI) requests 
answered on 
time. 

87% 
 

80% 

 
 
 

Data not 
yet 

available 

 
   

 

 

 

 Data not yet available due 
to a change in systems 
 

Lead Member 
Customer 
Focus/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

37 

Percentage of 
formal 
complaints 
answered on 
time. 

84% 90% 

 
 

Data not 
yet 

available 

 

 
    Data not yet available due 

to a change in systems  
 

Lead Member 
Customer 
Focus/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 1. Delivery of Tewkesbury Garden Town 

a) Formally establish the 
Garden Town planning 
status through the JCS. 

Target date: Director of Garden 
Communities  

 

 

The Garden Town will form part of the Joint Core 
Strategy Review which is scheduled for submission for 
examination in 2022.  

70



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 37 
 

 Submission for 
examination 
summer 2023. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

(Reported to O&S 
committee in 
September 2021) 

 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

 

 
At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 

Development Scheme was approved for the examination 

to take place in the Summer 2023. However, the 

timetable for the review of the JCS is currently under 

another review with our JCS partners. The JCS review 

requires a number of technical studies and covers a 

number of complex issues e.g. location of employment 

and housing growth etc, that need to be agreed with all 

three local authorities. This has resulted in the Preferred 

Options Consultation (POC), which was due to 

commence in Summer 2021, being delayed which could 

impact on other timings within the timetable including the 

submission for examination in Summer 2023. Reviewing 

the timetable will provide new timings to take place but 

these dates at this stage are unknown and will be 

confirmed in due course. 

See relevant comment by Head of Development 

Services under priority ‘Housing and Communities’, 

objective 2, action a.  

 

b) Prepare a Design Guide 
and Sustainability 
Strategy. 

Target date:  
March 2022 

 

Director of Garden 
Communities  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

☺ 
Work has just commenced on the first stages of the 
preparation of a Sustainability Strategy, plus the drafting 
of a brief to support the development of a Design Code 
for Tewkesbury Garden Town, which if resources allow, 
will also be Borough wide.  
 
 
 

c) Deliver the planning and 
design phase of the 
Ashchurch and Northway 
Bridge Over Rail. 

Target date: April 
2022  

Director of Garden 
Communities  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

☺ 
Planning permission was secured in March 2021. Work 
continues on finalising the detailed design ahead of the 
procurement in Spring 2022, in preparation for the 
construction phase in Summer 2022. 
 
 

71



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 38 
 

d) Work with partners to 
progress the business 
case for the Junction 9 
and A46 improvements.  

New target date: 
March 2022  

 

March 2024 for 
finalisation of 
business case by 
GCC  

 

Director of Garden 
Communities  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

 

 

☺ 

Note this project is led by Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC), but Tewkesbury Borough Council remain 
active partners in helping to develop the business case.  

Latest update in terms of the technical work ongoing is 
that the planned non-statutory consultation by GCC has 
been re-scheduled to next Spring, on the advice of 
Department for Transport (DfT), however, following a 
productive round table meeting, MHCLG, Homes 
England and DfT have committed to working in 
partnership to finalise the design and funding options in 
support of the delivery of a solution.   

 

 

 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Delivery of Golden Valley Garden Community. 

a) Work with Cheltenham 
Borough Council (CBC) 
and landowners towards 
the submission of a 
planning application in 
accordance with the 
Golden Valley 
Supplementary Planning 
Document.  

Target date: March 
2022  

Director of Garden 
Communities  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

 

☺ 

 

TBC continue to work closely with CBC and landowners 
with delivering the £1 billion first phase of The Golden 
Valley Development. In July 2021 a joint press release 
with CBC announced that HBD X Factory has been 
selected as its preferred development partner to assist 
with the project. This will be a joint venture between UK 
property developer HBD and the campus developer 
Factory. 

It is envisioned The Golden Valley Development 
preferred developer will plan to submit a planning 
application later in the year of 2022, this subsequently 

72



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 39 
 

will lead to the start of construction and completion of the 
first phases of the development.  

More details relating to the Golden Valley Development 
can be found on the website - The Golden Valley 
Development (goldenvalleyuk.com) 

 

b) Prepare a land assembly 
programme to aid in the 
delivery of the Golden 
Valley Garden Village 

Target date:  

March 2022  

 

Director of Garden 
Communities  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

 

 

☺ 
 

Work underway in collaboration with Cheltenham 
Borough Council and Homes England to identify key 
land holdings for potential acquisition, pending 
progression of land allocations through the JCS review 
process in parallel.   

 

 

 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the climate emergency action plan 

a) Deliver the Public 
Services Centre’s low-
carbon heating and solar 
PV systems.  

Target date:  

Dec 2021 

 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 
Confirmation of award of grant funding for the air-to-air 

system has been received. A detailed specification has 

been compiled with the support of specialist engineers 

and has been issued to the market for tender bids. 

b) Embed our carbon 
reduction objectives 
within council services 
and raise awareness of 
our programme across 

Target date:  

July 2022 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

☺ 
Year two of the Carbon Reduction Action Plan has been 

approved at Executive Committee in July 2021. This 

contains a number of actions across the year that will 

meet this Council Plan action. The current focus of 

activity is on countywide events in the run up to the 

United Nations summit in November. 

73

https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/
https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/


Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 40 
 

staff, communities and 
partners.  

c) Source and secure 
funding opportunities to 
support the delivery of 
our carbon reduction 
programme.  

Target date: 
March 2022 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management  

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 
After securing over £300,000 to support activities at the 

Council offices, the focus is now on sourcing and 

securing funding to support proposed works at our 

domestic properties and the Roses Theatre. 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 2. Promote a healthy and flourishing environment in the borough. 

a) Establish planning 
policies to ensure the 
delivery of healthy and 
sustainable communities. 

Target date: 

March 2022 
(ongoing as 
action is across a 
number of plans) 

Head of Development 
Services  

Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

 

 

The adopted JCS already contains strategic policies 
around sustainability and health. 

The emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan is proposing 
further detailed policies around environmental quality, 
green infrastructure and biodiversity and sustainable 
transport to help to deliver healthy and sustainable 
communities. The Borough Plan has been submitted for 
examination which finished in March 2021. The council 
are awaiting comments from the inspector on any 
modifications required.    

The JCS review will reconsider existing strategic policies 
around health and sustainability as well as whether any 
additional policy guidance would be appropriate.  

The current timetable for the review of the JCS is 

currently under another review with our JCS partners. 

The JCS review requires a number of technical studies 

and covers a number of complex issues e.g. location of 

employment and housing growth etc, that need to be 

agreed with all three local authorities. This has resulted 

74



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 41 
 

in the Preferred Options Consultation (POC), which was 

due to commence in Summer 2021, being delayed which 

could impact on other timings within the timetable 

including the submission for examination in Summer 

2023. Reviewing the JCS timetable will provide new 

timings to take place but these dates at this stage are 

unknown and will be confirmed in due course. 

 

b) Support community-led 
bio-diversity projects 
across the borough.   

Target date: 

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

 

☺ 

 

The community development team has supported a 

number of biodiversity projects in the community, either 

assisting groups or through funding advice. A list of 

organisations assisted was recently shared through a 

Member Update in July 2021. 

Some of the projects the council has been directly or 

indirectly involved in are as follows:  

• Churchdown Park- community orchard and 

wetlands/ponds 

• Highnam - increasing biodiversity around Oakridge 

and open space 

• We All Matter (WAM) Winchcombe – woodland 

focussing on nature/environment 
• Northway Parish Council – nature trail 
• Deer Park Archers, Shurdington –environmental 

projects including work around badgers 

• Tewkesbury Nature Reserve – community led 
organisation on TBC leased land. 

c) Carry out a review of our 
litter pickers’ scheme.  

Target date: 
September 2021 

 

 

 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 

 

A review has commenced with all current litter pickers 

being contacted to confirm whether they wish to remain 

on our list.  The scheme has seen an increase since the 

start of the pandemic. It is proposed to host an event for 

litter pickers in line with covid measures during 

September 2021. 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

75



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 42 
 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 3. Promote responsible recycling across the borough. 

a) Take a robust approach 
towards fly-tipping and 
other enviro-crimes. 

Target date: 
March 2022 

 

 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 

 
 

Fly-tipping complaints have increased by 3.3% 
compared to the same quarter in 2020/21.  We have 
seen a significant drop since the last quarter in 2021/22 
however, a new recording system for ‘report it’ may have 
had some impact on this.  In this quarter; noise 
complaints have dropped by 20% as have bonfire 
complaints by 66% compared to 2021/22.  

Abandoned vehicle complaints have increased by 44% 
and dog fouling complaints have reduced by 44% 
compared to the same period in 2020/21.  It is likely 
resulting from people working less from home.   

We carried out a joint operation with the police on waste 
carrying vehicles which resulted in five penalty notices.  
More are planned during the coming year. However 
there has been an overall increase in enviro crimes of 
61% when compared to 2019/2020.    

There are a number of active investigations underway 
with two further prosecutions pending and a number of 
fixed penalty notices have been issued for littering and 
fly-tipping.  

The current Public Space Protection Order relating to 
dog fouling expired in June 2021. Consultation is 
underway and it is proposed to issue a further order 
subject to the outcomes of the consultation in September 
2021.  Once this is in place, we propose to work with 
schools to promote the scheme. It is not planned to 
reinstate dog patrols as there is still little capacity to do 
this with covid measures still taking up a lot of time 
however, we propose to task our Community Protection 

76



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 43 
 

Officers with monitoring enviro crimes while in the district 
to engage with the public and provide witness 
statements relating to any offences.     

 

b) Working with 
Gloucestershire Waste 
and Resources 
Partnership to improve 
our recycling figures and 
reduce waste. 

Target date: 
March 2022 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

☺ 
 

 

The Gloucestershire Waste and Resource partnership is 

currently running a “Metal Matter” Campaign to cover all 

the issues regarding recycling of metals e.g. tin foil etc.  

Tewkesbury Borough Council’s communication team are 

and will continue to promote the ‘Gloucestershire 

recycles’ campaigns through social media channels.  

Further information on this campaign can be found on 

the GCC web page: 

https://gloucestershirerecycles.com/reduce/metal-

matters/ 

 

c) Introduce a small Waste 
Electrical and Electronic 
Equipment (WEEE) 
scheme across the 
borough.  

Target date:  

September 2021 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

✓ 

 

A soft launch of this service commenced on 16 August 

2021 with a full launch and advertising campaign 

planned for National Recycling Week in September. 

 

The service means that small waste electrical items e.g. 

kettles, toaster and hairdryers can be placed on a bag 

on residual waste day and they will be collected by the 

crews and recycled. 

 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Objective 4.  Preserve and enhance the natural assets and built heritage of our borough. 

a) Utilise the high street 
heritage action zone 
funding to implement a 
programme of projects 

Target date:  

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services  

☺ 
 

A programme manager has now been appointed on a 
full-time basis to oversee the HSHAZ and progress has 
now been made in preparing for the launch of the shop 
fronts and upper floors schemes and the first traditional 

77

https://gloucestershirerecycles.com/reduce/metal-matters/
https://gloucestershirerecycles.com/reduce/metal-matters/


Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 44 
 

that contribute towards 
regeneration and 
enhancement of the 
town’s historic 
environment.  

Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

skills event, which is aimed at the whole community, is 
planned for September. 

Initial discussions regarding Healings Mill have also 
been held.  

b) Adopt a Shopfront 
Design Guide (SPD) to 
provide guidance on 
shopfronts to ensure they 
contribute to a quality 
urban and historic 
environment.  

 

Target date: 

February 2022 

Head of Development 
Services  

Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

☺ 
 

The Shopfront Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) is to go to Executive in September to obtain 
approval for consultation in the Autumn.  

c) Establish and publish a 
local list of non-
designated heritage 
assets in the borough. 

Target date: 
February 2022  

 

Head of Development 
Services  

Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

☺ 
 

A Heritage Engagement Officer has now been appointed 

and they are putting together a project plan for this 

project. 

   

 

 
Key performance indicators for priority: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

 
KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2020-21 

Target 
2021-

22 

Outturn 
Q1 

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q2 

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q3 

2021-22 

Outturn 
Q4 

2021-22 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

38 

Number of 
reported 
enviro 
crimes 

2,185 

 
1000 432    ↑ 

 

 

 

Enviro crime figures for Q1 
(figures in brackets 
comparable for 2020/21) 

• fly tips- 249 (241)  

• Littering – 3 (5)  

• dog fouling- 5 (9)   

• abandoned vehicles- 49 
(34)  

• noise- 109 (132)   

• Bonfire – 27 (80) 

Lead Member 
Clean and Green 
Environment/Head 
of Community 
Services 

78



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2021-22 Progress Report  

 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2021-22- progress report 45 
 

Flytipping complaints have 
increased by 92% in this 
quarter; Noise complaints 
by 48%, with a slight 
increase in bonfire 
complaints.  Abandoned 
vehicle and dog fouling 
complaints have reduced in 
20/21 by 15.5% and 11.9% 
respectively compared to 
2019/20 however there has 
been an overall increase in 
enviro crime of 61% 
compared to the same 
period in 2020/21.   

39 

Percentage 
of waste 
recycled or 
composted. 

48.73% 52% 62.49%    ↑ 
 

☺ 

Figure for Q1 only shows 
April/ May figures. The 
recycling rate is artificially 
increased in Q1 due to 
seasonality of garden waste 
collections. However TBC 
has recycled 135 tonnes 
more in April / May 2021/22 
than in the same months in 
2020/21.  
  

Lead Member 
Clean and Green 
Environment/Head 
of Community 

Services 

40 

Residual 
household 
waste 
collected 
per 
property in 
kgs. 

460KG 430kg 68kg    ↑ ☺ 

68 Kg per household over 
April and May 2021 as 
June’s data is not yet 
available. In the same 
period for 2020/21 the total 
was 76 kg per hold house. 
Decrease is thought to be 
due to less people working 
from home as restriction lift.  

Lead Member 
Clean and Green 
Environment/Head 
of Community 
Services 

 

79



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 1 

 

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Refocus 

a) Continue to monitor the 
financial impacts of 
Covid-19 and revise the 
Medium-Term financial 
Strategy in light of those 
impacts.  

 

Target date: 
Jan 2022  

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 

Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

☺ Monthly monitoring returns to the MHCLG have 

continued for the first four months of the financial year 

but it is currently unclear how long this will still be 

required for. Internal monitoring covering covid will 

continue as part of the budget monitoring process. 

The ‘production of an MTFS’ action can also be found 
within the Council Plan performance tracker. (Finance 
and resources- objective 1- action b). 

b) Ensure the effective 
recovery of the internal 
audit function.  

Target date:  

March 2022 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Corporate Governance 

☺ 
 

One member of the team has recently transferred back 

from the Business Cell. The audit plan and the suite of 

audit recommendations are currently being reviewed. 

There is additional finance to support the team’s recovery 

and provide backfill. The team’s status has been updated 

to the Audit and Governance Committee.   

Corporate Covid-19 Recovery Plan tracker actions: 

☺ Action progressing well/ on or above target 

 Action has some issues/delay but not significant slippage/ below target but likely to achieve end of year target 

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the timetable, or performance is below target/ 
significantly below target and unlikely to achieve target 

 Project has not yet commenced/ date not available or required to report 

✓ Tracker action is complete or annual target achieved  

80



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 2 

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Recover 

a) In partnership with 
Places Leisure build on 
the early success of the 
Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre recovery plan.    

Target date: 
March 2022  

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 

Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management  

Lead Member for Health 
and Wellbeing 

☺ 

Numbers of customer returning to the leisure centre have 
been above expectations during Q1. The centres 
management have also received good feedback on 
customer experience following the re-opening. The 
numbers returning to the leisure centre indicate that the 
leisure contract could soon return to a cost neutral 
position, although we are still a way off from receiving the 
contract fee. 

 

 

b) Continue to monitor the 
safety of our working 
environment now that 
restrictions have been 
lifted and moving 
forward utilise our office 
space effectively. 

 

 

 

  

Target date: 
March 2022 

 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 

Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

☺ 

Arrangements have been put in place for the safe return 
of staff to the offices and the opening of the offices to 
customers from 19 July 2021. The Civic suite re-opened 
for internal meetings on 1 August. The current 
arrangements will be reviewed in September. 

 

81



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 3 

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Maximise the use of 
business intelligence 
within the council to 
ensure the accuracy of 
the rating list and help 
businesses build 
resilience.  

March 2021 

Target date: 

 March 2022 

(revised target 

date reported 

to O&S June 

2021) 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

☺ 
 

The Business Intelligence Officer post has now been 
recruited to. Reporting direct to the Revenues and 
Benefits Manager a cross service project plan will start to 
be developed so business intelligence is shared by 
relevant services moving forward. 

 

b) Work with businesses 
and residents and seek 
to rebuild council tax 
and business rate 
collection rates.  

March 2021 

Target date: 

March 2022 

(Revised 
target date 
reported to 
O&S June 
2021) 

 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

☺ 

 

 

Formal recovery action for unpaid Council Tax and 
Business Rates commenced in April 2021, and to date 
three liability order hearings have been held remotely, 
with a further court hearing due 27th August 
2021.  Payment arrangements are being made with 
customers where possible. Liability orders have been 
obtained on 1,687 council tax accounts and 123 business 
rates accounts.  

 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

82



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 4 

 

Refocus 

a) Develop a new four-
year Economic 
Development and 
Tourism strategy that 
includes a focus upon 
the economic recovery 
of the borough.  

June 2021 

Target date:  

June 2022 

(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
November 2020) 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 

Promotion 

☺ 

 

The priorities within the strategy will need to reflect the 

changing needs of businesses resulting from Covid-19. 

 

In consultation with the lead member, due to the uncertain 

business climate, it was agreed that a new strategy will be 

developed for 2022, and the current strategy will continue 

until then. An update on the current strategy will be 

provided to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 

October 2021. 

b) Work with our partners 
at Cotswold Tourism to 
promote the borough 
as a safe destination 
to visit.   

Target date: 

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 

 

There are a number of different aspects to the bigger 

‘uncover the cotswolds’ project which was funded through 

the visit england discover fund. Some of the work achieved 

so far includes: 

• Escape to the cotswolds website being created- this 
digital marketing campaign is complete with the 
website helping attractions, event organisers and 
accommodation providers have an online bookable 
presence which has been essential during and post 
covid.  

• Total social media following has now passed the 
150,000 mark. The council have been working with 
cotswold tourism in offering social media support, 
creating blogs, using #hastags training courses and a 
series of training videos have been created alongside 
with some helpful notes to help businesses improve 
their online presence and digital skills which look at 
tourism businesses website. 

• Businesses can now make business listing by directly 
booking online at cotswolds.Com. 

83

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fcotswolds.us8.list-manage.com%2ftrack%2fclick%3fu%3dd81c7614d62430e16432045f7%26id%3d36f2293de4%26e%3dec21f58099&c=E,1,Zvpz2OcFcY6xqv788Cky6-UkQ9CGbUGYC1FTWJr8poZiwfJO9ZZsirLauV4VCo7ugmsQBi6ZwYjOdERFxh20DsEH-K1TQuQ8vnJYpxDwwfcdDrBElm6Ps1ZwoQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fCotswolds.com&c=E,1,v2-47cl48RZSBsMlSC2MJsznmwuENJBzfEoP06PsDSFLyGl8owwQmQ4NltGcjD9EHDBIEOjXQvlaQA-mw4g46tZNbxB4sWcnkCX8F460lNu4wOw0j9o,&typo=1&ancr_add=1


Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 5 

 

• The latest piece of work is to create a digital guide for 
visitors that can be downloaded and gives them 
information on the attractions of the area. The guide 
has also been created as a booklet which is available 
in the bedrooms of accommodation establishments 
who are cotswold tourism members. 

 
This action is also linked to with the Council Plan 

performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 4- 

action a). 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Recover 

a) Continue to support 
businesses through 
the Tewkesbury 
Growth Hub to aid 
their economic 
recovery.  

Target date: 

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 

 

The hub continues to support local businesses with their 
economic recovery. 

13 online webinar workshops and 1-2-1 sessions were 
delivered in quarter 1. Events included support with social 
media, goal setting and branding. 

The team continue to support the work of the Covid Grants 
Team/Business Cell and promote any Government grant 
opportunities available. 

The Growth Hub Network promoted and delivered the 
Government’s Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SME) 
Recovery Grant and Kickstart Tourism Grant.  

84



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 6 

 

A dedicated Survive and Thrive section has been set up on 
the Growth Hub Website – providing Covid-19 support.  

The Growth Hub Network has developed and launched a 
Covid Digital Recovery Grant Scheme, to support digital 
recovery project. Applications are currently being 
processed. 

 Plans, including the appropriate risk assessments, have 
been prepared in line with the phased re-opening of the 
hub. The service will open as a pre-arranged, appointment 
only service initially. 
 
This action is also linked to the Council Plan performance 

tracker (Economic Growth- objective 1- action b). 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Recover 

b) Develop a bid to host a 
Department of Work 
and Pensions Youth 
Hub within the 
Tewkesbury Growth 
Hub.   

Target date: 

September 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 

A draft bid continues to be developed in partnership with 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to offer a youth 
support service hosted within Tewkesbury Growth Hub. 
Providing advice and information for young people, 
particularly focussing on young people impacted by Covid-
19.  

 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

85



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 7 

 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Launch a new 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Business Grants 
scheme. 

Target date: 

January 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

A new business grant scheme will be launched in the new 
year, to avoid any confusion with the existing government 
business support grants that are currently available. 

 

b) Develop and deliver 
the Welcome Back 
Fund action plan.   

Target date: 

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

☺ 

 

A Welcome Back Fund Grant Action Plan for the Borough’s 
retail centres has recently been agreed by Government. 
This will enable new projects to be developed and 
implemented. 

This funding builds on the Reopening High Streets Safely 
Fund announced in May 2020. The Welcome Back Fund 
supports the safe and continued return to high streets and 
will allow the council to put in place additional measures to 
create and promote a safe environment for local trade and 
tourism, as the local economy continues to reopen.  

 

 

 

 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

86



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 8 

 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Refocus 

a) Continue to support 
our communities with 
issues arising from 
Covid-19 

Target date:  

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

☺ 

 

Support continues to be provided to community groups 

through funding advice and governance support. 

In addition, the Holiday Activities Fund has enabled Young 

Gloucestershire to deliver holiday activities and food for 

families in the borough on free school meals. 

b) Assess the additional 
demand on the 
housing service. 

Target date:  

Complete 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Housing 

✓ 

Surveys released to current Housing Register applicants 
showing an improving picture regarding households with 
tenancy difficulties. 
 
This has been supported by steady numbers of housing 
advice & homelessness cases held by the Housing 
Advice Team as opposed to an increase that would reflect 
greater demand. 
 
New Temporary Accommodation (TA) placements  
2020-21 Q1 = 26  Q2 = 21, Q3 = 25, Q4 = 30.   
2021-22 Q1 = 15 
New approaches for homelessness assistance 
2020-21 Q1 = 135, Q2 = 178, Q3 = 146, Q4 = 132. 
2021-2022 Q1 = 111 

  
Both TA placements and new approaches have 
decreased in Q1 2021/22. 
 
The Housing Advice Team will continue to monitor levels 
of cases through the Council Plan Tracker. 

87



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 9 

 

c) Work with landlords 
and tenants to assess 
the potential demand 
now that restrictions 
have been lifted. 

Target date:  

March 2022 

 

 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Housing 

☺ 

A County-wide Covid fund has been set up to assist with 

household with rent arrears that have been affected by 

reduced hours, furlough or redundancy.  The Housing 

Advice Team have contacted our Registered Provider 

partners to inform them of the scheme details. 

Progress has been made in dealing with housing 

deficiencies and a number of mandatory licensed House in 

Multiple Occupation's (HMO’s) have been registered.  This 

reduces the potential demand on rehousing.  

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Work with the 
Integrated Locality 
Partnership to build 
community resilience 
within the borough 

Target date:  

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

☺ 

 

The Integrated Locality Partnership (ILP) have highlighted 
a particular focus on mental health, social isolation, healthy 
lifestyles and employment and skills. Projects are being 
developed in Brockworth and Tewkesbury initially. 

b) Continue to deliver the 
Covid-19 community 
grant scheme.  

Target date:  

March 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

☺ 

 

The Community Grant Scheme continues to be promoted. 

So far 139 groups (totalling £114,079) have been awarded 

funds for initiatives in their community. 

 

88



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 10 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Deliver a series of 
online training 
seminars to support 
the Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
(VCS).  

Target date: 
 
March 2022 
 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

☺ 

 

Online sessions are being provided for community 

groups. These have included crowd funding seminars in 

the first quarter. 15 groups attended an online training 

seminar with Inform Gloucestershire in May.  

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date 
Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Refocus 

a) Review the 
effectiveness and 
efficiency of the 
Environmental Health 
Service, including an 
assessment of 
additional demand and 
available resources. 

 

Target date: 
December 
2020 April 
2021 
Target date:  
September 
2021 
(target date 
reported to 
O&S 
Committee 
in March 
2021) 

 

Head of Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

Deferred 

 

Demand on the service remained high particularly relating 
to the hosting of events in a covid secure manner.  
Business as usual has also remained high.  The 
effectiveness review remains on hold due to the level of 
Covid-19 response still needed.  Once we have seen cases 
further stabilise this can be revisited.  

 

89



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 11 

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line 
Progress to 
date 

Comment   

Recover 

a) Continue to monitor 
the safety of our 
buildings now that 
restrictions have been 
lifted.  

Target date: March 
2022 

 

Head of Services 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management.  

☺ 

 

The government lifted restriction on the 19 July.  

 

• Following a risk assessment the council offices 

opened to the public for appointments only. This is 

under continual review by the property team.  

 

• Tewkesbury Tourist Information Centre reopened in 

April 2021 in line with government guidelines at the 

time. Winchcombe Tourist Information Centre remains 

closed whilst discussions are being finalised regarding 

lease for moving back to the refurbished Winchcombe 

Heritage Centre, rather than its temporary location. 

 

• The four Area Information Centre’s (AIC’s) in the 

borough (Bishops Cleeve, Brockworth, Churchdown 

and Winchcombe) - reopened as of 19 July 2021.  

 

Rebuild 

a) Review the future of 
the Covid-19 microsite.  

Target date: April 
2022 

 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 

 

This will be reviewed over the coming months as to 
whether the site needs to be retained. It will form part of 
the corporate website project.  

90



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 12 

 

b) Deliver the council tax 
and business rates e-
billing project. 

February 2021 

 May 2021 

July 2021 

New target date: 

November 2021 

(revised target date 
reported to O&S 
Committee 
September 2021) 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management  

 

There have been delays to this project due to the 

workload in the revenues and benefits team.  

The aim is for the council tax paperless billing portal to be 

live in November - this is reliant on the revenues and 

benefits team being able to make changes to their 

Northgate system. The project team is currently waiting 

for confirmation on this.  

 

 

c) Continue to review the 
operational 
effectiveness of our 
return to the office and 
the opportunities 
provided through agile 
working. 

Target date: March 
2022 

Head of Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Organisational 
Development 

☺ 

In line with the government’s roadmap we successfully re-

opened the offices on 19 July. Limited numbers of staff 

have returned but sufficient to support customer contact. 

Appointments have been encouraged. Footfall has been 

small in numbers, mainly to see our partners e.g. DWP 

and the Police. The offices were risk assessed prior to 

opening.  

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line 
Progress 
to date Comment   

Refocus 

91



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 13 

 

a) Explore opportunities 
to enhance new digital 
jobs and training with 
the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and 
partners at Cyber 
Central. 

New target date: 
March 2022  

 

 

Director of Garden 
Communities 

Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

☺ 

 

Continue to work with LEP and Cheltenham Borough 
Council as the Cyber Central project develops. Current 
activity includes the formation of a Cyber Leadership 
Board and a Cyber Festival, planned for the future, both 
to be led by the LEP currently.  
 
 

Recover 

a) Actively seek capital 
funding with our 
partners to support the 
programme. 

Target date: March 
2022 

Director of Garden 
Communities 

Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

☺ 

Discussions continue on many aspects of the programme 
to identify potential external funding opportunities/income 
streams, including direct grant aid, land purchase options, 
utility services provision, as well as private 
equity/investment avenues.  

 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line 
Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

92



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 14 

 

a) Work with partners to 
maximise sustainable 
development and low 
carbon technologies 
as part of the Garden 
Communities 
programme. 

Target date: March 
2022   

 

Director of Garden 
Communities 

Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

☺ 

To meet the principles of the garden community 

developments sustainability is a core requirement. West 

Cheltenham Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is 

in place and work continues to progress the evolution of 

the Tewkesbury Garden Town masterplan to better define 

the principles of development and how key features of 

sustainability and low carbon can be fully integrated and 

actively promoted, from the outset. As a result, the 

Garden Town Team are in the process of contracting a 

consultant to help support this work.  

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  

Comment   

Refocus 

a) Harness the benefits 
of changes to working 
practices in order to 
ensure our reduced 
carbon footprint 
continues.  

Target date: March 
2022 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

 Lead member for 

Clean and Green 

Environment 

☺ 2020/21 saw a significant reduction in emissions from 

council activities due to reduced business mileage and 

reduced electricity demand. The carbon reduction action 

plan and the council’s approach to agile working will 

support the reduction in demand whilst projects such as 

the solar car parking canopy, the heating replacement 

system and the electrification of the pool car fleet will 

meet demand in a greener way. 

b) Work with partners to 
promote climate change 
and carbon reduction 
awareness and activities 
across our communities 
and businesses in the 
run up to the United 

Target date: 
November 2021 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

Lead member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

☺ 
 

Discussions continue with neighbouring authorities and 

the countywide coordinator as to the events that will be 

put on and supported by the councils in Gloucestershire. 

The current focus of activity is for a scheduled stop of the 

Zero Carbon Bus currently touring the country promoting 

carbon reduction in businesses.  

93



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 15 

 

Nations Climate Change 
Conference in November 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Increase awareness in 
the effects of recycling 
contamination. 

 

Target date: July 2021 Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

✓ 

 

We have seen a significant reduction in the number of 

loads rejected by our MRF contractor and contamination 

levels are considerable down.  We will continue to 

encourage our communities to increase recycling and 

reduce contamination as part of normal business as 

usual. 

b) Work with our 
communities to 
minimise waste to 
reduce the impact on 
our environment. 

Target date: October 

2021 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

✓ 

 

The work that we do with the Gloucestershire Waste & 
Resources partnership is aimed at reducing waste and 
increasing recycling.  We are not now seeing the high 
levels of waste generated that we saw at the height of the 
pandemic or though the various lockdowns and levels 
have returned to normal meaning this have returned to 
business as usual. 

c) Agree funding for and 
appoint a new Carbon 
Reduction officer to 
support the council’s 
climate emergency 
declaration and the 

Target date: July 2021 

New revised date: 
September 2021 

(new target date 
reported to O&S 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

Lead member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 

Agreed by Executive Committee in July to recommend to 

Council but July’s Council meeting was cancelled. The 

item will appear on September’s agenda. 

94



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2021-2022  

 16 

 

delivery of its action 
plans.  

Committee on 7 
September 2021) 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date 
Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  

Comment   

Rebuild  

a) Commence planning 
and scoping study for 
implications of, and 
opportunities for, 
borough wide 
decarbonisation.  

Target date: July 2022 Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

Lead member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
Study not scheduled to commence until Autumn 2021. 

b) Promote a healthier 
lifestyle through 
working with Active 
Gloucestershire 
through the ‘we can 
move’ programme.   

Target date: 

March 2022 

 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

☺ 
 

In March 2021 Executive Committee agreed a package 
of funding of £10,000 per year for the next five years 
(until 2025/26) to support the Active Gloucestershire ‘We 
Can Move’ project. 
A partnership agreement is in the process of being 
signed. Active Gloucestershire will be running a session 
for Members to outline ‘We Can Move’. 
As part of monitoring of the funding, Active 
Gloucestershire will report on an annual basis to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the progress of the 
‘We Can Move’ project. This will commence once the 
project is up and running.   

 

95



Appendix 3 - Quarter 1 budget report 
Chief Executive Full Year 

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 262,751 239,099 23,652 1
Premises 0 0 0
Transport 0 0 0
Supplies & Services 8,160 8,160 0
Payments to Third Parties 0 0 0
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 0
Income 0 0 0
TOTAL 270,911 247,259 23,652

Community Services Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 1,318,594 1,321,418 (2,824)
Premises 0 0 0
Transport 900 900 0
Supplies & Services 132,479 132,887 (408)
Payments to Third Parties 5,540,704 5,624,080 (83,376) 2
COVID-19 Costs 0 75,899 (75,899) 3
Ringfenced Projects and Funding 0 0 0
Income (2,318,096) (2,357,007) 38,911 4
TOTAL 4,674,581 4,798,177 (123,596)

Corporate Services Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 2,185,920 2,139,269 46,651 5
Transport 0 0 0
Supplies & Services 603,481 644,742 (41,261) 5
Payments to Third Parties 172,800 172,994 (194)
Transfer Payments - Benefits Service 13,544,132 13,544,132 0
COVID-19 Costs 0 162,473 (162,473) 6
Income (14,032,426) (14,090,848) 58,422 7
TOTAL 2,473,907 2,572,761 (98,854)

Democratic Services Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 278,230 253,856 24,374 8
Transport 9,600 10,281 (681)
Supplies & Services 452,785 464,687 (11,902) 9
Payments to Third Parties 37,100 39,836 (2,736)
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 0
Income (3,000) (7,354) 4,354
TOTAL 774,715 761,306 13,409

7) The Covid-19 income this relates to additional government funding for Revenues and Benefits related schemes.

1) The saving on Employee costs is as a result of the Chief Executive no longer paying into the pension scheme. 

2) The adverse variance of £83k is due to the following:
Ubico have informed us that due to the driver shortage, from September they will need to increase the drivers hourly rate by a market 
supplement, this equates to £58k this financial year. The net position of the other aspects of the contract sum is forecast to be on target.
£35k to be spent on Domestic Homicide which is offset against the £35k grant we have recieved, which is included in income below.
We have seen a reduction in the MRF gate fee in Q1 which we expect for the foreseable, this is due to transferring the MRF gate contract 
to the new provider. There has been a reduction in waste rejection, which inturn has reduced costs by £40k. We also recieved a £20k 
credit note from Suez relating to 20/21, which was unforseen.

6) The Covid-19 costs mainly relate to the backfill of staff within the Revenues and Benefits team as members of this team remain 
deployed within the Business Cell. This cost is offset by a new burdens funding received from the Government to administer business 
grants

3) Breakdown of COVID expenditure:
Ubico costs for extra PPE, staffing, sick pay, cleaning materials etc..expected to be £50k by the end of the financial year 
£20k - Environmental Health Manager's resource on COVID related matters.

5) The employees underspend and supplies and services overspend are mainly attributed to the financing of the new digital platform. This 
is funded from the Business Administration post which has not been refilled. 

4) Domestic Homicide grant of £35k not within base budget
Received £24k more trade waste income than budgeted
Reduced income expected of £15k from recovering homeless costs

96



Deputy Chief Executive Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 125,845 0 125,845 10
Transport 200 0 200
Supplies & Services 2,400 0 2,400
Payments to Third Parties 0 150 (150)
TOTAL 128,445 150 128,295

Development Services Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 2,027,431 1,994,898 32,533 11
Premises 43,320 43,135 185
Transport 0 309.75 (310)
Supplies & Services 204,885 184,893 19,992 12
Payments to Third Parties 333,795 304,732 29,063 13
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 0
Income (1,391,122) (1,331,876) (59,246) 14
TOTAL 1,218,309 1,196,092 22,217

Finance and Asset Management Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 2,408,348 2,419,610 (11,262) 15
Premises 547,091 549,360 (2,269)
Transport 35,870 34,857 1,013
Supplies & Services 563,688 547,185 16,503 16
Payments to Third Parties 399,511 416,451 (16,940) 17
Drainage Board Levy 6,500 7,172 (672)
COVID-19 Costs 0 176,722 (176,722) 18
Income (1,410,435) (1,048,342) (362,093) 19
TOTAL 2,550,573 3,103,014 (552,441)

One Legal Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 2,276,597 2,129,377 147,220 20
Transport 8,700 3,270 5,430
Supplies & Services 115,313 106,383 8,930
Payments to Third Parties 34,220 34,220 0
Central Recharges 29,929 29,929 0
Income (2,221,101) (1,828,163) (392,938) 21
TOTAL 243,658 475,016 (231,358)

18) Reduced estimate of £150k to support the leisure centre which we hope will reduce further in Q2. £27k attributed to additional staffing 
as some staff are still deployed fully to the COVID-19 repsonse. 

12) Tourist Information Centres have been closed during the summer months. Historically, this is one of the busiest periods for sales. 
Therefore, it’s unlikely that additional stock will need to purchased for resale during the year. Also, the Growth Hub is more likely to offer 
online events at little or no costs and so this will be result in a small saving when compared to hosting live events. 
13) The Tourist Information centres would usually purchase tickets for resale. Due to COVID, large events have still not gone ahead, so 
the tickets have not been purchased. However, this does also give a negative variance on the income budget. A further saving is being 
made on land searches being recharged to us from Gloucestershire County Council. 

16) PDQ charges expected to make saving of £18K 

14) Planning income is strong in Q1 and we expect to be at least on target by year end. A £250k application was received from the MOD 
in Q1. However, pre-app income is down on budget in Q1. This is difficult to predict but we’ve assumed the trend will continue to be 
prudent, resulting in an overall estimated shortfall of £20k. There is also a high court decision due on speculative development sites. The 
Tourist Information Centres will have a likely shortfall of £37k against budget, due to closure in their busiest period. 

8) Favourable variance is due to the following:
£43k saving due to the vacancy of Electoral Registration Officer post, not expecting to recruit this year.
£11k of overtime not included in budget

11) The employee variance relates mostly to planning policy, where a senior policy post has been vacant. The post is now appointed to 
and will be filled from August. The total saving for 4 months is £10k. Moreover, the policy manager is contracted to work 7 hours less a 
week than budgeted for. This will result in a saving of £9k. A temporary senior planning officer has recently been recruited to the team to 
support the work of the team. The remaining salary savings within Development is the Tourism post.  The post is expected to be 
appointed to over the next few months. The total saving in year would be £8k. 

9) Equipment purchased for the Police Crime Commissioner Elections

10) The vacant deputy chief executive post will not to be filled as per the Council report in June.

17) Increased costs relating to cemetries, but this is in line with additional income. 

15) COVID-19 support from central Government is funding an additional post in the Assets team. 

19) Car Park Income expected to be reduced by approximately £153k.The Council Offices has vacant office space costing £62k of lost 
income subject to new tenants being found. £160k of income from the Leisue Centre will not be paid as they have an income deficit. 
There is an expected increase of  £50k in cemetary income.

97



Borough Solicitor Full Year 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£ £ £
Employees 125,455 134,137 (8,682)
Supplies & Services 15 9 6
Income (43,651) (21,826) (21,826) 22
TOTAL 81,819 112,320 (30,501)

22) Loss of contribution from Cheltenham Brough Council for monitoring Offcer services after 1st October 2021

21) Actual income for Q1 is below the budgeted figures and the income projected for the remainder of the year is based on those figures 
and historical data from the previous 2 financial years. 
It is too soon to predict the effects of the Cadence Innova review and the impact of the implemented staffing changes on the One Legal 
income. These estimates will be regularly reviewed as we continue to closely monitor the One Legal budget.

20) A number of vacant post in One Legal contributing to the surplus. This is offset by an estimatd cost of £80,000 for the new Director of 
One Legal post, which Tewkesbury have agreed to finance until year end as per the Council report in June.

98



Appendix 4 - Analysis of capital budget 2021/22

Q1 Budget 
Position

£

Q1 Actual 
Position

£

(Over) / Under 
spend

£ 

% Slippage Comments

Council Land & Buildings 0 0 0 0 No expenditure expected in Q1

Vehicles 131,658 34,428 97,230 0 Additional food waste vehicle expected within this year

Equipment 30,000 5,000 25,000 83 More expenditure expected in Q2

Capital Investment Fund 0 0 0 0 No budget in 2021/22

Community Grants 0 0 0 0 No expenditure expected in Q1

Housing & Business Grants 125,000 168,997 (43,997) (35) More Disabled Facilities Grants paid out in the first quarter than 
expected. 

286,658 208,425 78,233 2799



Appendix 5 - Revenue reserves for 2021/22

Balance Spent in Reserve Reserve Note

Reserve 31st March 2021 Q1 Remaining

Service Reserves

Asset Management Reserve 1,322,371            8,269                       1,314,103            

Borough Growth Reserve 628,291               628,291               

Borough Regeneration Reserve 81,659                 81,659                 

Business Rates Reserve 500,000               500,000               

Business Support Reserve 1,004,328            2,496                       1,001,832            

Business Transformation Reserve 999,111               105,017                   894,094               3

Climate Change Reserve 404,200               18,308                     385,892               

Community Support Reserve 883,575               91,726                     791,849               4

Council Tax Reserve 251,391               251,391               1

Development Management Reserve 485,150               32,000-                     517,150               2

Development Policy Reserve 910,867               1,000-                       911,867               2

Elections Reserve 190,848               190,848               

Flood Support and Protection Reserve 9,646                   9,646                   

Garden Communites Reserve 1,202,358            50,234                     1,152,124            6

Health & Leisure development reserve 100,543               100,543               

Housing & Homeless Reserve 542,799               24,134                     518,665               

Insurance Reserve 60,000                 60,000                 

Investment Reserve 350,000               350,000               

IT Reserve 231,403               8,247                       223,157               

MTFS Equalisation Reserve 2,781,207            2,781,207            

Open Space & watercourse Reserve 737,574               12-                            737,585               2

Organisational Development Reserve 103,590               110                          103,480               

Risk Management Reserve 260,000               260,000               

Waste & Recycling development Reserve 2,152,808            12,308                     2,140,500            5

16,193,719          287,837                   15,905,882          

Notes

1 Council Tax reserve realtes to residual hardship monies and compensation of losses. Both are central Government support for COVID. 
2 Negative amounts relate to accruals from 19/20 still awaiting invoices. 
3

4 Predominantly Covid compliance but also includes Tewkesbury 2021 grant
5 Installation of WEEE cages on recycling vehicles
6 Salary costs of Garden Town team

Expenditure against a combination of specific resevers including the One legal service review, the Digitisation team and the appointment of a businesss rates 
intelligence officer

100



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 6 October 2021

Subject: Home Office Consultation – Extending the Police and Crime 
Commissioners Power of Competence

Report of: Head of Community Services

Corporate Lead Chief Executive

Lead Member: Leader of the Council

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
The role of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) is to be the voice of the people and hold 
the police to account.  They are responsible for the totality of policing.  PCCs aim to cut crime 
and deliver an effective and efficient police service within their police force area.  They are 
elected by the public to hold Chief Constables and the force to account, making the police 
answerable to the communities they serve.
The Government has made a manifesto commitment to strengthening the accountability of 
PCCs and expand their role.  They are currently consulting on what powers the PCC should 
hold to allow them to expand their role.
The PCC has limited powers which are restricted to their policing remit.  The Home Office is 
consulting on whether these powers should be expanded in order to allow the PCC to take a 
more active role in areas such as crime prevention and youth diversion.  Currently the PCCs 
ability to undertake these upstream activities is vague and could possibly be challenged.
The report sets out the proposals that the Home Office is consulting on, which are:

 Maintain the status quo and not to expand the PCCs powers;

 Give the PCC an additional power of functional power of confidence, meaning that the 
PCC could expand their remit but this would still have to be linked back to policing 
duties; or

 Remove all restrictions on the PCC for their activities and give them a general power of 
competence similar to that enjoyed by local authorities.

Recommendation:
The Committee is requested to AGREE:

a) that delegated power of authority should be given to the Head of Community 
Services, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to respond to the 
consultation; and

b) that the response should indicate that the PCCs powers should not be extended 
any further than the functional power of competence.

101

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for Recommendation:
The PCC should be able to go about their role without the threat of challenge due to 
undertaking activities related to policing but not currently formally part of their role.  Extending 
the PCC powers would allow them to be involved in activities such as crime prevention and 
youth diversion etc which is aimed at reducing crime.  Therefore, extending the PCC powers to 
a functional power of competence would allow this but should be the limit of their powers.

Resource Implications:
None arising directly from this report.

Legal Implications:
 None arising directly from this report.

Risk Management Implications:
None arising directly from this report.

Performance Management Follow-up:
None arising directly from this report.

Environmental Implications: 
None arising directly from this report.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 The Policing Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 established the role of Police 
and Crime Commissioners (PCC) in England and Wales.  The role of the PCC was to 
replace and reform the existing police authorities and Gloucestershire’s PCC first took 
office in November 2012.

1.2 The PCC holds the “police fund” from which all policing in the County is financed and 
must also produce a police and crime plan which sets out his or her objectives for 
policing including what resources will be provided to the Chief Constable.  Both the PCC 
and the Chief Constable must have regard to the police and crime plan in exercising their 
duties.

1.3 The Home Office are consulting on extending the powers of locally elected PCCs.  

2.0 ROLE AND CURRENT POWERS OF THE PCC

2.1 The role of the PCC is to be the voice of the people and hold the police to account. They 
are responsible for the totality of policing.  PCCs aim to cut crime and deliver an effective 
and efficient police service within their police force area. They are elected by the public to 
hold Chief Constables and the force to account, making the police answerable to the 
communities they serve.

102



2.2 The PCCs powers are limited and the principal powers are:

 the power to appoint, re-appoint and dismiss the Chief Constable;

 the power to set the force’s budget; and

 the power to establish local priorities for the force through the police and crime 
plan.

The PCC may also enter into contracts and other agreements acquiring and disposing of 
property (including land) and borrowing money and they may also charge for special 
police services such as the policing of football matches or concerts.

2.3 The government has made a manifesto commitment to strengthening the accountability 
of PCCs and expanding their role.  It is currently consulting on what powers the PCC 
should hold to allow them to expand their role.

2.4 Currently the PCC has a functional power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, 
or is conducive or incidental to, the exercise of their functions.

2.5 It could be argued that as the PCC only has powers relating directly to policing any other 
activity, such as youth diversion activities, carried out by the PCC could be deemed to be 
ultra vires.

3.0 LOCAL AUTHORITY AND FIRE SERVICES POWERS OF COMPETENCE

3.1 The General Power of Competence (GPC) was introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and 
took effect in February 2012.  In simple terms, it gives Councils the power to do anything 
an individual can do provided it is not prohibited by other legislation.  It applies to all 
principal Councils (District, County and Unitary Councils etc).  It replaces the wellbeing 
powers in England that were provided under the Local Government Act 2000.

3.2 The GPC for local authorities has given Councils the ability to do things that they would 
previously have not considered such as taking part in local authority mortgage schemes 
or adopting a living wage policy for their geographical area without the fear that they 
were behaving ultra vires.  There are very few boundaries associated with a GPC for 
local authorities.

3.3 Fire and Rescue Services (FRS) also have a wide-ranging functional power of 
competence (FPC) which allows them to do anything it considers appropriate for the 
purposes of carrying out any of its functions, as well as anything incidental or ‘indirectly 
incidental’ to those functions.  This has allowed some FRSs to broaden their roles in the 
community and take on additional duties for example entering into agreements with their 
local ambulance service to provide support in times of high demand.  The FPC allows 
greater freedom for the fire service but has more boundaries than the GPC that local 
authorities enjoy.

3.4 The Home Office consultation is seeking views on whether the PCCs powers should 
remain the same, should they have a wider FPC similar to the FRS, or whether they 
should have a GPC similar to that of local authorities.

4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 The options that the PCC’s business case explores are summarised below. 

4.2 No change / status quo: Respond to the Home Office Consultation to keep the PCCs 
powers are they are at the moment.

103



4.3 Wider functional power of competence: Respond that the Council supports giving the 
PCC wider powers similar to those held by the FRS.

4.4 General power of competence: Respond that the PCC should be given far wider 
powers similar to the general powers that are currently held by local authorities.

5.0 PROS AND CONS OF THE PROPOSALS

5.1 Keeping the PCCs powers as they are currently could hinder the PCC in reducing crime 
in the county and any activity not directly linked to policing in the locality would be open 
to challenge.

5.2 Extending the PCCs powers to include a wider functional power of competence would 
mean that the PCC could freely undertake activity that is not directly linked to their 
current policing role even if the proposed action is a number of steps removed from their 
core functions, they can still act as long as the action can ultimately be traced back 
sufficiently to their functions.  So, it would remove the current ambiguity that exists 
around the PCC undertaking activity to get upstream of crime in the county such as youth 
diversion or other crime reduction matters.  There is however a risk that the PCC may get 
distracted from their core business of policing.

5.3 Giving the PCC general powers of competency would remove most restrictions on the 
PCCs activities as the general power of competence goes further than a functional power 
of competence in removing the need for a link between statutory functions and the 
exercise of powers.  The risk of distraction is greater than for a functional power of 
competence as the PCCs remit could be significantly expanded away from the policing 
role.  This could also lead to confusion as to which authority is the relevant authority to 
undertake certain activities particularly where they are not statutory functions.

6.0 CONSULTATION 

6.1 None.

7.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

7.1 None.

8.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

8.1 None.

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

9.1 None.

10.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

10.1 None.

104



11.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

11.1 Considered in the body of the report.

12.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

12.1 None arising directly from this report

Background Papers: None.
Contact Officer: Head of Community Services.

01684 272259
Email: Peter.tonge@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Appendices: 1 – Consultation document. 

105

mailto:Peter.tonge@tewkesbury.gov.uk


1 

 

 
 

 

 

Giving Police and Crime 
Commissioners greater powers of 
competence 
 

 

Government Consultation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This consultation begins on 1 September 2021 

This consultation ends on 27 October 2021 

106



2 

 

Introduction 
 
The Government’s manifesto committed to strengthening the accountability of 
Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) and expanding their role. PCCs were 
introduced in 2012 to give the public a direct say over policing in their area. It is 
important that PCCs are strong, visible leaders in the fight against crime and have 
the legitimacy and tools to effectively hold their police force to account. 
 
In July 2020, we announced a two-part review into the role of Police and Crime 
Commissioners. During Part One of the Review we collated views and evidence 
from stakeholders across policing, fire and local government as well as voluntary 
and community organisations. We heard from PCCs and their Chief Executives 
that they need greater powers of competence to help them get upstream of crime 
issues and form partnerships with local authorities, criminal justice agencies and 
health bodies to reduce crime as well as to drive efficiency and make better use of 
police estate. 
 
PCCs currently have a functional power of competence which enables them to do 
anything to facilitate or which is conducive or incidental to the exercise of their 
functions1. However, we have heard that PCCs feel constrained because the 
existing powers limit their ability to undertake innovative activity; particularly where 
that activity might only be indirectly linked to policing. 
 
In concluding Part One of the Review, the Home Secretary announced in March 
2021 that we will consult on giving a general power of competence to PCCs. We 
intend to use this consultation to seek views on the benefits and risks of giving 
PCCs (including Mayors with PCC functions) greater powers of competence to 
improve the levers they have to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour and give 
them greater flexibility to drive efficiency. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 Paragraph 14, Schedule 1 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

107



3 

 

Approach 

 
This is a targeted consultation that will run for 8 weeks from 1 September 2021 to 
27 October 2021. We will specifically invite views from the following organisations, 
although welcome views from any other individuals or bodies: 
 

• PCCs (including PFCCs and Mayoral PCCs) 

• Chief Constables 

• Fire and rescue authorities 

• Principal local councils in England and Wales 

• Association of Police and Crime Commissioners 

• National Police Chiefs’ Council  

• National Fire Chiefs’ Council  

• Local Government Association 

• Welsh Local Government Association 
• Independent Office of Police Conduct 
• Association of Police and Crime Commissioner Chief Executives  

• Police and Crime Commissioner Treasurers’ Society  

• Mayoral Combined Authorities and Greater London Authority 

• Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

• Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services  
• College of Policing 
• Chief Police Officers' Staff Association  
• Police Federation 
• Police Superintendents Association 
• Police Staff Council 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

108



4 

 

Legislative Background and Existing Powers 
 

Existing PCC Powers 
 
PCCs must act within their statutory powers. These powers are set out in the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act (PRSRA) 2011 and are principally; 
the power to appoint, re-appoint and dismiss the chief constable; the power to set 
the force’s budget; and the power to establish local priorities for the force through 
the police and crime plan. PCCs also have the functional power to do anything 
which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the exercise of 
their functions. That includes entering into contracts and other agreements 
(whether legally binding or not), acquiring and disposing of property (including 
land) and borrowing money.   
 
A PCC’s ability to charge for services is also determined by statutory provisions. 
Section 25 of the Police Act 1996 gives chief officers a power to charge for special 
police services (such as concerts and football matches) and section 15 of the 
PRSRA 2011 provides PCCs a power to charge for the supply of goods and 
services by referring to the power Local Authorities have in section 1 of the Local 
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970.  
 
The powers of PCCs are limited to these purposes. If a PCC did anything that 
they did not have the specific power to do, this would be deemed to be ultra vires 
– or acting beyond one’s legal power, which could be subject to legal challenge. In 
using their functional power, PCCs therefore have to judge what “facilitates” or is 
“conducive” or “incidental” to the exercise of their functions. 
 

General power of competence held by local authorities 
 
Historically, local authorities were also constrained by the specific statutory 
powers granted to them in legislation, but in 2011, a general power of competence 
(GPC) was provided to local authorities through section 1 of the Localism Act 
2011. This gives local authorities the legal capacity to do anything that an 
individual can do that is not specifically prohibited by law. This puts beyond doubt 
a local authority’s ability to undertake activity and was introduced to encourage 
innovation as well as facilitate efficiency and best value.  
 
The general power of competence afforded to local authorities has some 
limitations such as it cannot be used to raise taxes or precept, nor does it expand 
authorities’ powers to make byelaws. It also cannot be used to do things like 
change the political structure of an authority. The Secretary of State also has 
broad powers to restrict (subject to consultation) what local authorities can do 
under the general power or to provide conditions under which the power can be 
used. Usual public law constraints (rationality, relevant considerations, procedural 
fairness, disregard of irrelevant considerations) would also be applied by the 
courts to the exercise of the power of general competence were they to be 
challenged. 
 

109



5 

 

Under the general power of competence, local authorities are able to charge for 
discretionary services where a person has agreed to them being provided, but 
only on a cost recovery basis and only when they are not under a statutory duty to 
provide them. Local authorities are also able to undertake commercial activities, 
but this must be done through a trading company so that the authority does not 
have a tax advantage over other businesses. Charging beyond cost recovery is 
also deemed to be trading and must be done through a company. Authorities 
cannot trade in services that they already have a statutory duty to provide; for 
example, collecting household rubbish. 
 

The general power of competence applies to the 333 local authorities in England 
(including county councils, unitary authorities, district councils and London 
borough councils) and also applies to parish councils where that council has 
resolved that it meets the relevant conditions (including a minimum number of 
elected members). When the provisions of the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 come into effect in November 2021, a general power of 
competence will also be conferred on Welsh local authorities, which largely 
replicates the general power granted to English local authorities.  
 

Functional Power of Competence held by fire and rescue authorities 
 
Where a fire and rescue authority (FRA) is embedded in a county council in 
England (a “county FRA”), the council holds the general power of competence in 
respect of their fire functions as it falls within the definition of a local authority 
under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011. The Localism Act 2011 also inserted 
section 5A into the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 to give relevant FRAs2 in 
England and Wales wider functional powers that are broader than the power 
currently held by PCCs, although not as wide as the general power of 
competence provided to local authorities under the Localism Act.  
 
Under the power provided by section 5A of the Fire and Rescue Services Act, a 
relevant FRA is able to do anything it considers appropriate for the purposes of 
carrying out any of its functions, as well as anything incidental or ‘indirectly 
incidental’ to those functions. The section 5A power of competence also enables 
an FRA to do anything it considers to be connected with any of its functions or 
connected to activity that is incidental to its functions. Fire and rescue authorities 
can also act for a commercial purpose under the section 5A powers, although 
section 5B of the 2004 Act provides that any commercial activity must be done 
through a trading company and FRAs cannot act commercially in respect of 
functions they have a statutory duty to provide. All FRAs can also charge for 
services, and have a separate power set out in section 18A of the Fire and 
Rescue Services Act 2004 (also inserted by the Localism Act 2011). This ability to 
charge is subject to limitations in section 18B which includes not being able to 
charge for extinguishing fires, except at sea. Charges must also not exceed the 
cost to the authority of taking the action. 

 
2 “relevant fire and rescue authorities” are defined in section 5A(3) of the Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004. This includes metropolitan county fire and rescue authorities, combined fire 
and rescue authorities, police fire and crime commissioners (in respect of their fire functions), the 
London Fire Commissioner and the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority 

110



6 

 

Where a Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) is created in England 
under section 4A of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, they fall within the 
definition of a relevant FRA and have the general power under section 5A FRA in 
relation to their fire functions but not in respect of their PCC functions. There are 
currently four PFCCs with this responsibility. The Government will shortly consult 
on further proposals to mandate the transfer of fire governance to other PCCs 
across England. Fire and rescue services in Wales are a devolved matter for 
which the Welsh Government is responsible.  
 

Powers of Mayors of Combined Authorities 
 

The Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016 (the 2016 Act), amends 
the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (the 
2009 Act) to provide for the establishment of mayoral combined authorities as well 
as providing these authorities with extra powers.  Section 113D of  the 2009 Act  
provides  that the general power of competence can  be given to combined 
authorities, including mayoral combined authorities (MCA), and section 
107D(8)(b) of the 2009 Act further provides for the general power of competence 
to be exercised by the mayor for that authority as well as the combined authority 
itself. The mayors of the West of England and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
mayoral combined authorities are currently the only two mayors that have been 
conferred the power to use the general power of competence. The mayor of a 
combined authority can only be conferred this power with the consent of the 
combined authority and its constituent authorities, as well as that of the mayor.  
 
Other combined authority mayors (including those who exercise PCC functions in 
Greater Manchester and West Yorkshire) hold a wide functional power of 
competence that is equivalent to the power held by standalone fire and rescue 
authorities. This is set out in section 113A of the 2009 Act. Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) also retains a wellbeing power under section 2(1) of 
the Local Government Act 2000, which permits local authorities to do anything 
they consider likely to promote or improve the economic, social and environmental 
well-being of their area. This was specifically preserved in relation to the GMCA 
by virtue of a saving provision in article 8(3) of the Localism Act 2011 
(Commencement No 5 and Transitional, Savings and Transitory Provisions) Order 
2012. The Greater London Authority also holds a functional power under section 
30 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (the 1999 Act) to do anything which 
will further any one or more of its principal purposes, which is exercisable by the 
mayor acting on behalf of the Authority.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

111



7 

 

The Government’s proposed changes 
 
In order to ensure PCCs have more of the tools and levers they need to prevent 
and tackle crime, the Government intends to provide PCCs with greater powers of 
competence. 
 
As it currently stands, the narrow functional powers which PCCs hold mean that 
they can do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental 
to, the exercise of their functions. However, this means that they have to judge 
what facilitates, or is conducive or incidental to the exercise of their functions. This 
can create some doubt about their ability to act to prevent crime, particularly 
where those actions might be upstream of immediate police activity. Whilst PCCs 
can charge for certain police services (such as specialist police services like 
policing a concert or a football match), they also lack flexibility in their ability to act 
commercially by charging for discretionary services and cannot trade for profit. 
Regardless of which power of competence might be granted, if any, it would be 
drafted to retain the existing position that a PCC cannot charge for operational 
policing. Giving PCCs greater powers of competence would give them the 
confidence to act where there may be doubt. A wider power would also encourage 
greater ambition, innovation and creativity in their approaches to tackling crime 
and public safety issues. 
 
The key areas where PCCs have identified wider powers of competence would 
support their objectives include; 
 

• Putting beyond doubt their ability to tackle crime and antisocial 

behaviour – allowing PCCs to invest in activity that benefits the community 

and gets upstream of crime e.g. services to reduce offending, tackling mental 

health, youth diversion schemes.  

• Collaborative working – the ability to take part in initiatives which are not 

current statutory responsibilities, for example with other emergency services or 

criminal justice partners; the opportunity to be a partner in local authority-

private sector commercial arrangements. 

• Property regeneration and development – the ability to borrow to invest in 

regeneration of existing land and property; generating long-term revenue 

streams (rather than one-off capital receipts).  

• Commercial ventures and initiatives – the ability to develop innovative 

commercial opportunities, which yield additional revenue. 

Through this consultation, we are interested in views on the benefits, opportunities 
and risks of granting PCCs either: 
 

(i) a wider functional power of competence as held by fire and rescue 
authorities, which will include giving them the power to do anything 
indirectly incidental to their functions; or 
 

(ii) a general power of competence as held by local authorities, which will give 
them the power to do anything that an individual can do so long as it is not 
prohibited by legislation.  

112



8 

 

Wider Functional Power of Competence 
 
The functional power of competence held by fire and rescue authorities (FRAs) is 
a wide-ranging power which means that, even if the proposed action is a number 
of steps removed from their core functions, they can still act as long as the action 
can ultimately be traced back sufficiently to their functions. FRAs can do anything 
which is related directly or indirectly incidentally to their functions and can enter 
into commercial arrangements. Under separate powers, they can also charge for 
services. For example, the powers have been used by FRAs to provide road 
traffic accident prevention courses, or mobility training for elderly members of the 
public. Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service (FRS) used the powers to form an 
insurance mutual across a number of fire services, known as the Fire and Rescue 
Indemnity Company (FRIC); attempts to establish this under previous powers 
were challenged due to lack of vires. A number of fire and rescue services now 
also have contracts with the Ambulance Service for the provision of medical 
response services (co-responding) which provide immediate life-saving 
intervention, which would not have been possible without the FRA functional 
power. The functional powers held by FRAs therefore enable greater freedoms, 
whilst maintaining their single purpose status.   
 
Where a PCC takes on fire and rescue functions, they hold this wider FRA power 
of competence in relation to their fire functions, but only the narrower PCC one in 
relation to their policing functions. At the minimum, we therefore believe we 
should level up the functional powers that PCCs and FRAs hold so that there is no 
longer a disparity in the PFCC model. This would mean giving all PCCs more 
generally a wider functional power of competence. This would allow PCCs to fully 
explore any commercial collaborative ventures without worrying about vires and 
ensure that for PFCCs in particular that collaboration between police and fire can 
be maximised. 
 
These powers would also extend the breadth of activity PCCs could undertake, 
enabling them to get further upstream of crime as well as support them to co-
commission and achieve shared outcomes with other emergency services, 
Criminal Justice System partners, local authorities and other public and private 
partners. PCCs also argue that wider powers to charge for discretionary services, 
and to trade would provide them with greater scope to act in the interests of their 
forces, in particular by raising revenue through innovative commercial practices. 
For example, some PCCs have identified that the powers would enable them to 
set up a police mutual, similar to the FRIC mutual established by fire services and 
others have indicated that they could use wider powers to make more effective 
use of estates, for example investing in renovation of police property to provide 
key worker housing and charging third parties to make use of premises, such as 
the police firearms range, when not in use for police purposes.  
 
PCCs do not possess the wide-ranging responsibilities that local authorities have 
and therefore a wider functional form of powers, as held by FRAs is likely to 
enable PCCs to undertake most of the activity they would need to be able to 
undertake to deliver their priorities in the interests of local communities. However, 
it could still create doubt about vires in circumstances where a link to PCC 
functions is difficult to prove.  

113



9 

 

General power of competence 
 
The general power of competence goes further than a functional power of 
competence in removing the need for a link between statutory functions and the 
exercise of powers. It provides greater freedoms to act, and therefore encourages 
greater innovation and creativity in the use of powers. 
 
For local authorities, the general power of competence has enabled them to work 
in new ways to meet the needs of local communities, and to develop new services 
and partnerships. It has also been seen as a symbolic statement that promotes 
innovation and frees up thinking, whether or not the power is used to provide the 
specific legal basis for the actions taken. Some councils have used the power to 
set up companies for commercial purposes, including for the development and 
sale of land, and in relation to the setting up of shared services with other 
councils.  
 
A general power of competence would put beyond doubt a PCC’s ability to take 
action to help prevent crime and to strengthen their role in the wider criminal 
justice system. It would remove the requirement for there to be a demonstrable 
link to existing statutory functions and reduce the risk of legal challenge thus 
giving PCCs increased confidence in their legal capacity to act. It would also allow 
individual commissioners to innovate and develop bespoke local approaches to 
meet local needs and priorities. Some PCCs have argued that a general power of 
competence would allow them to enter into increasingly ambitious joint plans with 
combined authority and council partners. Depending on how such a power is 
drafting, it could also allow them to generate income beyond cost recovery and 
generate new revenue streams. 
   
We recognise that there are some risks in granting PCCs a general power of 
competence. In giving PCCs the widest powers to innovate and act creatively, 
there are also greater risks that PCCs are distracted from their core focus on 
crime and policing or that they are engaged in activity that creates financial risk or 
cuts across other local mandates.  
 
The PCC model places checks and balances on the actions of PCCs. PCCs are 
elected to represent local needs and are directly accountable to the public for the 
efficient and effective use of public funds. To ensure the public have the 
information they need to hold the PCC to account, PCCs are required by law to 
publish certain information, including their total budget, revenue sources, 
proposed and actual expenditure and details of their annual investment strategy. 
Police and Crime Panels also have powers to scrutinise the actions and decisions 
of PCCs, providing an additional layer of public scrutiny.  
 
PCCs are also required by statute to appoint a Chief Financial Officer, whose 
duties include ensuring the proper administration of the PCC’s financial affairs, 
reporting any actual or foreseen unlawful expenditure and advising whether 
particular decisions are contrary to policy or budget.  There is also a statutory 
requirement for a PCC to have a Monitoring Officer, whose main role is to report 
to the PCC if it appears that any proposal, decision or failure within their 

114



10 

 

organisation constitutes, has given rise to, or is likely to break the law or a code of 
practice. 
 
Further, there are existing limitations on the use of the general power which are 
applied to local authorities, and which could be mirrored for PCCs; namely we 
would not permit PCCs to do anything that is specifically prohibited in legislation, 
to raise taxes (other than in relation to existing policing precept) or to trade in 
services that they already have a statutory function to provide. The Secretary of 
State also has the power to apply further limitations to the general power of 
competence provided to local authorities, subject to consultation. 
 
Through this consultation, we are also interested in any further safeguards or 
limitations that respondents consider might be necessary to ensure a proper use 
of any new powers granted to PCCs.   
 

Mayoral PCCs 
 
It is our intention that mayors who hold PCC functions (such as in London, 
Greater Manchester and West Yorkshire) would have the same power of 
competence as other PCCs to maintain consistency of powers in the police 
governance model. Mayors of combined authorities currently hold wider functional 
powers of competence, in line with those held by FRAs. At a minimum, we 
therefore propose to level up the powers that PCCs and Mayors hold. This could 
be either by granting to the PCCs the wider functional power which Mayors 
currently have (except Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and West of England 
Mayors who have a general power of competence) or by extending the general 
power of competence to both PCCs and Mayoral PCCs. If we were to extend the 
general power of competence to PCCs and therefore to mayoral PCCs, we would 
need to consider whether this power of competence should also be exercisable by 
the combined authority and whether any such extension should be dependent on 
the consent of the constituent authorities. The Government will give further 
consideration to the powers of Mayors and combined authorities through the 
Levelling Up White Paper. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

115



11 

 

Implementation 
 
Subject to the outcomes of this consultation, we would require primary legislation 
to provide PCCs with either a wider functional or general power of competence. 
We would seek to implement the measures through the next appropriate 
legislative vehicle following Part 2 of the PCC Review. 
 
Our intention would be to provide both English and Welsh PCCs with the same 
wider power of competence.  
 
 

 

116



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 6 October 2021

Subject: Tewkesbury Garden Town – Evolution of the Concept Plan

Report of: Tewkesbury Garden Town Programme Director 

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Lead Member: Lead Member for Built Environment

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
In October 2018 as part of the Joint Core Strategy Issues and Options consultation, the Council 
endorsed the Tewkesbury Area Draft Concept Masterplan for consultation. Since that time work 
has progressed, including consultation with Members, Parish Councils, Homes England and 
other stakeholders. As a result, the document has been subject to change and has been 
updated with support from the Council’s consultants, Building Design Partnership (BDP).
The changes, which include reference to the award of Garden Town status by the government, 
have been incorporated into the ‘Evolution of the Concept Plan’. This document is a summary of 
the current position of the work to deliver the Tewkesbury Garden Town and it is attached as 
Appendix 1.
A key element of the future development of Tewkesbury Garden Town is the high quality of 
development. The Tewkesbury Garden Town Member Reference Panel and the local Parishes 
have undertaken workshops and developed nine draft key Development Principles which are 
included in the document. In short, the draft Development Principles set out objectives relating 
to environment, economy and community matters which are intended to guide the creation of 
the future Garden Town. 
When finanlised, the principles can be adopted by the Council through the strategic planning 
process to make sure that the Tewkesbury Garden Town is developed to create ‘a place’ which 
is a comprehensive sustainable development of which the Council and the community can be 
proud. 
The Council has delegated authority to the Executive Committee to monitor progress in respect 
of the garden communities in the Borough. This report updates the Committee in respect of the 
Evolution of the Concept Plan which will then be used as the basis for further engagement with 
the local community, landowners and the wider stakeholders.
As the Joint Core Strategy Review progresses, formal consideration of development within this 
wider area will take place through the statutory process.

117

Agenda Item 9



Recommendation:
That the Committee NOTES progress and changes made to the Tewkesbury Area Draft 
Concept Masterplan which are now included in the Tewkesbury Garden Town ‘Evolution 
of the Concept Plan’ (July 2021 attached at Appendix 1).

Reasons for Recommendation:
To update the Executive Committee on progress and changes to the Tewkesbury Area Draft 
Concept Masterplan as set out in the Evolution of the Concept Plan document which will be 
used as the basis for further discussions with all stakeholders, landowners and the local 
community.

Resource Implications:
There are no additional resource implications arising for the Borough Council with any 
consultations with stakeholders/the community covered with the existing garden community 
team. 

Legal Implications:
There are no specific legal implications at this stage. The engagement will be undertaken in 
accordance with the Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010.

Risk Management Implications:
There are no specific risks inherent in the updated document and it will be used to work with 
stakeholders and partners to further develop proposals for Tewkesbury Garden Town in a 
manner which reduces the risk of poor-quality development. The updated document will allow 
stakeholder discussions to be focussed on the current position and avoid confusion.

Performance Management Follow-up:
Updates on the Garden Town programme are presented to Executive Committee.

Environmental Implications: 
As part of any planning application, environmental implications will be considered and 
addressed accordingly.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 In October 2018, as part of the Joint Core Strategy Issues and Options consultation, the 
Council endorsed the Tewkesbury Area Draft Concept Masterplan for consultation. Since 
that time, work has progressed including consultation with Members, Parish Councils, 
Homes England and other stakeholders. As a result, the document has been subject to 
change and has been updated with support from the Council’s consultants, Building 
Design Partnership (BDP).

1.2 To reflect these changes, as well as the latest thoughts on the concept plan, this 
evolution has been finalised with BDP in conjunction with the Tewkesbury Garden Town 
Member Reference Panel and includes the following updates:

 A list and details of the nine Development Principles for the Garden Town sustainable 
development. 

 The decision by the Ministry of Defence (MoD) to maintain the majority of the base 
for operational purposes and release land at the Eastern end of the base for 
development.

118



 Inclusion of the Garden Community (Town) status awarded by the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government.

 Incorporation of extant planning permissions, including that of the Fiddington 
development of 850 homes.

 Inclusion of employment land provisionally located South of the A46/East of the 
B4079.

 General updates to the plan including a review of the baseline analysis, engagement 
that has taken place, and a draft Garden Town vision.

 Inclusion, as appropriate, of responses from the Joint Core Strategy Issues and 
Options public consultation.

 A name change from the Tewkesbury Area Draft Concept ‘Masterplan’ to ‘Concept 
Plan’ to more accurately reflect the evolutionary status of the document which is the 
basis for further detailed discussion with stakeholders.

2.0 THE CHANGES IN DETAIL

2.1 To meet the government’s garden communities key requirement of sustainable 
development, the Concept Plan now includes nine draft ‘Development Principles’. These 
principles have been developed through discussion with local Parish Councils and the 
Member Reference Panel. They are based upon a number of best development and 
place making principles relating to Garden Towns. They will be refined further through 
future discussions and consultations with Members and stakeholders.

2.2 The overarching objective is that these principles will help define the Tewkesbury Garden 
Town as a future proofed, sustainable development and whilst the further detail of these 
principles will continue to evolve, the aim is that any development which takes place in 
the Garden Town area should meet these principles to ensure a comprehensive plan-led 
scheme. This is of particular importance in the case of more effectively managing 
speculative development. There are nine draft principles which promote sustainable 
development and are set out as follows:
1. Respect existing communities and local character.
2. A strong identity and character of place.
3. Interconnected blue infrastructure celebrating water.
4. A carbon neutral community and building sustainably for climate resilience.
5. Fantastic green spaces for people and wildlife.
6. Sustainable wider connectivity.
7. Integrated live-work-play communities.
8. Mixed-tenure homes, housing types and densities for diverse communities.
9. A social model for sustainability.

2.3 The document explains each of these development principles in detail with proposals on 
how these could be delivered through Tewkesbury Garden Town and the Garden 
Communities delivery model.

119



2.4 Work will continue to refine these principles – in particular their definition and how they 
will be achieved. Factors such as promoting effective public transport infrastructure, flood 
prevention and blue infrastructure provision, integrated green infrastructure, a successful 
local economy, carbon zero delivery, facilitating a sustainable social community, cycling, 
place development and critically the longer-term legacy the Garden Town can deliver.

2.5 In 2020, the Ministry of Defence (MoD) announced an investment plan for the existing 
Ashchurch base, aimed at renovating and modernising the base for the next 20 years 
plus. As part of this, circa 15 hectares of land is proposed to be released for development 
on the eastern edge of the base. Originally, the whole base had been highlighted by the 
MoD for release and re-development. This announcement amounted to a loss of 64 
hectares of potential development space equivalent to approximately 1,300 homes plus 
employment land. These changes have been incorporated into the Evolution of the 
Concept Plan document.

2.6 In 2019, the strategic growth potential at Ashchurch and the Council’s aims for a top-
quality development were recognised by the award of Garden Town status. As part of the 
bid for Garden Town Status and as noted by Council, the development potential from the 
original concept of 8,010 homes was increased to 10,195 homes. The proposed 
provision for employment land was maintained at circa 100 hectares. To meet this 
increased potential housing number, as well as replacing any re-assigned development 
land, a land parcel to the east of the MOD base and the B4079 has been included in the 
Concept Plan. 

2.7 The Concept Plan includes a site known as ‘the Mitton site’ which is wholly within 
Wychavon District Council, part of which is subject to a current planning application with 
500 dwellings from this site included in the housing numbers for Tewkesbury Borough 
within the adopted Joint Core Strategy.   The remaining is a current proposal within the 
South Worcestershire Strategic Development Plan Review. Because of its proximity, the 
site is currently included in the Garden Town proposal and Wychavon DC is supportive of 
this approach.  

2.8 The recent planning permission for 850 homes at Fiddington is also reflected in the 
updated Concept Plan.

2.9 The above noted changed circumstances increased the scope for further housing 
delivery, however land originally highlighted for employment has been reduced. 
Therefore, further employment land has been proposed east of the B4079 included in the 
Concept Plan.

2.10 The original document included a phasing outline which has been updated in this report 
with the latest information. The main change to the potential trajectory results from recent 
planning permissions. However, the overall focus of the potential trajectory remains as: 

 Phase 1: north of the A46/Ashchurch MOD base; and 
 Phase 2: being the remaining development opportunities south of the A46.

2.11 A new strategic link road is required in respect of the M5J9/A46 and this work is being 
led by the Highway Authority, Gloucestershire County Council. This new road 
infrastructure provision requirement was noted in the original concept plan. The updated 
document maintains this requirement and, although the plans do not indicate any specific 
solution, the preference for a new route south of the existing A46 linking to the new 
Garden Town employment proposals is noted.

120



2.12 Comments have been received from Members that the term ‘Masterplan’ used in the 
original document has been confusing for some people. The term suggests that the 
document is a statement of development intentions rather than a concept of what the 
Garden Town could be. The name used in this edition of the document has therefore 
been changed to Tewkesbury Garden Town Concept Plan.

3.0 PLANNING STATUS

3.1 This document is a concept plan outlining what development is possible in this area. It 
remains a high-level evolving document, which though will feed into, does not prejudice, 
or presuppose the planning system including the development plan led system.  The 
appropriate planning processes will still need to be followed, with adoption of any 
development plan document, including the Joint Core Strategy, a matter for Council.  
However, the Council’s strategic aims for Tewkesbury Garden Town, have been 
endorsed by the government’s award of Garden Town status.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 None.

5.0 CONSULTATION

5.1 The changes and updates included in the Evolution of the Concept Plan document have 
been discussed with Members, local Parish Councils and other stakeholders.

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

6.1 None.

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES

7.1 None.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

8.1 None – any future engagement with the wider stakeholders will be undertaken by the 
existing Garden Community team.

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

9.1 As noted above, a key basis of the Garden Town development proposal is to deliver a 
sustainable development. This is embodied in the development principles within the 
document.

10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

10.1 Engagement will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s duties under the 
Equality Act 2010.   

121



11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

11.1 The development and delivery of the Tewkesbury Garden Town is a Key Priority within 
the current Council Plan 2020 – 2024.  

Background Papers: Tewkesbury Area Draft Concept Masterplan January 2018
(Issued as a background paper with the Joint Core Strategy 
Review Issues and Options public consultation in October 2018).

Contact Officer: Tewkesbury Garden Town Programme Director
07458 113 770 Jonathan.Dibble@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Appendices: 1 – Evolution of the Concept Plan ~ July 2021.

122

mailto:Jonathan.Dibble@tewkesbury.gov.uk


JULY 2021

Evolution of the Concept Plan

VISUAL 
IDENTITY 
ASSETS

The Primary Visual Identity asset has been provided 
in both EPS and JPEG formats for professional use 
and easy application respectively.  
 
The White Visual Identity has been supplied in EPS 
format with Transparency. 
 
The Simplified Visual Identity has been supplied in 
EPS format for colouring as per toolkit specifications.

32

Tewkesbury Garden Town's Toolkit Assets Visual Identity Assets

123



Contents

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

2

1 Introduction       5
1.1 Introduction                6
1.2 Garden Cities Then and Now   7
1.3 Engagement           8

2 Vision       11
2.1 Vision      12
2.2 Garden Town Development  Principles 13

3 Site & Context     15
3.1 Site Analysis     16
3.2 Landscape Character    17
3.3 Local Built Character    18
3.4 Population and Deprivation   20
3.5 Heritage      21
3.6 Transportation     22
3.7 Existing and Planned Development  26
3.8 Opportunities & Constraints   28
3.9 Planning Policy & Guidance   30
3.10 Housing Needs     32
3.11 Employment Needs    32
3.12 Social Infrastructure Needs   34

4  Concept Plan       37
4.1 Concept Plan - Tewkesbury     38
4.2 Concept Plan - Garden Town     40
4.3  Respect Existing Communities and Reflect    

Local Character        42
4.4 A strong identity and character of place   44
4.5 Interconnected blue infrastructure

 celebrating water       46
4.6  Building sustainability for climate resilience  48
4.7  Fantastic green spaces for people and wildlife  50
4.8 Sustainable wider connectivity    52
4.9 Integrated live-work-play communities   54
4.10     Mixed-tenure homes, housing types and 

densities for diverse communities    58
4.11 A social model for sustainability    60

5 Conclusion and next steps     63
5.1 Development phasing      64
5.2 Summary and Next steps     65

6 References        67

124



H U B  A N D  H E A R T L A N D 
T H E  B I G  I D E A

125



126



1     Introduction 

127



Tewkesbury Borough Council has 
commissioned BDP to prepare an update 
to the 2018 Concept Masterplan for the 
Tewkesbury area. This report sets out this 
evolution and responds to changes that 
happened since.

Garden Town Status

Following a successful bid in March 
2019, the Tewkesbury area was awarded 
Garden Town status by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG). Tewkesbury Garden Town is 
part of a national Garden Communities 
Programme that is delivering five new 
Garden Towns in addition to the 49 existing 
ones. The Programme seeks high-quality 
place making by developers, investors, 
local authorities and local enterprise 
partnerships in order to renew Ebenezer 
Howard’s idea of the Garden City for the 
21st Century.
As part of this process the Masterplan’s 
target number of homes has increased to 
10,195 from 8010 to be provided together 
with circa 100ha employment land.

Recent Changes in the Local Area 
• Options for a new strategic alignment 

for the A46 are being progressed
• Ministry of Defence announced in June 

2020 that the Ashchurch MOD depot will 
be refurbished and stay open until at 
least 2040.

• Fiddington housing application 
approved on appeal January 2020.

500mN
Figure 1: The Study Area

TEWKESBURY TEWKESBURY 
TOWN CENTRETOWN CENTRE

M5M5

J9J9

A46A46

ASHCHURCHASHCHURCH

Growth Context

The indicative boundary of the study area 
and key elements are shown in Figure 1. An 
analysis of environmental constraints and 
opportunities have shown that the area has 
primary development potential. 
The growth context for the area is set 
out in the 2018 Concept Masterplan. 
The Tewkesbury area is a good location 
for strategic growth of housing and 
employment due to its central location and 
good accessibility. 
Tewkesbury area is identified as a ‘Growth 
Zone’ by the GFirstLEP. Who have secured 
funding to drive sustainable economic 
growth in this area.

Report Structure

This report presents the evolution of the 
Concept Plan:
• summary of and updates to the baseline 

analysis
• inclusion of the Garden Town Vision and 

Principles
• a renewed strategic space plan, 

responding to needs and aspirations 
of the area stimulating the delivery of 
homes and employment 

• masterplan strategies addressing the 
nine Garden Town principles, and

• a phasing strategy responding to 
the initial timeline proposed by the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS).

1.1 Introduction            

ra
ilw

ay
 t

ra
ck

s
ra

ilw
ay

 t
ra

ck
s

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

6

128



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

7

The Original Garden City

The Garden City Movement was founded by 
Ebenezer Howard in the late 19th Century. 
Garden Cities were new settlements 
designed to bring together the best of town 
and country, to create a self-sustaining 
community. Howard founded the Garden 
City Association (later known as the Town 
and Country Planning Association) and 
the first garden city - Letchworth - was 
established in 1899. Development at 
Letchworth and other garden cities showed 
it is possible to build attractive places 
which encourage a better way of living for 
everyone. They also used new, practical 
ways of both paying for this progress and 
giving the community a financial share in 
the place where they live.  
Community is at the heart of the Garden 
City movement, with the principles of 
collective land ownership, land value 
capture and stewardship. This principle was 
carried over to 21st Century Garden Cities 
models as well.

1.2 Garden Cities Then and Now

21th Century Garden Cities

These original principles have been re-
imagined and adapted to address  current 
issues such as sustainability and climate 
change and today we have the national 
Garden Communities Programme led by 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government, of which Tewkesbury 
borough is fortunate to be a part of. 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG), defines 
contemporary Garden Cities as holistically 
planned new settlements which enhance 
the natural environment and offer high-
quality affordable housing and locally 
accessible work in beautiful, healthy and 
sociable communities.
Similarly, Homes England affirm that 
Garden Communities provide new 
housing, infrastructure, jobs and services 
at large, well-planned and sustainable 
developments.

Figure 2: Letchworth Garden City

Figure 3: Garden City Diagram by Ebenezer Howard

In 2012 the Town and Country Planning 
Association (TCPA) published a guide 
for communities on understanding the 
opportunities for development along with 
garden city principles in their locality, 
highlighting the opportunities that 
incorporating Garden City principles at 
the local level can bring. These include 
opportunities for self build, allotments, 
community land trusts, management of 
local parks and community facilities and 
community planning.
Accordingly Garden Cities are places where
• Community is in control – people have a 

direct say in planning their future 
• Community owns development land and 

local facilities and gets income from 
the profits of development and from 
providing things like energy 

• Encourage mixed and diverse 
communities for people from all 
backgrounds 

• Opportunity to grow own food, either at 
home or in a community garden, farm or 
allotment 

• Create fantastic green spaces for people 
and wildlife

Other guidance documents include the 
MHCLG Garden Communities Prospectus 
and the Homes England Garden 
Communities Toolkit.
There is at least one Garden Community 
(Garden Town or Garden Village) in 
each English region, and altogether 49 
across the country. The term denotes 
diverse projects ranging from the 15,000 
homes designated in Ebbsfleet to merely 
a number of extensions in the town of 
Basingstoke. 

129



1.3 Engagement      

Following Tewkesbury being awarded 
Garden Town status in March 2019, the 
Garden Town Member Reference Panel was 
formed to over see work on the Garden 
Town. 
Tewkesbury Borough Council officers 
worked with the Member Reference Panel 
to define the purpose and benefits of 
Tewkesbury Garden Town:
• Allows Tewkesbury to secure funding 

and delivery support from National 
Agencies such as Homes England & 
Highways England. This will unlock key 
land with the required infrastructure 
for existing and future development eg. 
roads, rail, flood infrastructure, schools.

• Raises Tewkesbury’s profile to create the 
Garden Town of Gloucestershire.

• Upholds a positive image of Tewkesbury 
on national stage with an exemplar 
development which celebrates the areas 
rural green character and water as an 
agent for change.

• Fosters local leadership and partnership, 
with a locally led new town development 
corporation for delivery and 
management and thereby invest back to 
the future community.

• Creates future-ready smart communities 
through social, environmental and 
economic integration across the town - 
facilitating digital technology, modern 
methods of construction, connecting 
local industries and other areas of 
emerging innovation. 

• Is a vital ‘framework umbrella’ to 
guide decision-making for sustainable 
communities – to create a well-planned, 
designed and inclusive communities.

Further engagement work with the Member 
Reference Panel and Parish Council's in 
2019 and 2020 shaped the creation of the 
Tewkesbury Garden Town Principles with 
the following Parish Council's involved in 
workshops:
• Ashchurch Rural Parish Council
• Northway Parish Council
• Tewkesbury Town Council
• Wheatpieces Parish Council
• Teddington Parish Council
During the evolution of the Concept Plan 
further engagement with the Member 
Reference Panel has been undertaken 
along with meetings and workshops with 
the following key staekholers:
• Tewkesbury Borough Council Planning 

and Economic Development Officers
• NHS - Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group
• Environment Agency
• Gloucester County Council Highways
• Worcestershire County Council Highways
• GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership 
• Wychavon District Council
• Ashchurch Rural Parish Council
• Northway Parish Council
• Tewkesbury Town Council
• Teddington & Alstone Parish Council
• Community Rail Partnership 
• Homes England

This engagement has shaped and altered 
the Garden Town Principles and the 
evolution of the Concept Plan spatial 
arrangement. 
Listening and engaging with local 
communities and stakeholders will 
be fundamental to the success of 
the Tewkesbury Garden Town. Wider 
engagement with the public and key 
stakeholders on the Garden Town will form 
the basis of the future work to evolve, 
develop and deliver the Garden Town 
Vision.
To ensure the process for engagement 
works well, a formal governance structure 
will be created. This will complement and 
strengthen existing arrangements, which 
include a Member Reference Panel based 
within Tewkesbury Borough Council, and 
focused  community-based sub groups, 
created to encourage and support regular 
dialogue  with the most immediate 
parishes of Ashchurch Rural and Northway.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

8

130



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

9

131



132



2     Vision

133



2.1 Vision

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

12

Tewkesbury Garden Town 
Delivering Tomorrow’s 
Tewkesbury

To deliver well planned development in a 
way which supports Tewkesbury residents, 
business and the wider community to fulfil 
their potential. Making Tewkesbury the 
Hub, which serves and supports the wider 
Heartland. A place which drives the success 
of the Borough.  

TRANSFORMATIONAL 
Tewkesbury will transform, 
to create a place that has 
everything for a happy and 
healthy lifestyle. We will create 
a holistic plan for the long term, 
building on the existing strengths 
and historic character of the 
area, to ‘future proof’ ourselves 
for years to come.

SUSTAINABLE 
Tewkesbury is a ‘living 
location’ able to capitalise on 
a wonderful mix of town and 
country. Sustainable choices 
will be embedded throughout 
our plan and at the heart of 
future communities. We hope to 
encourage a positive shift in the 
way new and existing residents will 
live, work, travel and socialise. 

VIBRANT COMMUNITIES 
Drawing on the distinctive 
qualities of Tewkesbury and its 
existing communities, we aim to 
deliver development with a real 
‘sense of place’ and community. 
Community facilities and 
infrastructure, such as schools, 
health and play, will be priorities. 
Alongside well designed, high 
quality housing and employment 
opportunities, Tewkesbury will 
be empowered to embrace its 
potential. 

134



2.2 Garden Town Development Principles

2.  A strong identity and character 
of place

Support a unique Garden Town 
identity and character through 
conserving and enhancing 
features of the area as well as 
creating opportunities for people 
to interact with art, culture and 
community green spaces.

8.  Mixed-tenure homes, housing 
types and densities for diverse 
communities

Provide a mix of housing types and 
tenures to encourage diverse and 
intergenerational communities. 
Beautifully designed homes with 
gardens will combine the best of 
town and country to create healthy 
communities.

6. Sustainable wider connectivity

Increase connectivity and 
maximise sustainable modes of 
travel within the Garden Town 
and to Tewkesbury and beyond. 
Enhanced accessibility to the 
station will put Tewkesbury on 
the map and integrated transport 
systems with walking and cycling 
infrastructure will transform the 
area into a sustainable movement 
environment.

5.  Fantastic green spaces for 
people and wildlife

Maximise the health and wellbeing 
benefits of green infrastructure 
through creating an ecologically 
rich landscape network that links 
to the Cotswolds AONB (Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty) and 
that includes allotments, green 
corridors, natural play areas and 
large open spaces.

3.  Interconnected blue 
infrastructure celebrating 
water

Nourish an interconnected blue-
green infrastructure to build 
climate resilience through natural 
water retention and re-use 
techniques as well as promote 
a liveable urban environment 
through rejoicing in water’s 
recreational value.

7.  Integrated live-work-play 
communities

Create a desirable place for living 
and working that can meet the 
needs of a diverse range of people 
and promote an active lifestyles 
through an appropriate mix of uses 
and a network of neighbourhood 
centres.

4.  A carbon neutral community 
and building sustainably for 
climate resilience

Contribute to a carbon neutral 
community and build climate 
resilience from construction to 
occupation through sustainable 
materials and construction 
techniques, renewable energy 
measures, sustainable drainage 
systems within a comprehensive 
blue-green infrastructure network.

9. A social model for sustainability

Enable the long term sustainability 
of the garden town through a 
strong vision and management 
model that encourages community 
ownership and stewardship of 
communal assets.

1.  Respect existing communities 
and reflect local character

Ensure that the development 
respects existing communities, 
and follows good urban design 
principles to deliver attractive 
and safe layouts that reflect the 
character of local places.

As part of the Masterplanning 
process, nine founding 
Development Principles have 
been created, drawing on 
experience from the long-
established global Garden 
City Movement and UK 
Garden Communities Model of 
Development, the adopted Joint 
Core Strategy for Cheltenham, 
Gloucester and Tewkesbury (JCS) 
and stakeholder engagement 
events held throughout 2019.
These principles will act as an 
important framework for all 
decision making and form the 
basis of future development of 
the Tewkesbury Garden Town. 

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

13

135



136



3     Site & Context

137



Baseline analysis was completed by BDP in 
September 2017 and updated in 2020. This 
studied in detail the existing conditions 
and opportunities in order to guide the 
development of the Concept Plan. The key 
characteristics are summarised here.

Area Character

Tewkesbury is a historic market town 
with a dispersed settlement pattern due 
to the impact of flood zones. The wider 
area covers areas with varied character 
including the natural landscape, a number 
of villages, business parks and more urban 
residential districts. 

The area is bisected by the M5 and the 
mainline rail line from Birmingham to 
Bristol, which presents severance issue. 
Nevertheless, he two areas have a 
functional relationship with Tewkesbury 
proving town centre functions for the 
outlying employment and suburban areas.

East to the town lies the modern 
Tewkesbury Business Park, Ashchurch 
Business Centre and the residential district 
of Northway.

Further East, near the railway station is 
Ashchurch, an important village for its 
local history and heritage, and the MoD 
Ashchurch site. 

The wider area is characterised by 
a number of small rural settlements 
including Aston-on-Carrant, Pamington and 
Fiddington.

3.1 Site Analysis

Tewkesbury

Tewkesbury 
Business Park Ashchurch 

Business Centre

Mitton

Northway 

MOD

Figure 4: Site Areas 500mN 1Km

Te
wke

sb
ury market town

between the Business centre and M
O

D

Aston-on-
Carrant

Pamington

Fiddington

Ashchurch

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

16

138



 
 INDICATIVE STUDY AREA                                                                                               IN

DICATIV
E STU

D
Y AREA                                                                                                                      INDICATIVE STUDY AREA                               

           
        

       
      

INDICATIV
E STUDY A

REA
  

STUDY 
AREA

BREDON HILL 
SSSI

BREDON HILL 
NNR

BECKFORD GRAVEL PIT
SSSI

ALDERTON HILL QUARRY
SSSI

DIXTON WOOD 
SSSI

UPHAM MEADOW & 
SUMMER LEASOW

SSSI

RECTORY FARM 
MEADOWS

SSSI

SEVERN HAM
SSSI

OLD RIVER SEVERN 
(UPPER LODE)

SSSI

UPTON HAM
SSSI

ECKINGTON RAILWAY 
CUTTING

SSSI

WINDMILL TUMP
SSSI CARRANT BROOK

TIRLE BROOK

3.2 Landscape Character

Coloured areas represent the Cotswold AONB, which is visible 
from locations within the study area.

Landscape Character

Tewkesbury are fortunate to be surrounded 
by some exceptional natural beauty.  The 
most important elements of the area’s 
landscape character are the following:

• The area is surrounded by three AONBs 
with long scenic views from the study 
area to these landscape assets. 

• Large amounts of wide, open and flat 
landscape which do not have landscape 
protection

• Hedgerows and agricultural field 
patterns create a rural character

• Riparian environments around the River 
Severn, Carrant Brook and Tirle Brook

• Small areas of woodlands and orchards

Figure 5: Landscape Analysis
Green 
Infrastructure 
Corridors

Rivers & Brooks Sites Of Special 
Scientific Interest 
(SSSI)

National Nature 
Reserve (NNR)

RIVER SEVERN

RI
VE

R 
AV

O
N

N

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

17

139



3.3 Local Built Character

Local Built  Character

Based on our initial analysis there are four 
distinct patterns defining the built form of 
the study area:
A Historic Tewkesbury Town  
Tewkesbury town centre is characterised 
by medieval street and plot pattern, with 
continuous street frontage and a mix 
of building heights and roof form. This 
includes historic burgage plots along the 
high street and smaller terraced properties 
within the wider conservation area.
B. 20th century development 
A variety of suburban extensions to the 
historic Tewkesbury centre have been 
developed as the town has grown. These 
have an informal suburban character, 
with predominately semi detached and 
detached buildings set back from the 
highway and a cul-de-sac residential 
pattern.
C. Rural settlements 
The wider area surrounding Tewkesbury 
Town has a range of small rural 
settlements. These are characterised 
by detached houses on larger plots and 
agricultural buildings. Buildings are often 
cluster along linear roads or cross roads. 
D. Out of town/ industrial pattern 
The Tewkesbury and Ashchurch Business 
Parks are characterised by large 
footprint industrial buildings surrounded 
by extensive surface car parking and 
servicing areas.

A

B

C

D

C

B

A

Figure 6: Local Built Character

8,200 m2 GFA
2-3 storeys avg.
6 ha
FAR 0.35

D

Aston-on-
Carrant

Pamington

Fiddington

Walton 
Cardiff

Bredon's  
Hardwick

Kinsham

Ashchurch

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

18

140



Figure 7: Historic Tewkesbury Figure 8: 20th century development Figure 9: Rural settlements Figure 10: Existing businesses

The half-timbered buildings and 

Abbey in the town of Tewkesbury 

alongside traditional villages mark 

the area as a significant place of 

history. It is somewhere that both 

visitors and residents can enjoy. 

The principal town of Tewkesbury offers good education, 

an abundance of community-focussed groups, independent 

shopping along with super leisure facilities. For that extra-

special meal or shopping trip you are again spoilt for choice 

with Cheltenham, Worcester, Gloucester and Bristol all readily 

accessible by road or rail.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

19

141



3.4 Population and Deprivation

Deprivation

While Tewkesbury Borough as a whole is 
not deprived - ranks 261 out of 317 (with 
rank 1 being the most deprived). There 
are pockets of deprivation in Tewkesbury 
town and divergent deprivation across the 
town and surrounds – 20% most deprived, 
adjacent to the 20% least deprived. 
There are also pockets with issues with 
education/training and barriers to housing 
and services.

Tewkesbury is home to the second most 
deprived LSOA in the Gloucestershire 
for “Barriers to Housing and Services” 
(Severn Vale North -which is the 270th 
most deprived LSOA of the 32,844 LSOAs in 
England)

Existing Population

In the 2011 census the population of 
Tewkesbury Borough was 81,943, with 
the population of the study area around 
Tewkesbury being 20,210. 

The 2019 population estimate by National 
Statistics for Tewkesbury Borough is 
95,000, up from 2011 census population 
of 81,943. The rise was mainly fuelled by 
internal migration - with more people 
moving to Tewkesbury from other parts 
of the UK than travelling in the opposite 
direction.

Population estimates for the study area 
show a small increase in the proportion in 
50-64 and 65+ age groups between 2011 
and 2019, with decreases in the 16-24 and 
24-49 age groups.

The district has a highly skilled workforce 
that reflects the nature and demand of a 
high tech manufacturing and service base 
which is projected to grow.

Tewkesbury is the 
4th most deprived district/borough  

in Gloucestershire 
and ranks as the 261st most deprived 

of the 317 districts 
in England  

The English Indices of Deprivation 2019 
Tewkesbury Borough Summary 

Tewkesbury is home to the second most deprived LSOA 
in the county for “Barriers to Housing and 

Services” (Severn Vale North - which is the 270th most 
deprived LSOA of the 32,844 LSOAs in England) 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019 2015 2019

IMD Income Employment Education Skills
and Training

Health
Deprivation and

Disability

Crime Barriers to
Housing and

Services

Living
Environment

Income
Deprivation

Affecting
Children Index

(IDACI)

Income
Deprivation

Affecting Older
People Index

(IDAOPI)

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 D
is

tr
ic

t P
op

ul
at

io
n

Domains

Tewkesbury Indices of Deprivation Domains by National Quintile,
2019 compared with 2015

1 2 3 4 5National Deprivation Quintiles (1=Most Deprived, 5=Least Deprived)

Figure 12: Indices of Deprivation Gloucestershire, 2019 (Inform) 

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

20

142



3.5 Heritage

There are important designated heritage 
assets in and around the study area. 
The historic centre is designated as the 
Tewkesbury Conservation Area where most 
of the listed buildings are located as well 
as the Site of St Mary’s Abbey. To the south 
of the Conservation Area is the Battlefield 
of Tewkesbury, which is notable for the 
1471 Battle of Tewkesbury.

Within the study area there a number of 
listed buildings, importantly the Church of 
St Nicholas (Grade II*) and surrounding 
listed buildings and structures. The Church 
was built in the early 12th century. The 
church features a long nave having walls 
that lean outwards reminding one of a 
ship’s hull. This is a reference to St Nicholas 
also being the patron saint of seamen.  
During the 13th century the north aisle was 
added, followed by a fine, pinnacled tower 
in the 14th century. The oak rood screen 
(an ornate wooden structure typical in 
medieval churches) dividing the sanctuary 
from the nave dates from the 15th 
century. The existence of such an ancient 
screen is rare as many were destroyed in 
Cromwellian times. 

Other listed buildings include Northway 
Mill and Mill House, and farm buildings, 
manor houses and cottages in the 
rural settlements of Aston-on-Carrant, 
Pamington and Fiddington.

 

Figure 13: Heritage Designations

Church of 
St Nicholas

Northway 
Mill

Aston-on-
Carrant

Pamington

Fiddington

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

21

143



3.6 Transportation

Movement in Tewkesbury Today

The road network tends to dominate 
movement issues in the Tewkesbury area 
with long-standing concerns regarding 
the M5 and Junction 9 (J9) and the A46 
overshadowing other opportunities relating 
to walking, cycling, bus and rail movement. 

The study area is dominated by the key 
road corridors of the M5, running north-
south and the A46, east-west.  Although 
conferring considerable local and 
strategic connectivity benefits by road, 
both corridors present several major 
issues for the area and local people who 
live and work there. These issues include 
community severance, challenging walking 
and cycling conditions and significant 
congestion impacts for all road users, 
including bus services. 

Both the M5 and A46 road corridors have 
been subject to considerable technical 
study over many years, with work ongoing 
by Highways England, Gloucestershire 
County Council (GCC), Midlands Connect 
and the A46 Partnership Group. 

Key road network concerns relate to where 
road infrastructure is under pressure, 
incomplete or absent, and is summarised 
below:

• M5 J9 – northbound off-slip hard 
shoulder vehicle queuing and blocking-
back representing a significant safety 
concern;

• A46 junctions and accesses through 
Ashchurch and Northway contributing to 
corridor congestion issues;

• Ashchurch Business Park connection to 
the A46 congestion during the evening 
peak period;

• A438 Ashchurch Road – congested 
during peak periods;

• A438 Ashchurch Road / Shannon Way 
congestion – development related 
improvements are planned which may 
include J9 improvements too; 

• The A46 railway overbridge limits road 
width to a single lane in either direction; 
and

• Aston Cross junction – highway capacity 
constraint by development on all arms 
with congestion during peak hours.

• A46 and its problems are linked 
to strategic uses of the corridor, 
Teddington Hands roundabout - local 
traffic is not the problem

Figure 14: Local Road Network

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

22

144



Rail 

Ashchurch for Tewkesbury station is 
clearly of significant benefit to the area, 
being well positioned on the rail network 
and serving many stations / destinations 
including northbound to Birmingham New 
Street and Worcester and southbound to 
Cheltenham Spa, Gloucester and Bristol.  
This advantage is though compromised 
by present day significant shortcomings 
in service frequency with generally only a 
train calling every two hours at the station. 

Strengthening these existing connections 
with more frequent services would 
make Ashchurch for Tewkesbury station 
considerably more appealing to potential 
rail users and a very considerable 
contributor to sustainable transport mode 
shift in support of Garden Town delivery. In 
addition significant improvements to the 
station facilities and connectivity to the 
surrounding area will be required.

To the east of Ashchurch for Tewkesbury 
station are rail tracks owned and operated 
by the MOD. The tracks follow the northern 
boundary of the MOD site and prevent 
north south movement.

Figure 15: Ashchurch Rail Station

Figure 16:  MOD rail spur

NEWPORT

BRISTOL

GLOUCESTER

CHELTENHAM

ASHCHURCH

BIRMINGHAM NEW ST.

To CARDIFF

To EXETER

To MANCHESTER

OPERATORS:

N

Figure 17: Rail Connections

WORCESTER

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

23

145



Bus

Services are limited with coverage 
focussed on Tewkesbury town centre. The 
Northway residential and employment 
area is served by only two routes, serving 
Tewkesbury town centre, the rail station 
and Cheltenham.  Ashchurch itself is 
only served by school bus routes, with 
the nearest bus stops for services to 
Tewkesbury town centre and Cheltenham 
located at the railway station and on 
Northway Lane.  Bus routes are subject 
to expansion based on approved new 
development including Fiddington.

More widely, buses provide connections 
between Cheltenham, Gloucester, Bishop’s 
Cleave and Evesham.  Given this patchy 
coverage, and the variable quality of bus 
passenger facilities, the travel mode share 
for Tewkesbury is, unsurprisingly, below 
the average for Gloucestershire, while bus 
travel to work within Tewkesbury is lower 
still.  Notably, congestion on the A46 is 
cited by operators as a significant barrier 
to bus routes operation and coverage.

500mN 1Km

Figure 18: Bus Routes & Stops

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

24

146



Figure 19: Existing Walking and Cycling Routes and Facilities

Walking and Cycling

Despite the issues of congestion and 
severance associated with the A46 and M5, 
the latter worsened on the east-west axis 
by the railway line, cycling is a popular 
travel mode throughout the area.  As a 
counter to the road network difficulties, 
cyclists benefit from the area’s linear 
form, it’s generally favourable topography, 
and quiet links, where motorised vehicle 
flows are generally low.  There has been 
considerable investment in promoting 
cycling in recent years as a meaningful 
local access mode which has seen a very 
encouraging level of take-up across the 
area as evidenced by its untypically high 
travel mode share.  

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

25

147



MoD Ashchurch Site

The Ministry of Defence announced in 
June 2020 that the site to be refurbished 
and stay open until at least 2040. A 15 
hectare area of land (B) on the eastern 
portion of the MoD site will be released for 
development.  The remaining 64 hectares 
will remain in use by the MoD. (A)

Transport

Work continues to determine the preferred 
route for the A46 J9 off-line solution. The 
preferred route is being determined to 
complete the Outline Business Case (OBC) 
of the DfT’s Large Local Majors (LLM) 
bidding process.

Permitted Development

• C - Retail Centre - under construction
• D - Fiddington - 850 dwellings 
• E - Pamington Lane and Fitzhamon Park  

- under construction 
• F - Moog future employment site
Other Planning Applications  

• G - Mitton (Wychavon) - 500 dwellings - 
application under consideration 

• H - Fiddington 2 - pre-application 
consultation

• I - Starveall Farm chicken farm 
expansion - application under 
consideration

3.7 Existing and Planned Development

A

I

B

H

C

D

E

G

F
J9

Teddington 
Hands

Figure 20:  Existing and Planned Developments

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

26

148



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

27

149



• Outstanding natural landscape 
settings, picturesque views of the 
surrounding hills

• Proximity to Tewkesbury's and 
Ashchurch's own historic and rich 
heritage

• Easy access to landscape areas and 
waterways for leisure and recreation

• Excellent connectivity via road 
and rail links, with Tewkesbury 
for Ashchurch rail station located 
centrally in the study area

• Potential inclusion in the JCS 
Review as a strategic location for 
development

• Growing businesses that want to 
expand/ combine their sites and 
demand from new businesses willing 
to move to the area

• Growing population seeking housing
• High percentage of population 

cycling compared to other suburban 
areas.

• Opportunity to create a guiding 
masterplan framework to ensure 
joined up development of housing, 
employment and infrastructure.

• Current limited train frequency and 
station services. 

• A46 is at capacity with congestion 
issues including at the J9 junction

• The need to deliver housing and 
employment space

• Current lack of planning policy 
status

• MOD site and MOD rail spur create 
potential north south movement 
challenges

• Connections over the M5, railway 
line and A46 are required.

• Areas of land within the flood zone

Summary of opportunities and constraints

Opportunities Constraints

The Development Opportunity

Ashchurch, Northway and the adjacent 
Business Park currently function as a 
suburb of the main historic town centre 
of Tewkesbury. The area is regarded as 
a prime employment location with two 
existing business areas and has become 
renowned over the past 30 years for 
technology based industries, high tech 
engineering and distribution.  Junction 9 of 
the M5 in particular has been recognised 
as an important business location, with 
access to Tewkesbury town centre in the 
west, Cheltenham and Gloucester in the 
south and Worcester in the north.  The 
area is accessible by public transport via 
the Ashchurch for Tewkesbury rail station, 
which has been identified for enhancement 
in the JCS (December, 2017) in order to 
provide good quality services and facilities 
for the area. 

The Thinking Place visioning exercise has 
highlighted how the areas are very much 
considered as a part of Tewkesbury but at 
the same time it keep their own identity.

A number of sites are ideally placed 
to complement existing residential 
communities such as Northway. 

While there are a range of challenges 
to delivering growth in Tewkesbury, the 
potential of the area when compared to 
other locations is significant.

With its outstanding natural environment 
and transport links the Tewkesbury area 
makes a fantastic location for people to 
work and live. 

3.8 Opportunities & Constraints

To realise its potential for future growth, 
the Concept Plan needs to build upon 
the following identified strengths and 
opportunities while taking into account the 
issues and constraints in the area.
Overall, Tewkesbury possesses the 
foundations to help deliver the vision of a 
sustainable community which essentially 
encourages people to live and work locally.
The masterplan will take a landscape-led 
approach, balancing the protection of 
existing landscape assets with creating 
new growth areas that link existing 
development and roads.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

28

150



B
4079

A438

A46

MOD

Poultry Farm

J9

St Nicholas’ 
Church

Rail 
Station

Wheatpieces

Employment
Residential
Retail
Permitted Residential 
Small Settlements
Flood Risk Area
Surface Water Attenuation 
Key Wildlife Site
Listed Building within 
study area
Roads
Rail Tracks
MOD rail spur

Key

Figure 25: Opportunities and Constraints

Northway

Aston-on-
Carrant

Pamington

Fiddington

A46

Oxenton

Teddington

Tewkesbury

A
435

Walton 
Cardiff

Claydon

Aston 
Cross

Tewkesbury 
School Tirle Brook

Carrant Brook

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

29

151



3.9 Planning Policy & Guidance

Joint Core Strategy (2017)

The JCS is a partnership between 
Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham 
Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough 
Council and was adopted in December 
2017. This sets out the number of new 
homes, jobs and supporting infrastructure 
required to 2031, including the Strategic 
Site Allocation A5 at Ashchurch and details 
how this is to be delivered.

Joint Core Strategy Review (2018)

The JCS is currently under review, on the 
issues of housing supply for Gloucester and 
Tewkesbury and the retail / town centre 
policies for the whole area. Fundamentally 
the JCS Review will again look at the 
future growth needs and look to allocate 
the Garden Town. The authorities have 
published the  consultation responses on 
the Issues and Options document in July 
2019 and issued a Draft Plan in the autumn 
of 2019. The Ashchurch Concept Masterplan 
was one of the background documents 
supporting the consultation. The planning 
period of the reviewed JCS will go beyond 
2031 but is not yet certain what its time 
horizon will be (JCS Review Issues and 
Options, 2018).

JCS Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2014)

The IDP evaluates the transport, utilities, 
community and green infrastructure and 
services that wll be required to support the 
levels of housing and employment growth 
proposed in the JCS. 

Joint Core Strategy

This section summarises and analyses 
policies and guidance relevant for the 
proposed Garden Town.

Local Planing Policy

South Worcestershire Development Plan

The South Worcestershire Councils 
of Malvern Hills, Worcester City and 
Wychavon started a review of the SWDP 
in late 2017. The Mitten site which borders 
Tewkesbury is included as a housing site 
allocation and is relevant to the Garden 
Town proposals. The review which will 
provide an updated plan period to 2041, 
and is planned for adoption in April 2023.

Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 Pre-
Submission version (2019)

Consultation on the Pre-Submission 
Version of the TBP took place in October/
November 2019. This sets out a vision for 
the borough to 2031, in line with the JCS.  
Whilst the JCS deals with larger sites and 
strategic  issues,  the  TBP  will  identify 
smaller-scale sites and set out detailed 
policies for development. The Borough Plan 
was submitted to the Secretary of State 
for Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government on 18 May 2020 and 
the examination in public commenced in 
February 2021.

Tewkesbury Local Plan to 2011: Saved 
Policies (2006)

The Local Plan was adopted in March 
2006, with most policies ‘saved’ by the 
Secretary of State in 2009. This Plan will 
be superseded by the Tewkesbury Borough 
Plan 2011-2031 once this is adopted. 

Tewkesbury Flood and Water Management 
SPD (2018)

This document provides guidance on the 
approach that should be taken to manage 
flood risk and the water environment as 
part of new development proposals.

Tewkesbury Town Regeneration SPD 
(2019)

The SPD guides redevelopment and 
regeneration within Tewkesbury Town and 
wider area. It seeks to promote economic 
investment and vitality within the town and 
opportunity sites.

Manual for Streets (DfT, 2007) and Manual 
for Gloucestershire Streets (GCC, 2018)

The Manual for Streets, provides guidance 
on how to achieve well-designed 
residential streets and spaces, providing 
an appropriate balance between their 
movement and place function. This 
has formed the basis of the Manual for 
Gloucestershire Streets. 

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Social, 
Sport and Open Spaces Study: Developer 
Contributions Toolkit (2017),  Open Space 
Study Standards Paper (2016) and Playing 
Pitch Strategy and Action Plan (2017)

This provides a guide to calculate the 
required developer contributions to 
ensure that needs for open spaces, 
playing pitches, built sport facilities and 
social sustainability arising from new 
developments are met. The toolkit is 
supported by a number of open space and 
playing pitch assessments and standards.

Planning Policy Guidance

There is a range of Garden Town and 
Design Guidance which has influenced the 
evolution of the Concept Plan: 
• Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government: Garden Communities 
Prospectus (August 2018)

• Homes England: Garden Communities 
Toolkit (September 2019) 

• Department for Transport: Manual for 
Streets (2007)

• National Design Guide (2021)
• Design Council CABE, Home Builders 

Federation and Design for Homes: 
Building for Life 12 (2015)

• Building with Nature
• Town & Country Planning Association: 

Garden City Standards for the 21st 
Century: Practical Guides for Creating 
Successful New Communities - Guide 3: 
Design and Masterplanning (2017).

Design Guidance

Ashchurch Rural Parish Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 2020 -2031

The Regulation 14 Draft of the 
Neighbourhood Plan was published for 
consultation in May 2021.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

30

152



Housing 

The evolution of the Concept Plan has 
been developed in accordance with JCS 
Policy SD4, which sets out a number of 
design requirements for new development 
including context, character and sense 
of place; legibility and identity; amenity 
and space; public realm and landscape, 
safety and inclusively. This is also reflected 
in Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 
Policy RES5 which provides principles for 
new housing development with regard to 
design, layout, scale and amenity. 

Employment 

JCS Policy SP1 and Policy SP2 set out the 
need for 192ha B-class employment land to 
be delivered within existing urban areas, 
existing commitments, urban extensions, 
and the provision of Strategic Allocations 
at Ashchurch. The Tewkesbury Borough 
Plan (TBP) includes four key objectives for 
economic growth: 

1. Be the primary growth engine of 
Gloucestershire’s economy 

2. Identify and deliver employment land, in 
accordance with the JCS and the TBP

3. Maximise the growth potential of the M5 
junctions

4. Regeneration for Tewkesbury town

JCS Review: Housing and Employment 

While the majority of the Garden Town sites 
have not yet been allocated through the 
planning policy process, it is intended that 
the JCS Review will bring forward sites 
for housing and employment. The Concept 
Masterplan (January 2018) was included 
in the first stage of the JCS Review public 
consultation. 

Flooding & Climate Change

In line with JCS Policy INF2 Flood 
Risk Management and the Tewkesbury 
Flood and Water Management SPD, the 
Masterplan follows a sequential approach 
to flood risk, steering new development 
to areas with the lowest probability 
of flooding and avoiding residential 
development on the Carrant Brook flood 
plain to the north of the site. This accords 
with the JCS site allocation which states 
that all more vulnerable development must 
be located wholly in flood zone 1. 

The Tewkesbury Flood and Water 
Management SPD states that attenuation 
storage requirements should be assessed 
against a 1% annual probability flood 
event plus 70% allowance for climate 
change on the receiving water course, 
as part of a precautionary approach for 
extreme rainfall events. As minimum, the 
Council will expect a 40% climate change 
allowance to be made as per Environment 
Agency Guidance - however a higher 
allowance is encouraged due to the 
significant flooding issues that exist within 
the Borough. 

Transport & Parking

The JCS (Policy SD4) states that new 
development should prioritise sustainable 
transport modes according to the following 
hierarchy:

1. Pedestrians and people with mobility 
difficulties

2. Cyclists
3. Public transport and social / community 

services
4. Access by commercial vehicles
5. Ultra-low emission vehicles
6. Other motorised vehicles (lowest)
In line with this, TBP 2011-2031 Policy 
TRAC9 states that appropriate levels 
of parking for new developments 
should be considered on the basis of 
an overall need to reduce numbers of 
high emission vehicles, while accounting 
for the accessibility, type, mix and use 
of development and public transport 
opportunities, and local car ownership 
levels. 

Key Considerations
Social & Community Infrastructure

JCS Policy INF4 requires new residential 
development to provide on-site or 
contribute to off-site provision of 
community facilities, which should be 
easily accessible by foot and bike. The 
JCS Review will define the social and 
community infrastructure requirements for 
the Tewkesbury Garden Town. The evolution 
of the Concept Plan has made allowances 
for the Social Infrastructure Needs as 
outlined in section 3.12 of this report.

Open Spaces

Adopted policies set out that public 
outdoor space, sports pitches, allotments 
and community gardens should be 
provided using the Social, Sport and 
Open Spaces Study and the Developer 
Contributions Toolkit. However as a Garden 
Town, the evolution of the Concept Plan 
has been prepared to meet TCPA Garden 
Town Principles. This includes that more 
than 50% of the Garden Town area should 
be allocated to green infrastructure. This 
green infrastructure should include a 
network of multifunctional, well managed, 
high-quality open spaces linked to the 
wider countryside and at least half should 
be public.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

31

153



3.10 Housing Needs

To support the evolution of the Concept 
Plan an overview of the local housing need 
in Tewkesbury has been undertaken.

The adopted JCS allocates 35,175 new 
homes over the plan period of 2011 to 
2031 on strategic sites, with 9,899 of these 
in Tewkesbury Borough. The Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan which is currently at 
examination (February 2021) also allocates 
housing, but on non-strategic sites.

The focus for the JCS review is around 
the Tewkesbury/Ashchurch area and will 
be guided by the emerging Garden Town 
proposals and the plan delivery period of 
will go beyond 2031. 

Local Housing Needs Assessment 2019

This document establishes the up to date 
housing need for the areas within the 
Gloucestershire area for the next 20 years 
based on the Standard Method (2021-2041).

In Gloucestershire for period of 2021-41 
there is a need for: 

• Social rented housing = 8,697 dwellings 
(13.7%) 

• Affordable rent = 2,513 dwellings (4.0%) 
• Affordable home ownership = 7,826 

dwellings (12.4%)
• Market housing = 44,303 dwellings 

(69.9%); and 
• 2,221 dwellings that would be counted 

against the minimum LHN target (para 
14)

Breakdown per Planning Authority 

Breakdown in Tewkesbury

3.11 Employment Needs

Recent evidence on economic needs 
alongside with an analysis of existing 
employment have informed the evolution 
of the Concept Plan and the identification 
of employment sites. 

Employment Location & Potential

Tewkesbury is regarded as a prime 
employment location. It supports a range 
of high skilled companies working in high 
tech and innovation sectors. It is also close 
to universities. 

The current supply of employment premises 
in the Tewkesbury area is extremely 
limited. One of the JCS aims in planning 
for strategic economic growth is to enable 
existing businesses to expand/combine 
their locations, and attract similar kinds of 
businesses to move to the area.

Tewkesbury has experienced strong 
population and jobs growth over the last 
15-20 years. Between the Censuses of 
2001 and 2011 the population grew by 17% 
and employment by 20%.  These growth 
trends have continued since 2011. The area 
plays an increasingly significant role as 
an economic hub, centred around junction 
9 of the M5. Strong market demand from 
employment occupiers is long standing 
and there is a current shortage of readily 
available employment land which is 
limiting the opportunity for both new 
occupiers to locate at Tewkesbury and 
existing occupiers to expand in the area. 

While the adopted planning policy supports 
employment growth in Tewkesbury, the 
JCS Review will identify suitable future 
employment sites.

Gloucestershire Economic Needs 
Assessment (August, 2020)

Cheltenham, Gloucester, Tewkesbury, 
and Stroud are a single Functional 
Economic Market Area (FEMA). Currently, 
Tewkesbury Borough has an important 
role in manufacturing (21.7% of jobs in 
Tewkesbury) and aerospace.

It is important to provide sufficient land 
for natural growth and expansion, but 
at present it is not clear what the scale 
might be and the distribution sector 
rapidly evolving. It is therefore necessary 
to include flexibility in the supply to 
adapt to changing requirements. There is 
also a need to provide ancillary uses at 
employment locations – retail, leisure and 
amenities.

Three areas of economy are particularly 
important for Tewkesbury:

• Manufacturing: show a worsening 
rate of decline of between -0.9% to 
-1.8% per annum.  This results in a 
net loss of between 5,400 and 10,900 
manufacturing jobs over the forecasting 
period – equivalent to a loss of 15-30%. 

• Energy: strong growth in the sector and 
forecasts forward a jobs growth of a 
further 3,000 jobs over the period 2021-
41 

• Computer programming and IT: strong 
growth

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

32

Cheltenham 10,720

Cotswold 9,800

Forest of Dean 7,440

Gloucester 13,120

Stroud 12,760

Tewkesbury 11,720

154



Labour Demand & Labour Supply

The labour supply growth scenario is 
considered to provide a realistic yet 
positive estimate for future employment 
land needs in Gloucestershire. It aligns with 
demographic growth and takes account 
of recent growth trends, stakeholder 
feedback, and the LEP’s Local industrial 
strategy. It is therefore considered to 
provide a positive basis for planning 
to ensure that future business needs of 
Gloucestershire are provided for.  

There is a need for sites which are 
deliverable immediately or in the short 
term. This requires allocation of a range of 
site sizes.  In terms of size requirements, 
there is an identified shortage of medium 
size units in the 25,000-40,000 sqft 
range, and there is a steady demand for 
smaller units of around 1,000-5,000 sqft 
in most areas. This means the demand 
for employment land will be to include 
smaller sites at the existing employment 
locations, close to the motorway junctions 
or strategic road network, and close to the 
existing workforce. 

GFirst LEP Draft Local Industrial Strategy 
(LIS) 2019

The GFirst LEP was established in 2011 as 
one of 38 Local Enterprise Partnerships in 
England. Its sphere of influence covers the 
country of Gloucestershire and the local 
authorities of Gloucester, Cheltenham, 
Tewkesbury, Stroud, Cotswold and Forest 
of Dean. 

The LEP’s ambition through this strategy is 
to promote Gloucestershire as a “magnet 
county” able to successfully attract and 
retain talent in the region. Being a ‘magnet 
county’ will mean ensuring young people 
will have affordable and sustainable 
housing to live in. At a Gloucestershire 
wide level, future growth is expected 
to particularly focus upon its existing 
industrial strengths including: 

• Manufacturing – Gloucestershire 
is home to an important cluster of 
product manufacturing businesses 
including hydraulics, valves, pumps and 
associated electronic components. 

• Aerospace – The presence of major 
aerospace companies co-located 
in the Tewkesbury Borough offers 
opportunities for companies to draw on 
a cluster of technical expertise. 

• Agri-tech – Gloucestershire has various 
strategically important Agri-Tech 
assets in the region including the 
Royal Agricultural University, Hartpury 
University and College, and the Agri-
food Campden BRI. The LEP seeks to 
build upon these in part through the 
creation of an ‘advanced Agri-tech’ hub. 

• Cyber-tech – Further explore 
opportunities to build upon the presence 
of GCHQ and align with the governments 
‘Grand Challenge for AI & the Data 
Economy’. Specific ambitions include 
expanding the successfully established 
‘Growth Hub Network’, to deliver a 
“cyber centric” business park adjacent 
to GCHQ (Golden Valley Development) 
and to further develop workforce skills 
to support this. 

• Green Growth – The LEP seeks to 
establish Gloucestershire as a leader in 
sustainable growth through a focus on 
the natural capital assets of the county. 

Gloucestershire’s future garden towns and 
villages will put green energy and green 
construction at the heart of their design.

Employment Land Needs by Local Authority 2021-2041 (ha)

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

33

155



3.12 Social Infrastructure Needs

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

34

An initial approach to the Social 
Infrastructure requirements has been 
proposed based on plans and/or industry 
standards. An approximate numbers based 
on the 10,195 target have been defined. 
However further work will determine the 
exact requirements subject to further 
engagement with relevant authorities.

Primary School Secondary School 

Places FEs 
equivalent Places FEs  

equivalent
4,200 20 FE 2,100 14 FE

To deliver the school requirements, the 
following site sizes have been assumed 
in the Concept Plan based on the 
Department for Education's (DfE) 2019 
report on Education Provision in Garden 
communities. All are minimum, and it is 
common to allow for some expansion 
room – for example a 2FE school would be 
provided on a site which can be expanded 
to 3FE at  a later date if the requirement 
arises.

       Minimum Site Sizes

Primary – minimum sizes, range 
indicates whether or not Early Years 
provision is made on-site.
2FE*  (420 places) 1.8ha to 2.0ha
3F(630 places): 2.6ha to 2.8ha
4FE (840 places): 3.2ha to 3.4ha

Secondary – minimum size for 11-16:
5 FE (750 places):            5.8 hectares
6 FE (900 places):            6.8 hectares
7 FE (1,050 places):        7.7 hectares
8 FE (1,200 places):        8.7 hectares
9 FE (1,350 places):        9.6 hectares

   
*1FE is below the size which DfE suggests 
is viable, so generally a new school will be 
2FE.

Primary schools space 
requirements (ha)

7 x 3FE primary (2.6ha 
to 2.8ha each) 

Secondary school space 
requirements (ha)

2 x 7-8FE (7.7ha to 
8.7ha each)

School Provision 

The Gloucestershire County Council Pupil 
Product Ratios Report (2019) sets out pupil 
product ratios for new housing supported 
by two studies in 2018 and 2019. In this 
instance the ratios for each 100 dwellings 
will be: 

• 30 Pre-school children 
• 41 primary school children
• 20 secondary school children (11-15) 
• 7 post 16 children (16-18) 

Based on these yields the required Primary 
School and Secondary School places and 
Forms of Entry (FE) for the Concept Plan 
for 10,195 dwellings are presented in the 
table below. 

Leisure and community facilities

There are a range of other social and 
community facilities which will be planned 
into the local centres and green spaces 
within the Garden Town. These include:

• Community halls

• Library

• Swimming pool

• Sports Halls

• Playing pitches

• Other outdoor sports spaces

• Play space

Medical Centre

Initial discussions with the NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group have determined the requirements 
for a medical centre. A new medical centre 
to serve 20,000 new patients would be 
required with a floor area of approximately 
1,500sqm over 2 floors. The building would 
include a GP surgery, a pharmacy and 
dentist, with a site of approximately 0.5ha 
required. 

There are a range of delivery options for 
this facility and this would be determined 
through a business case with the 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group. It is suggested that the medical 
centre building is constructed during the 
early phases of the Garden Town, however 
the building would not be fully occupied to 
start with.

Overall School Requirement (ha)

It is worth noting that Gloucestershire 
County Council consulted on a Local 
Development Guide in April 2020 and 
is due to adopt an amended version in 
March 2021. This guide suggests that the 
Child Yield and Pupil Products will be 
updated annually and this will need to 
be considered during the delivery of the 
Concept Plan.

156



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

35

157



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

36

158



4     Concept Plan

159



4.1 Concept Plan - Tewkesbury

The spatial strategy for the evolution of 
the Concept Plan has been determined 
by the constraints and opportunities 
within the study area. In particular the 
emerging evidence for the JCS Review 
supports the need for strategic growth in 
the Tewkesbury area. The evolution of the 
Concept Plan shows a strategic and holistic 
approach to the delivery of a Tewkesbury 
Garden Town with 10,195 homes and 100 ha 
of employment land. 
Areas for housing are located adjacent 
to the existing built up areas and close 
to new/improved transport connections. 
The aim is to create a compact area 
for development, utilise existing 
infrastructure and avoid unnecessary 
urban sprawl. While it is important that 
existing rural settlements are physically 
and socially part of the Garden Town, 
the spatial arrangement seeks to respect 
the character and identity of these 
settlements. 
The future A46 strategic realignment work 
is exploring options to locate this dual 
carriageway south of J9. While the exact 
route option has not yet been confirmed, 
to meet the Garden Town requirements 
a new link south of J9 would better 
unlock development. The evolution of 
the Concept Plan therefore assumes this 
will be to the south of J9 and that there 
will be connections from this new road 
to the Garden Town employment and 
housing areas. The realignment of the 
A46 and the removal of strategic traffic 
movements through the area, will allow for 
the existing A46 road to be transformed 
into a sustainable transport corridor 
with dedicated bus, cycle and pedestrian 
infrastructure.

The location of the new employment 
areas have therefore been located to the 
south of the Garden Town. An employment 
area is proposed in the south east of the 
Garden Town, on the basis that a new 
A46 alignment route to the south would 
best unlock development. An additional 
area of employment land between the M5 
and the rail line and north of Fiddington 
is proposed. The eastern portion of the 
MOD site, which could be available during 
phase 1, could be mixed use, including 
employment uses.
Connections to the existing train 
station and densities within walking/
cycling distance from the station will 
be maximised. It is assumed that 
train services and frequencies will be 
significantly improved as part of the 
long term Garden Town development. 
Facilities around the station will need to be 
provided, including car parking, walking, 
cycling and bus connections, ancillary 
retail/cafe, toilets and station buildings. 
A local centre is proposed on the eastern 
side of the railway tracks near St Nicholas 
Church. This could include local retail/
cafes, community centre and the medical 
centre.

The design for the Garden Town works 
with the existing landscape, water courses 
and natural environment and this has 
underpinned the spatial approach to the 
Concept Plan. In line with Tewkesbury 
Borough Council planning policy and 
through engagement with the Environment 
Agency, the evolution of the Concept Plan 
has ensured all development areas have 
avoided flood plains and incorporates 
large areas of green space to attenuate 
surface water through sustainable urban 
drainage systems (SuDs). 
The spatial arrangement seeks to create 
green wedges to break up the development 
into neighbourhoods. These green areas 
and the urban form seek to work with 
the topography and landscape character 
including hedgerow and agricultural field 
patterns. This green infrastructure will 
also provide natural areas to improve 
biodiversity as well as a wide range 
of leisure, well-being and recreational 
facilities for local people.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

38

160



Teddington Hands 
Roundabout

Station

Tewkesbury

Phase 1

Fiddington

Pamington

Aston on Carrant

J9

A435

B4079

B4079

Approved Housing

Approved Housing

Proposed Future  
Employment Area

Proposed Future  
Housing Area

A46

500 m 1 km 2 km

Key

Housing
Approved Housing
Employment
Retail
Proposed Housing
Proposed Employment
Proposed Mixed Use

Phase 1 (235 ha gross)

Tirle Brook

Carrant Brook

Figure 28:  Tewkesbury Garden Town Concept Plan in context

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

39

161



Tewkesbury Garden Town

A more detailed spatial arrangement 
for the Garden Town is shown opposite. 
It illustrates how green areas will be 
integrated within the Garden Town, with 
the aim to design with sensitivity around 
existing villages and the natural landscape.
The location of the Station Centre, 
Ashchurch Local Centre and further 
Neighbourhood Centres are shown, along 
with potential locations for schools and the 
medical centre.
The design of the plan seeks to respect 
the natural setting as much as possible, 
preserving hedgerows working with the 
topography and drainage. A network of 
local centres area proposed to ensure  
walkable communities are created, with 
local centres within a ten minute walk.  
There are several consented developments 
at Fiddington, and areas south of the 
A46, as well as a new retail area south 
of the Ashchurch Business Centre. These 
developments have been incorporated 
within the Concept Plan for the Garden 
Town proposals.

 

Two new employment areas and several 
new housing locations are proposed to the 
north and south of the existing Ashchurch 
area.  Green corridors will exist throughout 
the area to ensure that residents have 
ample opportunity to access local nature, 
and they will also act as part of a wider 
strategy for a range of small and large-
scale sustainable urban drainage systems.
The new employment areas will be located 
at the southern end of the Garden Town, 
and both will be accessible from a future 
transport corridor which links to the M5.  
New residential areas will be at Mitton, 
North of Northway, North of the existing 
MOD site, the Overbury Estate east of 
the existing MOD Base, as well as to the 
south of Pamington Village and north of 
Fiddington Village.  

4.2 Concept Plan - Garden Town

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

40

162



Northway

Mitton

Newtown
Pamington

Aston on Carrant

Ashchurch 
Business 

Centre

Tewkesbury 
Business Park

Fiddington

Employment 
Area Future

Employment 
Area

Station 
Centre B

4079

A438

A46
MOD

Sustainable Movement Corrid
or

Teddington Hands

Roundabout

Pedestrian
Connectivity

Connections to Future 
Transport Corridor

Figure 29:  Tewkesbury 
Garden Town Concept Plan

Wheatpieces

Existing Employment
Existing Residential
Existing Retail
Permitted Residential
New Employment
New Residential
Mixed Use
Potential New Retail
Local Centre
School
Medical Centre

Key

Local 
Centre

J9

Tirle Brook

Carrant Brook

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

41

163



Respecting Existing Communities

The Tewkesbury Garden Town will 
accommodate a large number of new 
residents in a sustainable and careful 
managed way. The masterplan ensures that 
the spatial layout of development respects 
existing communities and settlements 
and the provision of community facilities 
will help integrate existing and new 
communities. 

In addition to this, all development will 
follow good urban design principles to 
ensure that future development adheres 
to respectful scales and densities, is 
attractive in design and character, and is in 
a layout that reflects the local built form.

Reflecting the Local Character of 
Ashchurch Rural Parish

Ashchurch Rural Parish is a pastoral 
and green area and these qualities are 
important to local residents.  The Garden 
Town will provide 10,195 new houses but 
it will do this in the most sensitive and 
sustainable way possible, protecting 
mature trees, hedgerows, local walking 
paths, and large amounts of land next to 
the two brooks that flow through the site.

The Masterplan will reflect on these 
qualities and ensure that new development 
is done in a sustainable manner, with 
large areas of land dedicated to green 
infrastructure, and a design which will 
encourage cycling and walking wherever 
possible.  

4.3 Respect Existing Communities and Reflect Local Character

Existing Character of Ashchurch

Celebrating Local Character

Northway is an established residential 
neighbourhood which is bounded by the 
railway line to the east, Hardwick Bank 
Road to the north and M5 to the west . The 
masterplan includes a new neighbourhood 
to the north of Hardwick Bank Road which 
is accessed via a new road and bridge over 
the railway line. This neighbourhood will 
include a new neighbourhood centre and 
primary school.  

NORTHWAY

Northway

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

42

164



Pamington is a small village with a mixture 
of housing types with new houses mixed 
being built in a sympathetic manner to the 
existing character within the settlement.  
New development within the Garden 
Town will respect the scale and form and 
there will be a green setback from the 
village to any new development. Access 
to Pamington is via an 'access only' lane 
connected to the A46 at its western end 
and the B4079 at the east. 

The masterplan will ensure that this access 
only lane remains as such and that new 
development does not cause additional 
congestion within the settlement. 

A small settlement lying in the south of the 
parish, defined by the central manor which 
was once a manor of Tewkesbury Abbey. 
Rich in history and settled maturely into 
the landscape, the houses surrounding 
the manor are also mature with gardens 
extending well out to the front and backs 
of the properties.

A very large setback is proposed between 
the Fiddington Employment Area and 
Fiddington village, ensuring its character 
and peaceful qualities are preserved.

Aston on Carrant is a rural settlement  
bordered by the Carrant Brook and 
a disused railway track.  It has a rich 
historical stock of houses dating as far 
back as the 11th Century. The National 
Cycle Network route passes through the 
area. 

New development occurring to the south of 
Aston on Carrant should respect the scale 
and character to the existing village and 
not negatively impact on traffic within the 
village.

Ashchurch is the current heart of the 
wider community with the Rail Station 
and the A46 coming together.  The A46 is 
a strategic route and it connects the M5, 
through Evesham on to the M42 and then 
the M1.  It is anticipated that the busy 
nature of this road will change once a new 
route for traffic is provided further south, 
and the character of this local centre 
can change to become more focused 
on community needs.  The masterplan 
envisions the area surrounding St Nicholas' 
Church remaining as a focal point for the 
community, with good connections to a 
new larger Local Centre for the Tewkesbury 
Garden Town located just south of Tirle 
Brook. 

ASTON ON CARRANTASHCHURCH FIDDINGTON

 Fiddington Village

VillageVillage

Fiddington 
Employment  

Area

New 
Residential 

Area
New 

Residential 
Area

Ashchurch

PAMINGTON

Large 
Setback

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

43

165



Inspired by the Local Identity

The Garden Town will support the existing 
unique identity and character through 
conserving and enhancing features of 
the local villages and landscape features 
of rural areas and as well as creating 
opportunities for people to interact with 
art, culture and community green spaces.  
There is the opportunity to create a strong 
new character for Tewesbury Garden Town 
while respecting the character of existing 
settlements and drawing influence from 
the historic environment.
High quality urban design will be 
prominent throughout the Garden Town, 
and local heritage will be preserved.  The 
local hedgerows will be preserved as much 
as possible, and the field patterns of the 
rural areas will help to shape the urban 
form.  
Architectural forms for new development 
will be contemporary and designed using 
sustainable methods but will be inspired 
by the local context, using local materials 
where possible.  This will include building 
in a similar scale and character adjacent 
to existing villages, with green spaces 
that are protected and enhanced. Within 
the new Garden Town modern building 
typologies and urban form will contribute 
to a distinct character, while respecting the 
existing local context.

Designing Places to Gather

The garden town will have multi-purpose 
community spaces integrated with local 
and neighbourhood centres, and will 
promote local landmarks as appropriate.  
Each new neighbourhood will have a 
local centre which will be a focal point for 
gathering.  
Wayfinding will promote walking and 
cycling wherever possible, and will be 
integrated with local centres, public 
transport, and other key destinations 
within the community.  
Public spaces throughout the Garden Town 
will be animated with public art, local 
landscape features such as mature trees, 
and promote local cultural and community 
events such as markets, performance 
spaces, and sporting events.     
These elements will give life to the 
community and bring local residents 
together.  

4.4 A strong identity and character of place

local places for residents building in a similar scale

high quality landscape inspired by local materials and design

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

44

166



Key to the success of the masterplan is 
that new developments are underpinned by 
strong and appropriate design objectives 
to achieve the quality that make the 
Tewkesbury area a place people aspire to 
live. New development will be expected to 
meet the National Design Code: Planning 
practice guidance for beautiful, enduring 
and successful places (2021). Ways in which 
this could be achieved within Garden Town 
include:
• A place that blends into nature
• Make the most of surrounding landscape 

views 
• Permeable and legible street pattern, to 

ensure ease of movement and promote 
sustainable transport

• Locally appropriate building scale and 
massing 

• Sensitive roofscape
• High quality landscape and public realm
• Building frontages interacting with 

streets
• Balance of private/ semi-private/ public 

spaces
• Variety in architectural character 
• A range of building typologies to suit a 

wider demographic
• Balanced mix of uses complementing 

the residential offer

variety in scale and massingsustainable transport high quality landscape

private/ semi-private/ public

National Design Code

nature and views

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

45

167



Ensuring careful management of a 
precious resource

As stewardship and management of water 
becomes increasingly important in this 
era of climate change, the Garden Town 
will ensure that water management is at 
the forefront of design and development 
decisions.  

The Garden Town will ensure an 
interconnected blue-green infrastructure 
network to build climate resilience. This 
will be achieved through natural water 
retention and re-use techniques as well 
by promoting a more liveable urban 
environment.   A range of small and large 
scale Sustainable urban Drainage systems 
will be incorporated to attenuate surface 
water runoff so to not have a detrimental 
impact off site.  It is often possible that 
during dry seasons, these areas can be for 
recreational purposes.  These blue-green 
corridors exist throughout the site, and will 
link communities to the two watercourses 
(Carrant Brook and Tirle Brook) that pass 
through the Garden Town.

4.5  Interconnected blue infrastructure celebrating water

A drainage basin (dry) being used for recreational benefit, Surrey

Larger swales for higher water levels when required

Embracing Sustainable Drainage Systems

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) will 
be positioned throughout the Garden Town 
and designed to allow for the impacts of 
climate change to restrict surface water 
flows leaving the development as to not 
have a detrimental impact off site. These 
can include rain gardens, permeable 
paving, swales, and detention basins. All 
of these will provide multiple benefits 
including improved water quantity, quality, 
amenity, and biodiversity. Key components 
of this strategy will include:

• Attenuation provided at source, i.e. 
within each development plot, to 
minimise downstream impacts 

• Future-proofed development by 
providing ample attenuation storage 
(with allowance of 70% increase  in 
rainfall intensity due to climate change) 

• Maximise permeable surfaces, to 
promote the infiltration of rainwater into 
the underlying ground

• Rainwater harvesting systems to collect 
and re-use rainwater for irrigation and 
non-potable uses (therefore reducing 
potable water demand)

• Watercourses on site to be retained and 
improved/re-naturalised. The possibility 
of improving watercourse capacity to 
alleviate flood risk within and outside 
the development to be explored where 
applicable

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

46

168



Climate Change and other environmental 
factors have increased the likelihood of 
flooding in Britain, and 2007 saw some 
of the most damaging floods in many 
decades in Tewkesbury. Tewkesbury is 
particularly vulnerable to flooding because 
of its geographical location at the meeting 
point of two sizeable rivers: the Severn and 
the Avon.  The Garden Town area has the 
Carrant Brook and the Tirle Brook running 
within its boundary, and these are very 
susceptible to flooding as well.  
In planning future growth, it is important 
to manage the risk of future flooding.   
Managing the risk requires not one, but 
many, approaches. No floodplain within 
the Tewkesbury Garden Town will be built 
upon, and in addition to this, low lying 
areas leading to floodplains will also be 
designated as green areas, which can act 
as large scale sustainable urban drainage 
systems when required.
Environmental Agency flood modelling 
has been analysed to establish broad 
categories of fluvial flood risk as well as 
rainwater flood risk.  In addition, runoff 
routes and general ponding areas have 
been surveyed to establish areas where no 
development should occur.  This planning 
has also been used to create the open 
space strategy for the Garden Town.

Figure 30: Environmental Agency Flood Risk for 
Northern and Eastern Area

Figure 31: Environmental Agency Flood Risk for Southern 
and Eastern Area

Fluvial + Storm Flood Area
Large scale Sustainable 
urban Drainage Systems

Key

Tirle Brook

Carrant Brook

Figure 32: Flood Areas and Strategic SuDs

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

47

169



Aiming for Carbon Zero

The Garden Town will help contribute to 
a carbon neutral future and build climate 
resilience from construction to occupation 
through sustainable materials and 
construction techniques, renewable energy 
measures, sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) within a comprehensive blue-green 
infrastructure network.

Approaches to design should demonstrate 
that each step of the energy hierarchy 
set out in Figure 34 has been followed 
whilst also ensuring the incorporation of 
low and zero carbon (LZC) technologies 
and clear commitments to comprehensive 
energy monitoring and transparency of 
performance.

Climate Resilience

The masterplan incorporates several good 
practice suggestions by Natural England 
and the Environment Agency with respect 
to building in a responsible, resilient 
manner.  

This is a landscape-led approach which 
uses blue-green systems to help shape 
development, considering nature first and 
building second.  This holistic approach 
is guided by systems thinking and social 
justice, and creates flood resilience by 
keeping flood risk at tolerable levels 
while managing water and using the 
opportunities it creates to help benefit 
the community, while capturing the full 
financial, natural and social benefits of 
developing in this way.

Community spaces, including parks, sports 
and recreation facilities, community 
gardens and allotments, and other 
amenities can all be placed in lower level 
flood risk and water catchment areas.  
This protects existing landscape assets at 
both the wider and local level, and reduces 
costs of climate change mitigation while 
connecting residents with nature and 
enhancing local ecology.  

On the wider scale this landscape 
strategy takes  flooding, the blue-green 
infrastructure and natural systems into 
account, while tying into Natural England's 
National Character Area 106: Severn and 
Avon Vales. The Garden Town development 
plots and the location of green spaces 
are shaped by the existing landscape 
morphologies. It will enhance and utilise 
the main riparian corridors along the 
Carrant and Tirle Brooks which run through 
the Garden Town to have wide buffers, 
wetland creation and meadows. This 

4.6 Building sustainability for climate resilience

Figure 33: The Energy Hierarchy 

The Garden Town will propose that Passive 
House design techniques, which include 
double or triple insulated glazing and 
super insulation, be implemented wherever 
possible, as well as using local and energy-
efficient building materials and design 
features for to help contribute to zero-
carbon and energy-positive development.

Other measures to be considered include 
the integration of photovoltaic panels (PV) 
on houses and apartment buildings, block 
level energy grids and monitoring schemes, 
localised smart grids and smart meters for 
smaller scale communities or individually 
owned energy generation facilities.

A detailed Sustainability Strategy will be 
developed for the Tewkesbury Garden 
Town. 

minimises flood risk and allows for natural 
surface drainage.

Through development there are also 
opportunities to address systemic 
environmental issues with design. These 
include:

• Soil stabilisation and creation
• Pollutant mitigation
• Water purification
• Intensive agriculture mitigation
• Carbon offsetting
• Local scale strategies 
On the local level, this strategy protects 
existing trees, hedgerows, field patterns 
and natural green morphology where 
possible. It also creates high quality green 
infrastructure which has both natural 
capital value and educational, recreational 
and health benefits.  

A network of footways and quiet lanes will 
help to preserve  the rural character of this 
unique landscape, and give all residents 
access to green spaces. 

Access to the natural environment and 
an emphasis on the play and recreational 
value of green spaces will create an 
environment that encourages active 
lifestyles and living in harmony with nature.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

48

170



Channel Park
Neighbourhood Park
Existing Farmland

Key

SUDS Park

Flood Zone 2-3

Brook

Green Boulevard

Pedestrian Route

Tirle Brook

Carrant Brook

Figure 34: Green/Blue Spatial Strategy

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

49

171



Nature will be at the heart of Tewkesbury 
Garden Town. In order to maximise 
the health and wellbeing benefits of 
green infrastructure, an ecologically 
rich landscape network that links to the 
Cotswolds AONB (Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty) to the Garden Town will be 
created.  In addition to this, there will be 
a wide variety of green spaces, including 
allotments, green corridors, natural play 
areas and large open spaces.  Many of 
these green spaces will also facilitate a 
natural approach to water management 
during storm events.

Garden Town principles aim for more 
than 50% of the Garden Town area 
being allocated to green infrastructure 
and this has been incorporated into the 
evolution of the Concept Plan. Green 
infrastructure should include a network 
of multifunctional, well managed, high-
quality open spaces linked to the wider 
countryside and at least half should be 
public. This will include large swales of 
green infrastructure, secondary green 
spaces such as community gardens, 
as well as private back gardens within 
development plots.

4.7  Fantastic green spaces for people and wildlife

Green Infrastructure will form the 
backbone of the development and provides 
the means to connect people, place and 
nature together. The development blocks 
will be arranged to promote walking and 
cycling by creating readily available and 
attractive car-free ‘Greenways’ throughout 
the development. 

Well connected and biodiversity-rich public 
parks will exist within each neighbourhood, 
and these could include formal and 
informal play areas, integrated outdoor 
gyms, lawns or community gardens. In 
addition all development should have a 
biodiversity net gain.

All parks and open spaces should work with 
the Building with Nature guidelines and 
standards, and new boulevards and other 
large roads will be tree-lined.  

Landscape Visual Principles 

The surrounding rural hinterland looks 
down on the site from several historic 
and geologically characterful landscapes. 
In order to respond to these in a novel 
way, the landscape should preserve and 
enhance the scenic beauty of views across 
the Severn and Avon vales. 

Active local parks for a diverse group of residents

Places to connect with nature Places to connect with nature

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

50

172



Formal landscape areas, 
parks with sustainable 
urban drainage systems, 
swales and water 
channels

Natural landscape areas 
with wildflower pollinators

Formal and natural play 
areas, trim trails, cycle 
routes, Strategic 5k run/
walk/cycle route, sports 
pitches

Community gardens 
and food growing

Play Space

A variety of play areas are suggested 
within the garden town:

• Neighbourhood Area of Play (NEAP) 
at 1000m walking distance.  These 
will primarily be for under-6s, with a 
pedestrian route from homes.  These will 
be well-drained with an area of at least 
100 square meters.  

• Multi Use Games Areas (MUGA) at 700m 
walking distance and Local Equipped 
Area for Play (LEAP) at 500m walking 
distance. These will be well drained and 
hard or grass surfaced with a variety of 
equipment for local children. 

M
ul

ti 

Use Games Area

Lo
ca

l E
quipped Area of Play

N
e

ig
h

b
ou

rh

ood Equipped Area of Play

Green Infrastructure Ideas

Natural Play

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

51

173



The Garden Town will increase connectivity 
and maximise sustainable modes of travel 
throughout Tewkesbury and beyond. 
Enhanced accessibility to the rail station 
and integrated transport systems with 
walking, cycling and bus infrastructure will 
ensure the Garden Town has a sustainable 
movement environment.

For the Garden Town to be successful in 
meeting its aims it is essential to have a 
robust and viable sustainable transport 
strategy. The Concept Plan for the Garden 
Town is designed in a way to ensure 
that neighbourhoods are walkable, with 
adequately and regularly sized urban 
blocks, and a layout that helps to facilitate 
public transport use and cycling/walking. 
The inclusion of homes and employment 
land in the Garden Town presents an 
opportunity to promote local sustainable 
transport movements. 

The key to successfully delivering the 
long-term vision of the Garden Town is to 
consider sustainable transport from the 
earliest design stages as well as delivering 
infrastructure early in the development. 
Taking an approach which prioritises 
sustainable transport ensures that the 
Garden Town does not become a car-
dependent suburban settlement. 
Major highways infrastructure will be 
required to resolve existing strategic 
north-south connectivity issues. While 
this infrastructure will benefit the Garden 
Town, the focus locally will be on achieving 
a sustainable movement environment. As 
the recent Transport for New Homes (2020) 
research has shown, ensuring the viability 
of sustainable infrastructure in garden 
towns is paramount. 

Early delivery of strategic infrastructure, 
together with sustainable movement 
initiatives will help achieve the vision for 
the Garden Town. These interventions 
will provide for road network capacity 
gains, while also contributing to the 
establishment of a sustainable travel 
culture in the long term.
A Sustainable Movement Environment

Tewkesbury Garden Town aims to 
minimise reliance on private cars and 
embed a step-change towards active 
and sustainable transport. It presents an 
attractive, accessible and highly legible 
movement network with optimally located 
housing, employment and leisure facilities.  
Initiatives and interventions proposed by 
the masterplan are explained below.
Land use planning
• Development planned and arranged 

to greatly reduce the need to travel 
beyond the Garden Town area.

• Encouraging a live-work culture
• Providing locally based amenities, 

schools, medical facilities, leisure 
opportunities

• Co-locating land uses where trips may 
be linked / shared

Cultural change
• Promoting the area as a place for active 

travel and sustainable living 
• Identifying and emphasising the 

opportunities for a healthy and 
enjoyable lifestyle

Technological Change and Application
• Maximising the application of relevant 

technologies to optimise the sustainable 
movement environment. 

• Mobility as a Service / Demand 
Responsive transport

4.8 Sustainable wider connectivity

• Application of traffic modelling 
technology to manage road network 
operation and performance according 
to new transport means.

Rail
• Strengthening existing connections with 

more frequent services to make rail 
station considerably more appealing 
to potential rail users and a very 
considerable contributor to sustainable 
transport mode shift in support of 
masterplan delivery.

• Rail improvements - providing a high 
quality station building for passengers 
and cycle / bus interchange facilities 
to further encourage people to rail 
use from private cars for medium-long 
distance travel

Bus
• Bus service improvements - providing 

high quality, reliable and convenient 
services as meaningful and attractive 
alternatives to personal car use for 
short-medium journeys

• Designing bus routes in a way to bring 
people to the station and local centres

Walking and cycling
• A key focus of the masterplan will be 

to actively promote and encourage 
walking and cycling, building on the 
active lifestyles already existent in the 
area.

• Active Travel – further increasing travel 
by cycle and on foot with new walk 
and cycle links connecting key sites, 
amenities, facilities and developments

• Several pedestrian and cycle routes 
will cross the M5 and railway tracks, 
ensuring sustainable connectivity with 
central Tewkesbury.

People-first streets

Streets designed 
for more than 
just cars

Bus priority lanes

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

52

174



Main road axes

The M5 on the eastern border of the 
Garden Town remains an important link for 
all connectivity.  The future A46 strategic 
realignment will also be key to delivering 
the Garden Town.  The route of the future 
A46 has not been determined yet. While 
the exact route option has not yet been 
confirmed, to meet the Garden Town 
requirements a new link south of J9 would 
better unlock development. 
The location of this new road is still in the 
optioneering stage, public consultation will 
be planned in the future. 
The road offers the prospect of:
• providing dedicated development 

access junctions to the new business 
parks and alternative routing options for 
local access and development traffic

• resolve the wider strategic road network 
issues; assisting development access 
via the relieved A46; and reducing 
traffic flows on the A46 to the benefit 
of walking, cycling, bus movement and 
local amenity.

Primary roads

Primary roads within the Garden Town 
such as Northway Lane and the current 
A46 take most of the vehicular traffic 
outside the residential areas. With the 
future A46 realignment in place, the 
present A46 could be transformed into a 
sustainable transport corridor, though it is 
acknowledged the road would still be a key 
highway connection in the local area. 
The road could be re-imagined as a high 
quality, convenient and safe pedestrian, 
cycle and bus corridor connecting the 
Garden Town with Tewkesbury town centre 

and link to the existing train station.  
Opportunities for greening along the route 
should be explored and the route designed 
to be adaptable to accommodate  future 
movement patterns and needs.  

Teddington Hands 
Roundabout

Rail 
Station

Tewkesbury

Fiddington

Pamington

Aston on Carrant

J9

A435

B4079

B4079

Mitton

A46

500 m 1 km 2 km

Key

M5 Motorway
Major Road (A & B)
Indicative Future A46 Route
Indicative Secondary Road

The roads plan shown above illustrates a conceptual layout of future minor roads 
which will be designed in detail at a later stage.  The existing A46 will be converted 
into a sustainable movement corridor once the new A46 route is operational. 

Secondary roads

Secondary road network ensures 
connectivity across the neighbourhoods.
Importantly it links the southern part to 
the sustainable movement corridor near 
Pamington.

Tertiary roads

Pedestrian and cycle lanes throughout the 
area, importantly linking the new local 
centre to the station

Figure 35: Strategic 
Road Network

Potential future links to 
strategic road infrastructure

Potential future links to 
strategic road infrastructure

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

53

175



Integrating Live, Work & Play

Tewkesbury Garden Town will be a 
desirable place for living and working that 
can meet the needs of a diverse range of 
people and promote an active lifestyles 
through an appropriate mix of uses and a 
network of neighbourhood centres.

Each neighbourhood will have a centre 
which will have a green space and local 
play area, a school, as well as some 
community retail uses.  Beyond this, a 
larger centre will be walkable for many 
residents and will contain a wider range of 
retail and other social infrastructure uses.  

Two new employment areas are proposed 
in the southern part of the Garden Town, 
and these will be walkable or within a very 
short commute time via public transport or 
private car for local residents as well.

Vision for growth

It  is clear is that from both a commercial 
market and strategic perspective it is vital 
that the masterplan is able to deliver well 
located and readily available employment 
land to enable Tewkesbury to continue 
in its role as a significant engine of the 
Gloucestershire economy as part of the 
M5 Growth Zone. This will complement 
employment opportunity created through 
service activities (retail, education, health, 
leisure etc) across the Tewkesbury Garden 
Town.

4.9 Integrated live-work-play communities

Innovative workplaces

Warehousing

Office campus

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

54

Employment Concept for Tewkesbury

The proposed employment concept has 
been developed based on the employment 
needs assessments and Economic 
strategies summarised in section 3.11 
of this report and engagement with key 
stakeholders. 
The economic focus should capitalise on 
the prominent location next to the M5 and 
excellent access to major markets in Bristol 
and Birmingham. The employment strategy 
will enable existing businesses to expand, 
accommodate new inward investors and 
allow new businesses to grow.  Through 
provision of flexible and readily available 
employment land this will continue to 
support a broad based economy which 
aids resilience whilst supporting key 
opportunity knowledge intensive sectors.  
Based on current activities and strengths 
the new business park should target 
Energy, Engineering, Cyber Security and 
Information Technology related sectors, 
building around existing anchor tenants 
with knowledge intensive and high value 
operations. This creates an opportunity to 
develop a prominent high quality business 
park  with a special focus on technology 
and innovation to complement existing 
mixed industrial and business areas.  
A new high quality employment park must 
deliver the range of supporting facilities 
and amenities that modern occupiers and 
workforce are looking for.  Appropriate 
incubation or innovation centre type 
facilities should also be located on the 
park to support both new and existing 
enterprises with a technology and 
innovation focus.  

Potential employment types in the Garden 
Town

Advanced Engineering and Manufacturing
• This will be the primary focus and the 

key location in Gloucestershire.
• Examples for inspiration include St 

Modwen Park and Waverley Advanced 
Manufacturing Park (Harworth)

Cyber and Digital Technology
• There is still a demand for this sector in 

Tewkesbury and it will link to the main 
hub for in Cheltenham (Golden Valley 
SPD). The Garden Town is a potential 
location for wider supply chain.

• Data Management was determined as a 
specialisation for Tewkesbury.

• Examples for inspiration include West 
Cheltenham Cyber Central Garden 
Community

Agri Tech
• While Agri-tech might not be primary 

employment type, the Garden Town 
is well placed to connect to existing 
agricultural colleges.  There are three 
colleges in Gloucester which are all 
equal distance from Tewkesbury. 

In addition to the growth hub at the 
Council offices, the Garden Town would be 
a good location for another one as well as 
for the development of mini growth hubs.
Skills Training Centre of Excellence to 
compliment the Advanced Engineering and 
Manufacturing would also be suitable.
To prepare for working in the post-Covid 
world,  the masterplan would cater for 
working from home, co-working office and 
growth hub working locations.

176



Local Centres Challenges

Local Centres of all sizes are currently 
undergoing tremendous changes due to a 
variety of short, medium and longer term 
factors.  Throughout the development of 
the Garden Town it will be important to 
understand these changes and develop 
bespoke responses to them.  Through 
creative management and stewardship, 
Local Centres can continue to flourish 
and offer a place for the local community 
to shop, socialise, learn, work, and come 
together. Integration and diversity of 
people, functions, and spaces is key to 
ensuring Local Centres are active places of 
civic life.  
It is envisioned that the Local and 
Neighbourhood Centres in the Garden 
Town will service the needs of all social 
groups;  the elderly, students and children, 
families of all sizes, young people as well 
as working professionals. 

Medium Term
• Planning Policy
• Local 

Institutional 
Support

• Alternative 
trading formats

Longer Term
• Demographics
• Aging
• Diversity
• Polarisation
• Leisure Demands

Digitalisation
• Internet Sales
• Networking
• Social Media

Convenience Culture
• Ease of access
• Instant availability
• One Stop Shop
• Localised 

convenience

Short Term
• Declining 

spending power
• Market 

confidence
• Economic 

distribution
• COVID-19

Shopping Community 
Facilities

Culture

Work
Living

Leisure
Public 

Services

A Viable  
Town  

Centre

Local Centres need to be multi-functional 
to work properly.

Key considerations for how the Tewkesbury 
Garden Town Local Centres could respond 
to future challenges and changes:
• Meanwhile Uses - Markets, temporary 

venues, workshops, and similar 
programmes can increase activity and 
generate interest.

• Address conflicts - Ensure that uses are 
not repeated or competing with other 
Town, Local or Neighbourhood Centres.

• Create Community Ownership - Foster 
a sense of civic pride and ownership of 
public spaces and venues

• Affordability - Development needs to be 
viable and deliverable

• Planning as a Tool - Planning can be a 
positive tool to encourage viability, and 
not just a control mechanism

• Define responsibility - Ensure 
accountability, stewardship and 
management

Local retail farmers market

Reuse of historic buildings

Small makers spaces

Local Town 
Square

Community facilities

Schools

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

55

177



NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

NEIGHBOUROOD 
CENTRE

250 500 m 1 km

GARDEN TOWN 
LOCAL CENTRE

GARDEN TOWN 
LOCAL CENTRE 

1 km walking radius

HISTORIC STATION  
CENTRE 

750 m walking radius

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
CENTRE 

500 m walking radius

HISTORIC STATION 
CENTRE

Garden Towns Centres Strategy

A robust strategy for centres is proposed 
for Tewkesbury Garden Town.  This allows 
for Local and Neighbourhood Centres to 
be diverse and vary in size, while providing 
essential access to goods, services, 
schools, recreation, culture, arts and 
community facilities. 

10.0 ha + Town Park

4 ha + St Nicholas 
Church

0.5-1.0 ha - varies 
depending on location

Figure 36: Local Centres Strategy

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

56

178



Artist's impression of 
two local centres

500m

900m

HISTORIC STATION 
CENTRE

St Nicholas' 
Church

GARDEN TOWN 
LOCAL CENTRE

Garden Town Local Centre

The Garden Town Local Centre could be 
servicing 10,195 dwellings, and therefore 
could support a mix of retail, cafes/
restaurants, employment, community, 
leisure, education, civic and residential 
uses. This centre would be the primary 
local centre for the Garden Town and 
would seek to complement the existing 
Tewkesbury Town Centre. 
This new local centre is proposed to the 
south of the A46 and in close proximity to 
the train station.  An indicative 12 minute 
walking catchment (1km) is shown from 
this centre. It will be highly accessible by 
walking and cycling and located between 
two large greenways.
Whereas Tewkesbury Town Centre will 
maintain its role as the main historic town 
centre, the Garden Town Local Centre 
will have its own distinct identity as the 
new contemporary core of the emerging 
community. This identity will be strongly 
related to the new businesses and 
opportunities coming forward in the area 
with a more commercial focus.

Historic Station Centre

A complimentary but smaller local centre 
is also proposed around the existing rail 
station. At the centre Historic Station 
Centre is the train station and St Nicholas’ 
Church. This will provide a community 
focused local centre for the Garden Town 
while also providing commuter orientated 
uses and facilities. The future planned 
improved train services from the station, 
make this location ideal for a mix of 
uses that could meet smaller scale local 
employment need and include community 
facilities, local shops/cafes and housing as 
well as a new medical centre. 
Pedestrian/cycle friendly east-west links 
over the rail line could be provided, 
along with an enhanced setting for St. 
Nicholas' Church. This building is a source 
of community identity and a traditional 
anchor for what could become a re-
imagined ‘village green’. This could include 
the reuse of existing buildings (e.g. historic 
agricultural buildings) to accommodate 
new uses and to create a distinctive and 
recognisable character. 
Neighbourhood Centres 

A further network of seven neighbourhood 
centres within the surrounding new housing 
developments will provide facilities closer 
to homes for residents.  These centres 
should cater for the day to day needs of 
development, and are paired with local 
schools.  These can include local public 
spaces and a small clusters of convenience 
retail and other useful local services. 
The Neighbourhood centres will serve a 
localised catchment and will mostly be 
accessible by walking and cycling. From 
these, the majority of new residential 
areas are accessible within a 5 minute walk 
(500m) from these centres. 

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

57

179



Tewkesbury Garden Town will provide a mix 
of housing types and tenures to encourage 
diverse communities.   Each neighbourhood 
will have beautifully designed homes to 
create attractive, stimulating and healthy 
communities.
As set out in the National Design Guide 
well-designed homes and buildings are 
functional, accessible and sustainable. 
Well-designed homes and buildings:
•  provide good quality internal and 

external environments for their users, 
promoting health and well-being; 

•  relate positively to the private, shared 
and public spaces around them, 
contributing to social interaction and 
inclusion; and

•  resolve the details of operation and 
servicing so that they are unobtrusive 
and well-integrated into their 
neighbourhoods.

Each community will have areas of higher 
and lower density to create a mix of 
housing types and character.  A variety 
of tenures will ensure that communities 
are mixed and socially inclusive.  Each 
neighbourhood will also have a local green 
space with recreational amenities, as well 
as access to a wider network of green 
corridors and larger parks.

4.10 Mixed-tenure homes, housing types and densities for diverse communities

Dwellings should be delivered through 
starter homes, Private Rented Scheme 
(PRS) model (possibly council-led), 
community housing association, shared 
ownership, freehold ownership and plots 
for self-build homes will be considered as 
well.
The mixture of housing typologies will 
include terraced houses, townhouses, semi-
detached houses, detached houses and 
bungalows and/or housing for the elderly.  
Some multi-story apartment buildings will 
be built in areas with the highest public 
transport availability, which includes 
areas around the train station and the new 
Garden Town Local Centre. 

Higher density apartments in certain areas

Contemporary townhouses

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

58

180



A comparison with other best practice 
residential examples across the UK show 
how different density parameters translate 
into architecture to shape places with 
different characteristics.
The examples illustrated on the page 
opposite show a residential density ranging 
from 20 to 50 units/Ha:
Water Colour, Redhill, Surrey, 2007 
(approximately 20 units/Ha)
The 27 ha former sand quarry and 
landfill was transformed into a mixed-
use neighbourhood with an unique sense 
of place and emphasis on sustainability. 
Watercourses are used to create a 
sustainable drainage system and are 
protected as a wildlife corridor. A variety 
of housing designs to relate to individual 
landscape and water character.
Water Colour is a good example of nature-
led design where environmental constraints 
are turned into opportunities.

Poundbury, Dorchester, started 1993 
(approximately 34 units/Ha)
Poundbury is an urban extension to the 
Dorset country town built according to The 
Prince of Wales's 'A Vision of Britain'. The 
architecture of Poundbury is deliberately 
traditional, reflecting the local style as 
an urban extension to Dorchester rather 
than a separate village. The picturesque 
street layout, enclosed public spaces and 
variety of built form create an interesting 
character and an experience of both 
harmony and discord. In Poundbury 
the layout of buildings defined the road 
pattern not vice versa as most modern 
planned settlements.
Poundbury is inspirational for its success 
in creating interest, beauty and reflecting 
local character and identity.

Accordia, Cambridge, started 2003 
(approximately 47 units/Ha) 

Allowed terraces on first and second floors. 
Houses and flats have good-sized, well-
proportioned rooms with views ranging 
from urban to rural. There is space for 
flexible individual house plans but also 
village greens and common land. 
Accordia demonstrates that it is possible 
to deliver high-density with high-quality 
architecture.

Newhall Be, Harlow Essex, completed 
2012 (approximately 50 units/Ha)

Newhall is a significant urban extension 
to the town of Harlow. Both larger family 
homes and high-density courtyard houses 
and townhouses can be found in the 
development, all made with local materials. 
Gardens and roof terraces allow residents 
to access green space and connect 
buildings with the natural context.
Newhall Be exemplifies the approach 
of using design codes to ensure a high 
quality design while allowing flexibility in 
architectural detail. 

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

59

181



Community assets such as parks, 
community halls and leisure facilities are 
vital elements of high-quality, attractive 
places. The management arrangements 
and long-term funding necessary to 
maintain theses elements are important 
considerations for Tewkesbury Garden 
Towns. The Garden Town proposes to 
enable the long term sustainability of the 
garden town through strong community 
stewardship of community assets and 
innovative models for retail, energy and 
housing.

TCPA has provided guidance on the Long 
Term Stewardship (Guide: 9) of Garden 
Towns, which historically were founded on 
the principles community rights, ownership 
and asset management. Letchworth 
Garden City remains a significant example 
of how the long-term stewardship of a 
whole town can work. There are a range 
of types of stewardship bodies – from 
those formed to take on responsibility 
for green space management, to 
management companies and bodies set 
up under the ‘Letchworth model’, in which 
an organisation committed to charitable 
objectives proactively share and reinvest to 
look after a range of community services.

A governance and community stewardship 
model for the Tewkesbury Garden Town will 
be investigated and developed. This will 
support a strong vision and management 
model for  leadership and community 
engagement. This will enable the longer 
term maintenance of the garden town 
assets and could also facilitate local 
community initiatives such as outdoor 
activities, sports and leisure, local arts 
and cultural festivals, food production, 
environmental protection and innovative 
“green living” projects. 

4.11 A social model for sustainability

Community governance through strong 
vision and leadership can also assist in 
building connections and community 
feeling for new residents and foster 
connections with existing Tewkesbury 
residents. Some ideas for community 
initiatives include:

Community Sustainability Performance 
Monitoring

The buy-in and commitment of the Garden 
Town community and residents will be 
key to it's success, particularly where 
behaviour change is needed to achieve 
sustainability goals. Community initiatives 
which include a collective monitoring of 
the whole communities or neighbourhood 
sustainability performance is one way 
in which the this could be achieved. A 
sustainability portal to measure the real-
time performance of the community 
in terms of carbon emissions, energy 
efficient, water management and waste 
management could be created to measure 
progress over time and compare to other 
Garden Town communities.

Community energy generation

Community energy creates access to low-
cost energy as well as social value. In 
simple terms community energy is energy 
generated by a community for the use 
of that community. By pooling resources 
and working together, community energy 
projects allow local communities to access 
cheaper energy and improved energy 
efficiency options, along with adding social 
and economic benefits to local areas.
The cost reductions of renewable energy, 
and advances in technology now make it 
easier than ever to generate community 
energy especially if this is paired with 
support from local authorities. 

Community-led food production

Community gardens encourage people to 
learn to grow food, get active, and make 
new friends, as well as encouraging healthy 
eating. This can be either small scale small-
scale food-growing initiatives along local 
streets, parks or gardens, or community-
owned farms and community-run co-
operatives to provide locally produced 
affordable food. 

Figure 37: Community Energy Vision (Community Energy England)

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

60

182



Templederry Community Windfarm, Ireland

Self build with straw bale, Alison and Stuart Sedgwick-TaylorLow Impact Living Affordable Community (LILAC), Leeds

Community Garden

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

61

183



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

62

184



5     Conclusion and next steps

185



5.1 Development Phasing

An indicative phasing approach has been 
defined which aims to establish a coherent 
strategy for new developments to fit with the 
existing context and the emerging proposals 
around the Garden Town area. This can be 
broken down into the immediate term, with 
planning applications already submitted, a 
short term scenarios matching the local plan 
period, and longer term growth scenarios.
Immediate term (Phase 0)
• The immediate term includes planning 

applications which have already been 
submitted and approved, some of which 
are already under construction. The Mitton 
site is within Wychavon District and 500 
dwellings from this site are included in the 
current JCS housing numbers. 

Short term (Phase 1)
• It extends to 2031, matching the time line 

proposed by the JCS and aiming to deliver 
the shortfall of jobs and homes outlined in 
the document. Road transport upgrades 
would be required to deliver this growth in 
capacity terms, along with the phasing of 
infrastructure including schools. 

Long term (Phase 2)
• It shows potential developments that could 

happen after 2031;
• It includes all the developments whose 

access would be unlocked by the new 
vehicular link to the south; and

• Eventually, it goes further expanding of 
the Garden Town and outlines the final 
masterplan.

• Infrastructure and community facilities 
would be phased as development is 
delivered beyond 2031. 

These phases are illustrated in phasing 
diagram.

Northway

Phase 1

Phase 1

Phase 1

Phase 1

Phase 0

Phase 0

Phase 2

Phase 0

Phase 2
Phase 2

Phase 2

Phase 2

Newtown
Pamington

Aston on Carrant

Ashchurch 
Business 

Centre

Tewkesbury 
Business Park

J9

B
4079

A438

A46
MOD

Teddington Hands
Roundabout

Connections to Future Transport Corridor

Phase 0
Phase 1
Phase 2

Key

Figure 38: Tewkesbury Garden Town Phasing

Phase 0

Mitton

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

64

186



It is expected that around 4,000 new 
homes could be delivered by the end of the 
JCS2 plan period to 2041. 

Delivery of houses would be likely to 
commence around 2024/25 with an 
approximate minimum build rate of 250 
dwellings per year. 

11

2019-2021  
Programme Inception 
Creating the vision and Concept 
Masterplan

Awarded Garden Communities 
status

Nine Development Principles

Engaging key stakeholders in the 
initial vision and opportunity

Ashchurch Bridge key 
infrastructure development 

Creating a Framework Masterplan

Initial conversations with 
landowners 

2021-2023  
Programme Foundation 
Phase 1: land assembly

Phase 1: Framework Masterplan, 
Principles in detail and design 
guidance

Phase 1: planning strategy/policy 
positioning (JCS)

Governance and engagement

Review of Delivery Vehicle options

Enabling infrastructureEnabling infrastructure - 
construction of HIF funded rail 
bridge and wider infrastructure 
needs analysis

2023-2025  
Programme Framework
JCS adoption – formal allocation of 
Garden Town

Master planning (future phases)

Phase 1: planning application

Phase 1: Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Delivery vehicle outcome and 
formation

Enabling infrastructureEnabling infrastructure - completion 
of HIF funded rail bridge and 
construction of link road

2026-2035  
Programme Delivery
Phase 1: development underway

Employment Strategy 

Phase 2: land assembly

Enabling infrastructureEnabling infrastructure -  
delivery of A46 solution and 
strategic requirements (e.g. schools, 
energy and health facilities) 

2035-2050ish… 
Programme Delivery
Phase 1: build-out/completion

Phase 2: strategy, design and 
development

Employment delivery

Stewardship models and 
community governance 

Programme Lifecycle Timeline 
Tewkesbury Garden Town – 30 years in the making

What this means:
Highlighting the need and  
helping others understand the 
future vision for Tewkesbury.

What this means: 
Considering all the elements in 
more detail and getting people 
involved. Creating more of a 
structured plan of action.  

What this means: 
Planning exactly what is 
happening, how it will be 
developed and by whom.

What this means: 
Plans are put in place and 
development actually starts.

What this means:
Creation of new communities 
around new homes, new 
employment, new schools and 
other innovative services.

     2031 2036 2041
Phase 0 and 1 Homes 1250 1250 1500
   

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

65

187



5.2 Summary and Next steps

Moving the Plan Forward

The vision for Tewkesbury Garden Town 
is to deliver sustainable growth. Making 
Tewkesbury the Hub which serves and 
supports the wider Heartland and drives 
the success of the Borough. 
This report sets out how the Tewkesbury 
Garden Town proposal has evolved since 
the earlier Concept Masterplan was issued 
in January 2018 especially taking account 
of recent changes and opportunities.
It demonstrates that Tewkesbury Garden 
Town has potential to deliver sustainable 
strategic growth. It is a ‘living location’ 
able to capitalise on a wonderful mix of 
urban and rural, that can offer business, 
leisure and housing opportunities.
There is a clear opportunity when 
planning for growth at this scale to 
embed sustainable choices at the heart of 
future communities, through urban form, 
movement strategies and integration of 
land uses, which together can encourage a 
fundamental shift in the way occupants will 
live and travel.
From the outset, the development of 
the Tewkesbury Garden Town will plan 
for transformational long-term growth, 
building on the existing strengths of the 
area and prioritising the delivery of new 
strategic infrastructure. The strategy 
can be flexible and incremental, but to 
achieve an exemplar Garden Community 
development, it must be planned in a 
comprehensive manner.

By taking a long-term approach, real 
benefits can be secured for both existing 
and new residents. Strategic growth 
offers a critical mass, able to fund key 
infrastructure improvements and deliver 
comprehensive, high quality design. 
Together, these components can deliver the 
vision.
Strategic growth on this scale requires 
ambition, as well as a positive approach 
that is honest and robust about finding 
solutions to infrastructure needs and 
constraints. The growth of the Tewkesbury 
Garden Town, will require the support and 
collaboration of multiple stakeholders and 
agencies. 
With a clear vision and development 
principles as set out in this document, 
Tewkesbury Borough Council are promoting 
what is considered to be the benefits of 
sustainable and transformational growth in 
this area. This Concept Plan is the first step 
in guiding that transformational growth.

In order to progress Tewkesbury Garden 
Town, the following next steps are under 
consideration:
• Further work on the Employment 

Strategy in conjunction with 
Gloucestershire County Council, GFirst 
LEP and other key partners, especially 
as this work is linked to the A46 offline 
proposals;

• Further development and completion 
of the Framework Masterplan for Phase 
1 of Tewkesbury Garden Town and its 
endorsement though Council, especially 
to support the JCS Review process for 
consideration of allocating the site.

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

66

188



TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION 

67

189



190



6     References

191



Building with Nature https://www.
buildingwithnature.org.uk 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government: Garden Communities 
Prospectus (August 2018)

Homes England: Garden Communities 
Toolkit (September 2019) 

Department for Transport: Manual for 
Streets (2007)

National Design Guide (2021)

Design Council CABE, Home Builders 
Federation and Design for Homes: Building 
for Life 12 (2015)

Town & Country Planning Association: 
Garden City Standards for the 21st 
Century: Practical Guides for Creating 
Successful New Communities - Guide 3: 
Design and Masterplanning (2017).

Department for Education (DfE): Education 
provision in garden communities, April 
2019 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.
uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/909909/Education_
provision_in_garden_communities.pdf

Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs 
Assessment (2019)

Gloucestershire Economic Needs 
Assessment (August, 2020)

GFirst LEP Draft Local Industrial Strategy 
(2019)

Gloucestershire County Council Pupil 
Product Ratios report, 2019 https://
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-
and-environment/planning-policy/
gloucestershire-local-development-guide/

Indices of Deprivation Gloucestershire, 
2019 (Inform) https://inform.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094524/
gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf

Joint Core Strategy (JCS), Adopted 
version,  2017

JCS Review – Options and Issues 
Consultation Document, 2018

Landscape Sensitivity Study for 
Tewkesbury and Ashchurch, Toby Jones 
Associates, DSA, Tewkesbury Borough 
Council, 2017

Tewkesbury Borough Plan (Submission for 
Examination 2020)

Tewkesbury Borough Plan Evidence base:

•  EB012 -  Gloucestershire Strategic 
housing market assessment update 
(October 2013)

•  EB013 - Pre-submission TBP - housing 
background paper (October 2019)

•  EB015a – TBP Assessment of land 
availability report 2018-2019 (August 
2019)

Tewkesbury annual housing monitoring 
report 2018-2019 (2019)

6.1 References

Tewkesbury Five Year Housing Land Supply 
Position Statement (2019)

Transport for New Homes through research 
of 20 garden towns have found Available 
at: https://www.transportfornewhomes.org.
uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/garden-
village-visions.pdf

Understanding Tewkesbury Borough, 
Produced by the Strategic Needs Analysis 
Team, Gloucestershire County Council, 
2015 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.
uk/media/1521548/understanding_
tewkesbury__borough-4.pdf

Urban Flood Resilience, University of 
Notthingham ww.urbanfloodresilience.
ac.uk

https://www.sustainweb.org/foodcoops/

https://cooperation.town/

https://ldn.coop/londons-co-ops/food-co-
ops/

https://www.cds.coop/community-led-
housing//

https://www.green-alliance.org.uk/
resources/Community_Energy_2.0.pdf

Community Energy England, Community 
Energy 2030 Vision (2020)  https://
communityenergyengland.org/

TEWKESBURY GARDEN TOWN CONCEPT PLAN EVOLUTION

70

192



16 Brewhouse Yard
London EC1V 4LJ

020 7812 8000 
www.bdp.com

193



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 6 October 2021

Subject: Homeseeker Plus Sub-Regional Choice Based Lettings 
Allocation Policy

Report of: Head of Community Services

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Lead Member: Lead Member for Housing

Number of Appendices: Two

Executive Summary:
Homeseeker Plus is a choice based lettings (CBL) scheme run by the seven local authorities in 
partnership with social housing landlords operating within Gloucestershire and West 
Oxfordshire.
The seven local authorities are Tewkesbury Borough Council, Gloucester City Council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council, Stroud District Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Cotswold 
District Council and West Oxfordshire District Council.
Demand for affordable social housing within the Homeseeker Plus area is very high and not all 
demand will be able to be met from the available social housing resources.  Only those in the 
highest housing need, with a local connection to the area are likely to obtain housing through 
the Homeseeker Plus scheme.  Each district’s Housing Advice Service will be able to advise on 
a range of housing options including the private rented sector.
The policy explains who is eligible and qualifying to apply on Homeseeker Plus and sets out 
how applications will be assessed based on housing need.  
Due to legislative and other changes the policy is in need of a refresh.  It is considered good 
practice for the partnership to consult the public and associated stakeholders on the new policy.  
The consultation is complete and a final version has been produced.
The appendices to this report contain the final policy and a summary of the responses to 
consultation.

Recommendation:
Subject to any amendments from the Executive Committee the refreshed Homeseeker 
Plus Policy is RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL for adoption in early 2022 at the 
management board’s discretion which Tewkesbury Borough Council is a member.

Reasons for Recommendation:
To ensure an open, transparent and fair process to changes in policy is completed.

Resource Implications: 
The implementation of the new policy will be met within current resources.

194

Agenda Item 10



Legal Implications:
None arising directly from this report.

Risk Management Implications:
Not approving the policy consultation would mean that Tewkesbury Borough Council would be 
out of step with the rest of the Homeseeker Plus partnership and would be treating its clients in a 
different way to other partners.

Performance Management Follow-up:  
The final policy will be presented to each district Council or Cabinet to enable implementation in 
2022.

Environmental Implications: 
None arising directly from this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Homeseeker Plus is a choice based lettings (CBL) scheme run by seven local authorities 
in partnership with the majority of Social Housing Landlords operating within 
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire which enables Social Housing Landlords to 
advertise their homes and for applicants to bid for properties they are interested in.

1.2 To compliment the scheme, and ensure compliance with legislation, local strategies and 
policies and the Statutory Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation a 
Homeseeker Plus policy has been implemented.  

1.3 Other than a major change to the Homeseeker policy in 2016 to include West 
Oxfordshire District Council into the partnership and a name change to “Homeseeker 
Plus” there have previously only been minor alterations to the policy.

1.4 This has led to ‘policy drift’ with it being interpreted and applied differently across the 
partnership.  Therefore to remove ambiguity, add clarity and also include the provision 
for accredited private landlords to advertise their properties a new policy is being 
proposed.

2.0 CONSULTATION

2.1 The policy that was previously approved by Executive Committee was opened to public 
consultation in early 2021.  Forest of Dean District Council coordinated the consultation 
on behalf of the partnership.

2.2 The consultation ran from 1 February 2021 for a period of eight weeks, ending on                     
29 March 2021.  In total there were 232 responses. The consultation was publicised to 
all 19,000 applicants who are registered on Homeseeker plus, housing providers and 
Councils. It was also publicised via social media platforms and on the Homeseeker Plus 
website.

195



2.3 The overall responses were positive to the suggested changes with respondents 
agreeing or strongly agreeing.
Detailed responses to the consultation can be found in Appendix 2.

3.0 CHANGES POST CONSULTATION

3.1 The proposed major changes to the policy were approved by Executive Committee in 
October 2019 prior to consultation.  

3.2 Two further changes are as follows:

Point 4.35 – ‘For example, a member of the household seeking accommodation is 
disabled and re-housing will enable that person to overcome urgent physical barriers 
created by current accommodation and it has been established that the home cannot be 
adapted to meet needs e.g. steps and stairs.’
The word urgent has been added in.
6.13 – ‘If there is an occasion where two or more applicants have the same band start 
date and application date, the Social Housing Landlord will make a decision which 
applicant best meets the aims and objectives of Homeseekerplus.’

This was removed as it is not a policy position but a system process and therefore not 
required within the policy.  It has not been a known issue in the last 12 years of the 
partnership and by not having it as policy it allows flexibility for the Local Authorities and 
Registered Providers to use their discretion to ensure properties go to those most in 
need.

3.3 There are a number of other minor changes to the policy which are to address spelling, 
punctuation and grammar or in relation to presentation.  The final policy wording with 
these changes can be found in Appendix 1.  Some formatting updates are still required.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 In order to ensure an open, transparent and fair process to changes in Policy there are 
no other alternative options.

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Interim Housing strategy - 2021-2022.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 Laying the foundations: a housing strategy for England 2011.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 The consultation and implementation of the new policy will be met within current 
resources.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 None arising directly from this report.

196



9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

9.1 None arising directly from this report.

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 None arising directly from this report.

Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer: Homeseekerplus Coordinator
    01684 272133 luke.shervey@tewkesbury.gov.uk

 
Appendices: 1 - Homeseeker Plus policy for adoption.

2 – Consultation outcomes.

197

mailto:luke.shervey@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Common allocations 
policy document

H   meseekerPlus

198



1 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction and policy statement 

Introduction 
Overview of how the partnership functions 
Policy statement 
Equal opportunities and social inclusion 
  

2. Legal 
Legal framework 
Data retention 
Types of tenancies 
Definition of social housing 
Who is eligible to register? 
Who is not eligible to register? 
 

3. Scheme conditions 
Who does not qualify? 
Suspending and demoting an application 
Providing false information and change of circumstances 
Local Connections 
Local connection clarifications 
 

4. Assessment of applications 
How to register 
Assessment of an application 
Banding reasons 
Banding tables 
Additional bedroom need criteria 
Time limited bands 
Demotion 
Global banding criteria 
 
 

5. Scheme Details 
Completed applications 
Annual renewal process 
Cancelling applications 
Bidding 
Advertisements 
Property descriptions 
Rural settlements and local letting plans 

199



2 
 

6. Allocations 
Short listing 
By-passing 
Withdrawal 
Refusals 
Direct matching 
 

7. Monitoring and review 
Review/appeal procedure 
Subject access requests 
Use of statistical information 
Policy management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

200



3 
 

1. Introduction and policy statement 
 

Introduction 
 
1.1 Homeseekerplus is a choice-based lettings (CBL) scheme run by the seven local authorities in 
partnership with social housing landlords and any other housing providers that are required to 
deliver affordable homes through section 106 affordable housing obligations within Gloucestershire 
and West Oxfordshire. 

1.2 The seven local authorities are Tewkesbury Borough Council, Gloucester City Council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council, Stroud District Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Cotswold 
District Council and West Oxfordshire District Council. 

1.3 Demand for affordable social housing within the Homeseekerplus area is very high and 
cannot be met from the available social housing resources. Only those in the highest housing need, 
with a local connection to the area are likely to obtain housing through the Homeseekerplus 
scheme. Each district’s Housing Advice Service will be able to advise on a range of housing options 
including the private rented sector. 

1.4 This policy explains who is eligible and qualifies to apply on Homeseekerplus and sets out 
how applications will be assessed based on housing need. 

1.5 Homeseekerplus aims to allocate social housing in the partner council areas in a fair and 
transparent way while complying with all legal requirements. 

 

Overview of how the partnership functions 
 

1.6 Homeseekerplus enables social housing landlords and other housing providers (as detailed in 
1.1 above) to advertise their homes. Applicants are able to express an interest in them.;  this is 
known as placing a “bid” for a property. Once a bid is placed the system generates a shortlist, sorting 
applicants in order of band, band start date and whether they meet the criteria of the advert.  
Priority for properties goes to those who have a local connection with the local authority in which 
the property is located, then to those who have a local connection with any of the other 
Homeseekerplus districts and finally to anyone else. 

1.7 All applicants seeking social housing across Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire will 
complete the same application process and will be assessed against the same clear set of criteria. 
Depending on their circumstances, applicants will be placed into one of four bands: Emergency, 
Gold, Silver or Bronze subject to final verification by a Homeseekerplus partner. 

1.8 Once an application has been made, applicants are advised of their banding and banding 
start date, together with details of how to access the system. This enables applicants to bid for 
suitable social housing vacancies being advertised across the whole of Gloucestershire and West 
Oxfordshire. 

201



4 
 

1.9 Once the bid deadline has passed, the successful applicant will normally be the highest 
priority household at the point of shortlisting. This is assessed against the criteria for the property, 
including where local connection applies, and taking into account any local letting plans. 

1.10 Responsibility for letting each available property lies with the social housing landlord. The 
appropriate landlord must confirm that the details on the application are still correct and may 
undertake their own assessment to ensure the property is right for the applicant before making an 
offer.  Incorrect information may result in the offer being withdrawn and the applicant’s 
circumstances being re-assessed. 

1.11 Applications for sheltered and extra care housing schemes may require an assessment of the 
household’s support needs, prior to any offer being made. 

 

Policy statement 
 

1.12 This policy aims to: 

• Assist in building sustainable communities. 
• Enable informed choice of housing/ housing options and improve levels of customer 

satisfaction. 
• Operate a common selection system that offers realistic, informed choice for all 

applicants. 
• Ensure that those who have the greatest need for housing have the greatest opportunity 

to secure it. 
• Ensure that less able applicants are involved in the lettings process and have choices, 

offering equality of opportunity for all. 
• Make best use of available housing resources to meet local need. 
• Minimise the refusal of offers of accommodation and reduce rent loss by allowing 

people to choose where they live, thereby supporting sustainable communities. 
• Where possible, give people with a local connection to a district priority in the letting of 

housing within that district. 
• Enable mobility within social housing in Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire. 
• Enable the authorities to meet their statutory duties including where duties are owed to 

homeless Applicants under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996, as amended and the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

• Contribute towards tackling discrimination. 
• Use a common eligibility criteria and housing application process. 
• Ensure fairness, simplicity and transparency with a system that is easily understood. 
• Promote a feeling of ownership and commitment to their area as they will  have chosen 

to live there. 
• Assess applications according to the applicant’s needs under the framework of the 

policy. 
 

 
 

Equal opportunities and social inclusion 
 

202



5 
 

1.13 All partners of Homeseekerplus agree that applicants should be given every possible 
assistance to access the housing register and search for suitable properties. Applicants who are 
identified as being potentially disadvantaged by the scheme may be contacted to discuss alternative 
options. 

1.14 All partners of Homeseekerplus are committed to the elimination of discrimination. They 
promote equality of opportunity for all and work towards this goal in the provision of services. 
 
1.15 We are committed to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by 
the Equalities Act 2010 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and others who do not share it 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not share it 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people who share a relevant protected characteristic that 
are different from the needs of people who do not share it 

• Encouraging those people who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally 
low 

• Making the best possible use of the existing and potential workforce and resources by 
enabling cross boundary moves 

 
1.16 Applicants potentially disadvantaged by the scheme will initially be identified from the 
application process and they may be offered a home visit or interview. Staff will seek to establish 
any support needs and identify ways of enabling the applicants to fully participate in 
Homeseekerplus. This may include sending copies of the adverts in large print to an applicant or 
simply providing advice. Translation services may be provided where appropriate. 
 
1.17 Disadvantaged applicants are able to nominate a person (including family members, friends 
or a professional worker) to help them bid, or to bid on their behalf for suitable properties. Signed 
consent will be required if requests are made by a third party. 
 
1.18 The local authority may bid for suitable vacancies on a vulnerable applicant’s behalf if they 
are at risk of being disadvantaged by the scheme and have no support to enable them to make bids 
themselves.  This may include the use of the ‘Autobid’ function. 

1.19 Agencies providing support may be able to assist their client with help on housing issues.  

 
 
 

 

203



6 
 

2. Legal 
Legal Framework 
 

2.1 Homeseekerplus complies with the local authorities’ statutory duties under Part VI and VII of 
the Housing Act 1996 as amended, and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, in addition to any 
other relevant legal duties, and has regard to the following: 

• Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England 2020 
• Equalities Act 2010 
• Public Sector Equality Duty 
• Data Protection Act 2018 
• Localism Act 2011 
• Immigration Act 2014 
• Local letting plans 
• S.106 agreements 
• Armed Forces Act 2011 

Furthermore, this policy will have due regard to any subsequent superseding acts and/or guidance. 

Data retention 
 

2.2 As part of the application process, personal data is required to support any housing 
application. We will comply with all data protection legislation. This includes: 

• For active applications, data is stored for as long as the application is active. 
• For housed applications, data is stored for three years 
• If Homeseekerplus is not accessed for a period of one year, then the case will be set to 

‘removed’ and removed after six months. 
• Homeless applications are stored for three years. 

 

Definition of social housing providers for Homeseekerplus 
 

2.3 For the purposes of this policy, affordable housing is defined as being social rented and 
affordable rented housing provided to eligible households who otherwise would be unable to secure 
alternative provision, and who have been assessed under this policy. Housing providers who operate 
within the Homeseekerplus boundaries are defined as being registered providers, arm’s length 
management organisations or stock owning Councils. Eligibility and qualifying criteria for providers is 
set by this policy. 

2.4 All partners have a common goal to provide homes for local people in housing need with 
eligibility determined within this policy framework. 

 

204



7 
 

Types of tenancies 
 

2.5 Depending on the landlord and applicants’ circumstances, an applicant may be offered 
either an introductory, secure, starter, assured, fixed term, assured short hold or flexible tenancy. 

Who is eligible to register? 
 

2.6 Homeseekerplus is open to anyone in housing need who is not subject to immigration rules 
which would otherwise exclude them. Eligible households may  include, but are not limited to, 
existing tenants looking to transfer to another property, homeless households looking for a 
permanent home and other households who might, for example,   reside in the private sector or 
lodge with family and friends. A household includes anyone that may reasonably be expected to live 
together with them as part of their application. 

 

Who is not eligible to register? 
 

2.7 Persons from Abroad: 

Persons subject to immigration control who are eligible for an allocation of housing accommodation, 
the following classes of persons subject to immigration control are persons who are eligible for an 
allocation of housing accommodation under Part 6 of the 1996 Act: 
 
Class A – a person who is recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Refugee Convention and who has leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom; 

Class B – a person: 

• who has exceptional leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom granted outside the 
provisions of the Immigration Rules; and 

• who is not subject to a condition requiring him to maintain and accommodate himself, and 
any person who is dependent on him, without recourse to public funds; 

Class C – a person who is habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle 
of Man or the Republic of Ireland and whose leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom is 
not subject to any limitation or condition, other than a person— 

• who has been given leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom upon an undertaking 
given by his sponsor; 

• who has been resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the 
Republic of Ireland for less than five years beginning on the date of entry or the date on 
which his sponsor gave the undertaking in respect of him, whichever date is the later; and 

• whose sponsor or, where there is more than one sponsor, at least one of whose sponsors, is 
still alive; and 

Class D – a person who left the territory of Montserrat after 1st November 1995 because of the 
effect on that territory of a volcanic eruption. 

205



8 
 

 
2.8 If the local authority decides that an applicant is not eligible to register for any of these 
reasons, they will notify the person of the decision in writing, including the reason. 
 
2.9 Other: 
 

• Applicants under 16 years of age at the date they apply are not eligible to register for 
Homeseekerplus.  

 
2.10 Persons who are ineligible for a tenancy in their own right may still be included within a 
household application and for determining the number of bedrooms needed for the household. 
 

 
  

206



9 
 

3. Scheme conditions 
Who does not qualify? 
 

3.1 Homeseekerplus has been established under the terms of the Housing Act 1996, as 
amended, and the Localism Act 2011. This gives local authorities the right to decide who will not 
qualify for social housing. 

3.2  Applicants who may initially be eligible to register on Homeseekerplus but, following 
assessment, do not qualify,  will be  excluded from Homeseekerplus. Others may be eligible and 
qualify to be included but are subsequently suspended from bidding  

3.3 The following are persons who do not qualify for Homeseekerplus: 

• An applicant may not hold two tenancies at one time, applicants must be able to end their 
current tenancy within a reasonable period from being made an offer. 
 

• An applicant will not qualify for social housing if the local authority has undertaken an 
affordability check which has shown that they have sufficient financial resources to 
adequately resolve their own particular housing need through outright purchase, lease or 
mortgage. This check will consider the type of accommodation needed to meet these needs 
to resolve their own housing need within their district. 
 
 

• Homeowners who own or part own a property which is suitable for the household’s needs 
or where those needs can be resolved through adaptation, and where it is safe to remain. 

 

3.4 If the local authority decides that an applicant does not qualify, they will notify the applicant 
of their decision in writing and the reasons for it. 

3.5 Applicants who do not qualify will need to reapply in full if they feel their circumstances 
have changed to the extent that they may now qualify. 

 

Suspending and demoting an application 
 

Applications to Homeseekerplus may be suspended or demoted if any of the following 
circumstances are identified: 

3.6 Tenancy Debts 

If an applicant has rent arrears or other housing debt with a social landlord or any other housing 
provider (as detailed in 1.1 above) , which accrued less than 6 years ago, the applicant will be given 
the opportunity to clear the debt before a decision to suspend the application  is made. If the 
applicant is unable to do this, they may be suspended for a period sufficient to reduce the debt to 

207



10 
 

below the equivalent of eight weeks arrears, as well as having  a repayment plan in place and  
payment being made before they can bid for properties.  

Each case will be considered on its own merit, For example, an application would not be suspended 
if rent arrears arose as a result of   domestic abuse. 

Existing social housing tenants who are suspended because of rent arrears will be considered as an 
exception on an individual basis if proved that they cannot afford to stay in their current tenancy as 
a result of Welfare Reform Act changes. 
 
If a partner landlord becomes aware of such a debt they will inform the relevant local authority 
when arrears are reduced. The local authority may unsuspend the application or advise the applicant 
to submit a change of circumstances for their application to be reassessed. 

3.7 Time Limited Bands 

Applicants who have been awarded time limited bands are expected to bid on all suitable property 
types available within their local connection area. Failure to do so may result in suspension or 
demotion for a period the local authority deems appropriate. 

3.8 Repeated Refusal of Properties 

Whilst Homeseekerplus aims to give applicants choice, it also needs to help social landlords let their 
available homes in an efficient way.  If an applicant refuses three properties that the local authority 
considers suitable, the application will be demoted or suspended for a period of 6 months from the 
time of their last offer. This provision does not apply to final offers of accommodation made in order 
to discharge homeless duties under part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) or Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017. 

3.9 Financial  

Applicants who have unreasonably disposed of financial resources that could have enabled them to 
purchase/obtain their own accommodation will be suspended. 

Financial Assessments of armed forces applicants will have due regard of statutory guidance to social 
housing for members of the armed forces. 

3.10 Unreasonable behaviour/rent arrears 

The applicant, or a member of their household, has been responsible for unacceptable behaviour 
serious enough to make them unsuitable to be a tenant of the local authority or a social housing 
landlord at the time of application.  

Behaviour that may be regarded as unacceptable is as follows: -  

• Criminal activity in the vicinity of the property 
• History of anti-social behaviour or disruptive nuisance to neighbours 
• Racial harassment 
• Illegal drug use or dealing 
• Any other breach of the tenancy agreement such that the landlord would be likely to 

apply for and obtain a possession order. 

As part of the assessment, consideration will be given to the household’s personal circumstances, 
the severity of the situation and any other factors that may be relevant. 

208



11 
 

 

Such applicants will be informed of the actions required from them to demonstrate that there has 
been a change in their behaviour such that they will become qualifying e.g. obtaining a satisfactory 
landlord reference for a period of six months. or where regular repayments are made without fail 
against an agreed repayment plan for a period of six months. 

3.11 Deliberately worsening their circumstances 

An immediate review of an application will be undertaken if an applicant is found to have acted (or 
failed to act) in a way which deliberately worsened their housing situation.  This could lead to the 
applicant being suspended, or being demoted to a lower band, for a minimum of 6 months. 

Exceptions 

Exceptions to these qualifying criteria include: 

• Those people fleeing harassment or violence where the Police, Independent 
Domestic Violence Advocates (IDVA) or Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) support a move 

• Proven social or medical/welfare needs 

In exceptional circumstances where the applicant has an urgent need to move, the local authority 
may waive this qualification and suspension criteria.  

3.12 Requesting a review of a suspension / demotion 

Applicants will be advised as to what action/s will be necessary to lift the suspension or demotion. 

Applicants who are suspended will need to contact their relevant local authority to ask for a review 
of this suspension if they feel their circumstances have changed. If agreed, their application will be 
reactivated and reassessed. 

 

Providing false information and change of circumstances 
 

3.13 Any applicant who knowingly or recklessly gives false information or knowingly withholds 
information in order to secure a home to which they are not entitled may lose any home provided to 
them and may also be prosecuted. Where false information is given and the applicant becomes non-
qualifying or ineligible, the application will be removed. Where false information is given and the 
applicant still qualifies, the application will be suspended for a period of 3 months and the applicant 
will have to reapply with correct information.   The law imposes severe penalties, including 
substantial fines up to £5000 or imprisonment, when an offence is proven. 

 

 

 

 

209



12 
 

Local Connections 
 

3.14 Due to the exceptional demand for housing across the Homeseekerplus area and the 
difficulty in solving local housing need, preference will normally be given to applicants with a local 
connection to the appropriate district.  

3.15 Homeseekerplus local connection is defined by any of the following: 

• Those who are, or were in the past, normally resident in the local authority area, and that 
residence was of their own choice during six out of the past 12 months or during three out 
of the past five years.  

• those who are employed in the local authority area 

• Those who have immediate family connections in the local authority area for five years 

• Members of the armed forces 

• Other special circumstances 

 

3.16 Local connection will be awarded by the lead authority only. 

Local connection clarification 
 

3.17 Normal residence 

‘Normal residence’ is to be understood as meaning ‘the place where, at the relevant time, the 
person in fact resides.’ Residence in temporary accommodation provided by a housing authority can 
constitute normal residence of choice and contribute towards a local connection. In the case of a 
person who is street homeless or insecurely accommodated (‘sofa surfing’) within their district, the 
housing authority will need to satisfy themselves that the applicant has no settled accommodation 
elsewhere, and if from inquiries the authority is satisfied that the applicant  does in fact reside in the 
district, then the applicant will be considered as normally resident. 

Where the applicant raises family associations, this may extend beyond partners, parents, adult 
children or siblings. They may include associations with other family members provided there are 
sufficiently close links in the form of frequent contact, commitment or dependency. Family 
associations should be determined with regard to the fact-specific circumstances of the individual 
case. 

3.18 Employment 

For the purposes of employment, a member of the application should work in the district they are 
applying too: it would not be sufficient if the employer’s head office is located in the relevant 
district, but their place of work is not. In the case of self-employment, local connection will be 
defined by the address at which their business is registered. For agency, casual or other types of 
employment, proof must be provided that the employment contract is not short-term, casual or 
ancillary. 

3.19 Special Circumstances 
 

210



13 
 

Special circumstances include but are not limited to the need to be near special medical or support 
services which are available only in a particular district and where transport links are not sufficient to 
meet those needs. Special circumstances will be assessed on their own individual merits. 

3.20 Care leavers 

 Care leavers who are owed a ‘Leaving Care’ duty, will have a local connection to all districts within 
the area of the Children’s Services Authority. Care leavers who have been placed in accommodation 
in a different district to that of the Children’s Services Authority, and they have lived in the other 
district for at least 2 years, including some time before they turned 16, they will also have the same 
local connection until they are 21. Any local care leavers protocol applies.  

 

3.21 Armed Forces 

Members of the armed forces will have a local connection to a district of their choice. This applies to: 

•  Those currently serving, or having served within the immediately preceding five years. 
• Bereaved spouses or civil partners who have recently, or will cease to be, entitled to 

Ministry of Defence accommodation following the death of their service spouse and the 
death was wholly or partly attributable to their service.   

• Existing or former members of the reserve forces who are suffering from a serious injury, 
illness or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service.  

Local connection will also be awarded to divorced or separated spouses or civil partners of Service 
personnel who are required to move out of accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence. 

3.22 Persons from Abroad  

If an applicant has been subject to immigration control where they would not have been deemed 
eligible and subsequently become eligible, the date of where a local connection would apply is the 
date they moved into the area. Refugees would have a local connection outside of these criteria to 
the last area they were housed in by the Home Office under asylum support. 

Local connection will not be awarded if your accommodation was not of the applicant’s own choice.  
This includes but is not limited to: 

• Approved premises 
• Rehabilitation units 

3.23 Decisions on local connection will be made based on the facts at the date of the decision and 
not the date of application.  

  

211



14 
 

4. Assessment of applications 
 

How to register 
 

4.1 Applicants are able to register for social housing through the Homeseekerplus website at 
www.homeseekerplus.co.uk. Homeseekerplus is an online application only and has been designed to 
be accessible to all with speech, reading and translation tools. Applicants needing advice and 
assistance with their application are advised to contact the authority they are applying to. 

4.2 When an applicant applies through the Homeseekerplus website and has registered their 
household, they will complete an application for social housing,  giving details of  their housing 
situation.   If, after completion of the application and provision of any necessary proof or further 
information, the applicant is assessed as being eligible, they will be given a band start date and 
placed in a local housing band.  

Special rules are required for those in the armed forces to comply with The Localism Act recognising 
the services they have offered the country. On discharge members of the armed forces, with 
Homeless priority need (dependent children or vulnerable as a result of disability) will be awarded 
Gold band for 6 months from the discharge date. Homeless with a non - priority need are given 
Silver band from their discharge date. Should they become homeless again within 5 years of the 
discharge priority need or unintentionally homeless applicants will be awarded Gold band again for 6 
months from Notice being received. Non-priority need or Intentional homeless will get Silver band 
backdated for 6 months from the Notice being received. 

4.3  Applicants should make sure that they include all relevant details on the application so that 
proper consideration can be given to the application. Homeseekerplus may contact any of the 
applicants’ previous landlords or agencies to check the details given. 

4.4 All applicants will be given unique login details which can be updated from the account. 

4.5 Applicants will be informed if further information or clarification is required.  Failure to 
complete the online application form will result in it being deleted from the system.   

Assessment of an application 
4.6 By registering to join Homeseekerplus, the applicant will need to freely give their consent for 
enquiries to be made to verify their circumstances. Applicants will need to confirm that the 
information they have given is true and accurate. 

4.7 The information the applicant has provided will guide the decision on which band they will 
be placed in. Applicants will be required to provide the lead authority with documentation to 
evidence the stated housing need. 

 

Bedroom need assessment 
4.8 The bedroom need for a household is assessed to match housing costs guidance to ensure 
suitability and affordability for low income households. 

212



15 
 

4.9 One bedroom is required for: 

• An adult couple 
• A person aged 16 or over 
• 2 children aged up to 16 years of age of the same sex 
• 2 children aged up to 10 years of age of different sexes 
 
4.10 When a child is born, the applicant must provide evidence of the birth as soon as possible 
and the bedroom need will then be re-assessed. This may not change the bedroom need or banding 
and any additional award will not be given until evidence of the birth is provided. 
 

4.11 Visiting children will not be counted in this assessment. 

Verification 
4.12 Applicants will be able to bid for properties advertised, but no tenancy will be offered until 
verification has been completed by the relevant local authority. The purpose of this verification is to 
establish the accuracy or validity of the application.  

4.13 Documents required for verification will depend upon individual circumstances. Documents 
must be provided to verify medical needs, eligibility and qualifying status etc.  

4.14 Key documents will remain valid for 6 months or for the length of validity of the document, 
whichever is the longer or should your circumstances change then we may require further 
verification of your documents. 

4.15 Key standard documents can include, but are not limited to: 

• Identification for all household members on the application 
• 2 months bank statements of all household members over the age of 18 
• Proof of Child Benefit or an appropriate court order 
• Proof of residency to support ‘right to rent’ checks  

 

 

Banding reasons 
 
4.16 Applicants will be awarded a band appropriate to the household circumstances assessed 
from the information provided in their application. 
 
4.17 To qualify for a particular band, applicants need to meet at least one of the criteria set out in 
the banding table below.  
 
4.18 Applicants will be awarded two bands – one for their “local” band (lead authority) and one 
for their “global” band (other 6 authorities). In some cases, these may be with the same authority, 
depending on   circumstances. However, having a local connection to another authority would not 
automatically deem a household to have a higher banding in that district. 
 

213



16 
 

4.19 An applicant’s banding may be time- limited due to the type of housing need, therefore, the 
household would be expected to bid for and accept any suitable property offered within that time 
limit. Failure to do so may lead to a direct match or demotion. 
 
Right to move 
 
4.20 Right to Move is for social housing tenants who need to move to another dDistrict in order 
to take up a job or live closer to employment or training.  In order to qualify, social housing tenants 
must demonstrate that the job/apprenticeship will alleviate significant hardship and that there are 
no other options available to them. 

4.21 To determine qualification, the following detail will need to be established: 

• The distance and/or time taken to travel between work and home 
• The availability of transport, taking into account level of earnings 
• The nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available closer to home 
• Other personal factors, such as medical conditions and child care options, which would be 

affected if the tenant could not move 
• Whether failure to move would result in the loss of an opportunity to improve employment 

circumstances or prospects, for example, by taking up a better job, a promotion or 
apprenticeship 

4.22 Those who qualify for Right to Move will get a local banding preference of Silver, identifying 
that there is a “Significant welfare need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable 
accommodation”. 

 

Clarification of Band criteria 

Property size 
 

4.23 Emergency Band 

Existing Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire social housing tenants willing to move from family 
accommodation to non-family social housing property within the partnership area.  

 

4.24 Gold Band 

Existing Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire social housing tenants willing to move to smaller 
family sized accommodation if this has been agreed with the relevant local authority to release a 
property of higher demand or limited availability. 

or 

There is major overcrowding in the current property - lacking 2 or more bedrooms (this will not 
apply if the applicant has unreasonably allowed one or more people to move in to the property, as 
this is deliberately worsening the   situation). 

or 

214



17 
 

 
Environmental Health has inspected the property and has served a Prohibition Notice (or 
suspended Prohibition Licence) on the landlord due to overcrowding - subject also to the 
applicant not deliberately worsening the situation. 
 
4.25 Silver Band 
 
There is overcrowding in the current property - lacking 1 bedroom - (this will not apply if the 
applicant has unreasonably allowed one or more people to move in to the property, this is 
deliberately worsening the situation). 
 

Property condition 
 

4.26 Emergency band 
 
Where Environmental Health has inspected the property and requires immediate vacation of 
the property because of an imminent risk of harm due to disrepair, major defects or grossly 
inadequate facilities. An Emergency Prohibition Order can be served on the landlord in these 
circumstances. 
This award is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no 
suitable properties have become available in this time scale, or a direct match can be made. 
 

4.27 Gold band 
 
Where Environmental Health has inspected the property and has served a Prohibition Order 
or a Suspended Prohibition Order on the landlord that repairs have to be undertaken but the 
landlord is unable/unwilling to comply. In most cases the landlord will be required to 
undertake repairs to remedy the problem and when completed this should resolve the issue. 
These only apply to the Local band so only when bidding for properties in the home/lead local 
authority area. 

 
Homelessness 
 

4.28 Homelessness is defined by Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 but was significantly updated by 
the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  The Homelessness Reduction Act set out new duties to local 
authorities to, amongst other things, prevent or relieve homeless.   

4.29 Therefore applications to Homeseekerplus from those who are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness will fall into the following categories: 

• A Prevention of Homelessness duty is ongoing or 
• A Relief of Homelessness duty is ongoing or 
• A Main Duty of Homelessness is ongoing or 
• The applicant has made a homeless application to one of the Homeseeker Plus Local 

Authorities and remains assessed as eligible for assistance and homeless after the 
homelessness duties have ended. 

215



18 
 

 

4.30 More information on these duties can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities 

For the purpose of this policy and how banding will be assessed should the local authority owe you a 
duty under this legislation, banding will fall into either: 

4.31 Gold banding (Main Duty) 
 
The applicant has made a homelessness application under part VII of the housing act 1996, (as 
amended) to one of the Homeseekerplus local authorities, the 56 days of the Relief Duty have 
expired and the full s193 statutory homeless duty to secure accommodation for the applicant has 
been accepted by that authority. If this duty applies to an applicant, the applicant will receive a 
letter from the relevant  local authority advising of this. 
 
This is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no suitable 
properties have become available in this time scale. A suitable tenancy in the private sector or 
a direct match into social housing may be made to end the homelessness duty at any time. 
 
 
4.32 Silver banding (Prevention or Relief Duties) 
 
The applicant has made a homeless application to one of the Homeseekerplus local authorities and 
either: 

• A Prevention of Homelessness duty has been accepted 
• A Relief of Homelessness duty has been accepted 

 
or 
 
The applicant has made a homeless application under part VII of the housing act 1996, as amended 
to one of the Homeseekerplus local authorities and remains assessed as eligible for assistance and 
homeless but has been found either non-priority or intentionally homeless. 
 
 

Medical Need 
 
4.33 None of the below refer to having a medical condition in its own right. It is only when the 
current housing is directly affecting that medical condition that priority is awarded. In other 
words, even if a member of the applicant’s household has a very severe set of medical 
conditions, if their housing has little or no bearing on their health then no priority will be 
awarded. 
 
4.34 Emergency band 
 
The applicant is assessed as in immediate need of re-housing on medical grounds. This may be when 
they have had a major incident, are in hospital or another emergency provision and unable to return 

216

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities


19 
 

to the existing home because of their medical condition and immediate adaptations are not 
available. 
 
This award is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no 
suitable properties have become available in this time scale or a direct match can be made. 
 
4.35 Gold band 
 
Urgent medical need or long-term disability that would be alleviated by a move to more 
suitable accommodation. This would apply when the situation is so serious that it would not 
be reasonable to expect the applicant to continue to live at the property for any length of time, 
given their particular medical circumstances but not a life-threatening emergency. 
 
Proof of the situation would be required from Social Care services, NHS or other medical 
specialists. 
 
For example, a member of the household seeking accommodation is disabled and re-housing will 
enable that person to overcome urgent physical barriers created by current accommodation and it 
has been established that the home cannot be adapted to meet needs e.g. steps and stairs. 
 
4.36 Silver band 
 
Significant medical need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable 
accommodation. This could be situations/medical conditions that could apply to one or more 
members of the household which because of the particular household circumstances 
significant distress is caused. Proof of the situation would be required from Social Care 
services, NHS or other medical specialists. 
 
Depression and asthma are the most commonly quoted medical conditions. Where these are 
mild and not directly related to the current property, priority is unlikely to be awarded. 
 

Welfare Need 
 

4.37 Emergency band 

The applicant assessed as in immediate need of re-housing on welfare grounds where there has 
been a major incident and there is proven threat to life or limb. This would normally be based on 
information provided by the Police or other specialists. 
 
4.38 Gold banding 

Exceptional circumstances where the current property has a critical long-term detrimental effect on 
their welfare. This would normally be based on information provided by multi agency meetings or 
Social Care services. 
 

4.39 Silver banding 
 

217



20 
 

Significant welfare need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable accommodation. Proof 
of the situation would be required from Social Care services, housing association or other specialists 
to establish that a management move would not be appropriate. 
This banding would only be used if the housing provider is unable to provide a suitable resolution. 

 
Move on/care leavers 
 

4.40 Gold band 

A young person owed leaving care duties under section 23C of the Children Act 1989 and in a 
housing need will be awarded gold banding to the area of the Children Services Authority that owes 
them the duties. Homeseekerplus comprises of Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire which have 
different Children Services Authorities, therefore gold will only be awarded to housing authority 
districts falling within the area of the Children Services Authority. 

Move-on from supported accommodation funded County Council commissioned services and where 
a local connection was agreed at point of referral by the relevant local housing authority.  
When someone is placed in accommodation based supported housing and is not in their home/lead 
authority area there is a presumption that they will be reconnected back to their home area when 
ready to move-on from the supported accommodation. 
 
The requirements for this priority are: 

• that the supported accommodation provider has confirmed that the resident is ready for 
independent living by completing the standard move- on form detailing the work they have 
completed with the resident and assessment of any remaining support needs; 

• that the local authority has been involved in the move-on planning and accepts that they are 
the appropriate local authority to re-house this applicant by awarding this priority; 

• The accommodation is not low support, temporary or emergency provision or intensive 
housing management (unless subject to local individual arrangements). 

 

 

Multi-Agency  
 

4.41 Gold band 

As a result of a multi-agency decision agreed by the relevant housing authority. Where multi 
agencies including the local housing authority are involved with a particular household and agree on 
a way forward to resolve an urgent housing situation, this priority can be awarded to better protect 
the public or local neighbourhood. 
 

 

218



EM
ER

G
EN

CY
 

G
O

LD
 

SI
LV

ER

BR
O

N
ZE

Ex
is

tin
g 

G
lo

uc
es

te
rs

hi
re

an
d 

W
es

t O
xf

or
ds

hi
re

 s
oc

ia
l

ho
us

in
g 

te
na

nt
s 

w
ill

in
g 

to
m

ov
e 

fr
om

 fa
m

ily
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 
to

 n
on

-
fa

m
ily

 s
oc

ia
l h

ou
si

ng
pr

op
er

ty
 w

ith
in

 th
e

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

ar
ea

.

Ex
is

tin
g 

G
lo

uc
es

te
rs

hi
re

an
d 

W
es

t O
xf

or
ds

hi
re

 s
oc

ia
l

ho
us

in
g 

te
na

nt
s 

w
ill

in
g 

to
m

ov
e 

to
 s

m
al

le
r 

fa
m

ily
si

ze
d 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

if 
th

is
ha

s 
be

en
 a

gr
ee

d 
w

ith
 y

ou
r

lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
ri

ty
 to

 re
le

as
e 

a
pr

op
er

ty
 o

f h
ig

he
r 

de
m

an
d

or
 li

m
ite

d 
av

ai
la

bi
lit

y.
 O

r:

Th
er

e 
is

 m
aj

or
ov

er
cr

ow
di

ng
 in

 th
e 

cu
rr

en
t

pr
op

er
ty

 - 
la

ck
in

g 
tw

o 
or

m
or

e 
be

dr
oo

m
s.

 O
r:

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 h

as
in

sp
ec

te
d 

th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 a
nd

ha
s 

se
rv

ed
 a

 P
ro

hi
bi

tio
n

N
ot

ic
e

Th
er

e 
is

 o
ve

rc
ro

w
di

ng
 in

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t p

ro
pe

rt
y 

-
la

ck
in

g 
on

e 
be

dr
oo

m
 

W
he

re
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l

H
ea

lth
 h

as
 in

sp
ec

te
d 

th
e

pr
op

er
ty

 a
nd

 re
qu

ire
s

im
m

ed
ia

te
 v

ac
at

io
n 

of
th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 b

ec
au

se
 o

f a
n

im
m

in
en

t r
is

k 
of

 h
ar

m
 d

ue
to

 d
is

re
pa

ir
, m

aj
or

 d
ef

ec
ts

or
 g

ro
ss

ly
 in

ad
eq

ua
te

fa
ci

lit
ie

s.

W
he

re
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l

H
ea

lth
 h

as
 in

sp
ec

te
d 

th
e

pr
op

er
ty

 a
nd

 h
as

 s
er

ve
d 

a
Pr

oh
ib

iti
on

 O
rd

er
or

 S
us

pe
nd

ed
 P

ro
hi

bi
tio

n
O

rd
er

 o
n 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 th
at

re
pa

ir
s 

ha
ve

 to
 b

e
un

de
rt

ak
en

 b
ut

 th
e

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 u

na
bl

e/
un

w
ill

in
g

to
 c

om
pl

y.

Th
e 

ap
pl

ic
an

t h
as

 m
ad

e 
a

ho
m

el
es

sn
es

s 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
un

de
r 

pa
rt

 V
II 

of
 th

e
ho

us
in

g 
ac

t 1
99

6,
 a

s
am

en
de

d 
to

 o
ne

 o
f t

he
H

om
es

ee
ke

rp
lu

s 
lo

ca
l

au
th

or
iti

es
 a

nd
 th

e 
fu

ll 
s1

93
st

at
ut

or
y 

ho
m

el
es

s 
du

ty
 to

se
cu

re
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
fo

r
th

e 
ap

pl
ic

an
t h

as
 b

ee
n

ac
ce

pt
ed

 b
y 

th
at

 a
ut

ho
ri

ty
.

A 
Pr

ev
en

tio
n 

or
 re

lie
f d

ut
y

ha
s 

be
en

 a
cc

ep
te

d.
 O

r:

Th
e 

ap
pl

ic
an

t r
em

ai
ns

as
se

ss
ed

 a
s 

el
ig

ib
le

 fo
r

as
si

st
an

ce
 a

nd
 h

om
el

es
s

bu
t h

as
 e

ith
er

 h
as

 b
ee

n
fo

un
d 

ei
th

er
 N

on
-p

ri
or

ity
,

In
te

nt
io

na
lly

 h
om

el
es

s.

Th
e 

ap
pl

ic
an

t a
ss

es
se

d 
as

im
m

ed
ia

te
 n

ee
d 

of
 re

-
ho

us
in

g 
on

 m
ed

ic
al

gr
ou

nd
s.

U
rg

en
t m

ed
ic

al
 n

ee
d 

or
lo

ng
-t

er
m

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
 th

at
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

al
le

vi
at

ed
 b

y 
a

m
ov

e 
to

 m
or

e 
su

ita
bl

e
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n.

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 m

ed
ic

al
 n

ee
d

th
at

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
al

le
vi

at
ed

 b
y

a 
m

ov
e 

to
 m

or
e 

su
ita

bl
e

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n.

Th
e 

ap
pl

ic
an

t a
ss

es
se

d 
as

im
m

ed
ia

te
 n

ee
d 

of
 re

-
ho

us
in

g 
on

 w
el

fa
re

 g
ro

un
ds

w
he

re
 th

er
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 a
m

aj
or

 in
ci

de
nt

 a
nd

 th
er

e 
is

pr
ov

en
 th

re
at

 to
 li

fe
 o

r 
lim

b.

Ex
ce

pt
io

na
l c

irc
um

st
an

ce
s

w
he

re
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t p
ro

pe
rt

y
ha

s 
a 

cr
iti

ca
l l

on
g-

te
rm

de
tr

im
en

ta
l e

ff
ec

t o
n 

th
ei

r
w

el
fa

re
.

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 w

el
fa

re
 n

ee
d

th
at

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
al

le
vi

at
ed

 b
y

a 
m

ov
e 

to
 m

or
e 

su
ita

bl
e

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n.

A 
yo

un
g 

pe
rs

on
 o

w
ed

le
av

in
g 

ca
re

 d
ut

ie
s 

un
de

r
se

ct
io

n 
23

C 
of

 th
e 

Ch
ild

re
n

Ac
t 1

98
9 

an
d 

in
 a

 h
ou

si
ng

ne
ed

. O
r:

M
ov

e-
on

 fr
om

 s
up

po
rt

ed
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 
fu

nd
ed

Co
un

ty
 C

ou
nc

il
co

m
m

is
si

on
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
w

he
re

 a
 lo

ca
l c

on
ne

ct
io

n
w

as
 a

gr
ee

d 
at

 p
oi

nt
 o

f
re

fe
rr

al

Ri
gh

t t
o 

m
ov

e

Pr
op

er
ty

 s
iz

e 
et

c
Pr

op
er

ty
 c

on
di

ti
on

s
(th

is
 o

nl
y 

ap
pl

ie
s 

to
 th

e
di

st
ric

t w
he

re
 th

e 
N

ot
ic

e
is

 m
ad

e)

H
om

el
es

sn
es

s
(th

is
 o

nl
y 

ap
pl

ie
s 

to
 th

e
di

st
ric

t w
he

re
 a

ny
 d

ut
y 

is
ow

ed
) 

M
ed

ic
al

 n
ee

ds
W

el
fa

re
 n

ee
ds

G
en

er
al

BA
N

D

Al
l o

th
er

 a
pp

lic
an

ts

21

219



22 

Additional bedroom needs criteria 
4.42 Households will also be assessed to consider the need for one additional bedroom for each 
of the following, if they are assessed as being included as part of the household: 

• A tenant requiring a non-resident overnight carer
• Disabled child who cannot share a bedroom with their sibling due to their disability
• An adult child who is serving away with the armed forces
• A room for a foster child or children

4.43 Households can include someone on the application if there is a need for them to live with 
the household in order to give or receive care or support, where no one in the immediate household 
is able to provide that care. Evidence will be required to demonstrate: 

• That the household is dependent upon this care or support and that other satisfactory
arrangements cannot be made

• that the arrangement is ‘permanent’

4.44 We will also require evidence that the person requires your support or care; for example, 
proof that you/they are providing care, are in receipt of care allowances and are able to meet any 
costs associated with the additional bedroom either through benefits, income or savings. 

4.45 We will usually only include members of the household that are currently living with you or 
that the Council can be satisfied will be reasonably expected to reside (if not currently residing) with 
you on your application. 

4.46 In cases where two parents or guardians have joint access to children, bedroom eligibility 
will be awarded to the main care provider. Applicants will need to demonstrate that: 

• they are the main care provider (children live with you for more than half the week -four
nights or more) and are in receipt of child benefit and, if applicable, child tax credits

• that the arrangement is ‘permanent’

4.47 Please note the protections afforded by the Equality Act 2010 are intended to be available to 
all, including children and adolescents. Any required additional bedroom need will be awarded on a 
case by case basis in line with housing benefit rules and an assessment of affordability. 

220



23 
 

 

Time limited bands 
 

4.48 Certain categories have a time limit of one month or more. This is given to recognise an 
urgent need. It is therefore important that applicants in this category are bidding for all suitable 
properties each week and in a wide range of locations. 

4.49 At the end of the period the case will be reviewed by the Lead Authority. 

4.50 If the applicant is in a time limited band and has either not bid for suitable properties 
advertised within one month or has been unsuccessful in obtaining an offer of a tenancy within the 
limit, a direct match of a property may be considered. Where a private sector tenancy is available, 
suitable and affordable at the time the Local authority or its agents may look to secure a tenancy in 
the private rented sector. 

Demotion 
 

4.51 The Lead Authority may decide to demote an applicant to the band below at the end of the 
time-limited period if it is apparent that the applicant is choosing to wait for a particular type of 
property or  location, and not treating their circumstances as being urgent. 

4.52 Applicants are encouraged to make full use of their bids and seek all housing options 
available to them. Applicants will be assessed by a senior officer if they have unreasonably refused a 
property or to bid in a reasonable time if the following criteria have been met: 

• they deliberately do or fail to do anything and as a consequence they miss out on suitable 
properties 

• it would have been reasonable for them to do so, and there is no other good reason why 
they have not 

4.53 The demotion period will be what the local authority deems reasonable up to 12 months 
and will be considered on a case by case basis. 

Global banding criteria 
4.54 Applications will be awarded a global band equal to that of their local banding in all but the 
below cases: 

• Where the lead authority has accepted a full statutory homeless duty to secure 
accommodation for the applicant. The global banding in this circumstance will be silver. 

 
• Where the lead authority has a gold move on agreement from supported accommodation, 

the global banding will be bronze. 
 

• Where the lead authority has assessed the property as having a prohibition notice, the  
global band will be bronze. 

 
• Where the lead authority has awarded a downsizing band, the global band will be silver. 

221



24 
 

 

5. Scheme Details 
 

Completed applications 
5.1 Once the applicant has been assessed and accepted on to the Homeseekerplus scheme, a 
notification will be sent, where possible within 28 days, confirming the application details. 

This will include: 

a) The band in which the applicant has been placed 
b) The property size for which the applicant is eligible 
c) The registration date 
d) Band start date 
e) Reminder about the importance of notifying any change in circumstances 
f) A unique reference 
g) Details of the verification documents required 
h) Details of the appeal procedure 

 

Annual Review process 
5.2 Where an applicant has not made any bid on any property, nor updated their application in 
any way within the previous twelve months, they will be contacted to see if they still wish to remain 
on the Homeseekerplus Register. If there is no response within 28 days from the date of notification, 
the application will be closed. If the applicant contacts the Local Authority within 28 days of their 
application being closed and indicates that they still wish to be considered for housing, the 
application will be reinstated. 

Applicants must renew their application if requested to do so by Homeseekerplus. 

 

 
 

Removing applications 
 

5.3 An application will be removed from Homeseekerplus:- 

• At the request of the applicant 
• Where an applicant does not respond to an application review within the specified  

time limit 
• Where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address 
• Where the applicant has died 
• Where an applicant ceases to be eligible 

 

222



25 
 

Bidding 
5.4 Once applicants have been registered as live on Homeseekerplus and notified of banding 
and log in details, they can start to look and bid for a suitable property of their choice subject to 
their banding criteria. 

5.5 Applicants may bid for eligible properties at any time before   the deadline. It makes no 
difference to the final shortlist what time during the week the bid was placed. Property details and 
information should be carefully read as some properties may have additional requirements that 
make the property unsuitable for the applicant; for example the number of people the property is 
suitable for – some have only single bedrooms. 

5.6 Applicants may have up to a maximum of three active bids at any one time. Until a decision 
has been made as to who will receive the offer, a bid will remain live. The applicant can withdraw 
their bid if they wish to bid for another property during the same cycle. 

5.7 At the time the bid is placed, the applicant will be given their current position on the 
shortlist. This is only an indication, as the position can change, as other people bid, or bids are 
withdrawn. All shortlists are live and subject to change. 

 

Advertisements 
5.8 All partner landlords are committed to advertising their available properties as widely as 
possible. Properties will be advertised in several ways on daily basis. 

• A dedicated website for Homeseekerplus is accessible to anyone with internet access. The 
website will allow applicants to view all available properties across the whole of 
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire and bid ‘on-line’ for properties of their choice. 

• Adverts displayed in a number of localities across the Homeseekerplus partnership including 
local authority offices. 

• In any other format on request to aid those with particular needs, in line with the public 
sector equality duty. 

 

 
Property descriptions 
5.9 Properties advertised will carry (where possible) a photograph of the property location and a 
full description which will include the following details if applicable: 

• Type of property and eligibility criteria 
• Number of bedrooms and eligible household size appropriate 
• Location of property 
• Any adaptations and therefore restrictions on  who may apply 
• Services provided 
• Heating type 
• Rent/service charges 
• Local connection requirement 
• Additional features, marketing information and pet restrictions 
• Details on those who will be given priority 
• Where rural settlement or local letting policies apply 

223



26 
 

• If a Social Housing Landlord’s allocation policy applies 
• Void start date or, for new build, when it is expected to be ready for  occupation  
• Any rent in advance payable 
• Floor level of property 

 
Rural settlements and local letting plans 
5.10 Additional local connection criteria will apply for properties in rural villages where there are 
particular shortages of housing sites with planning conditions (Section 106 agreements, Local Letting 
Plans, affordable housing and rural exception sites) attached to them. In these cases, priority will be 
given to Applicants who are unable to live in their community due to the lack of affordable housing, 
who have a local connection to the parish or surrounding parishes by means of living in the parish, 
working in the parish or having immediate family connections to the parish. Where this applies the 
details will be explained in the property advertisement. 
 
5.11 The Homeseekerplus Partnership is committed to creating balanced communities. For new 
developments and in areas where there are known problems, such as antisocial behaviour or 
abandoned properties, a local lettings plan may be applied. The plan will take into account the needs 
of the current and new residents and the makeup of the block, street or cluster of streets, to ensure 
a responsible letting is made. The local authorities will review each letting plan periodically with 
landlords. 
 

  

224



27 
 

6. Allocations 
 

Shortlisting 
6.1 Once the advert deadline has passed, a shortlist will be produced for each advertised 
property showing all the applicants who have bid. For each property advertised, the successful 
applicant will generally be the applicant who has the highest band and the oldest band start date 
that is eligible to bid (i.e. who best meets the criteria in the advert and the policy) 

6.2 The system will produce a shortlist based on the applicant’s banding, banding start date, 
local connection and any other criteria stipulated in the advert. 

6.3 Each Social Housing Landlord is responsible for checking to ensure there has been no change 
of circumstances including eligibility for social housing to the housing need assessment of the 
applicant since originally verified. This is to ensure that social housing is not allocated incorrectly to 
applicants who no longer match the criteria. 

6.4 Each applicant will be given the opportunity to view the property before signing for a 
tenancy. 

6.5 Should an applicant be at the top of the shortlist for more than one property, one of the 
Social Housing Landlords of the properties will contact the applicant as quickly as possible to ask 
them to decide which property they wish to be considered for. Once they have made their decision, 
their other bids will become invalid. In this circumstance, viewing of any of the properties before a 
decision is taken is unlikely to be available and will be at the Social Housing Landlord’s discretion. 

6.6 If an applicant is direct matched for a property, any other bids they have made will become 
invalid. 

6.7 Any applicant who has a propriety interest in a property must be able and willing to dispose 
of that interest in a reasonable period. 

 

 

By-passing 
6.8 A by-pass is where an applicant has bid for a property but is not offered the tenancy. 

6.9 The appropriate Social Housing Landlord will inform the household of the reason for the by-
pass and of any steps needed to prevent further by-passes for the same reason. 

6.10 By-passing will be carried out in line with the Social Housing Landlord’s lettings policy, local 
letting plans and Homeseekerplus policy and applicant’s will be informed where reasonable.  

 
 
6.11 Applicants will be required to match the requirements of this policy and match the criteria of 
the individual property as detailed in the advert. The advert includes details of both the type of 
applicant that is eligible for the property and any further restriction due to the Social Housing 
Landlord’s own published allocation policy. If the applicant is at the top of the shortlist but does not 
meet all these criteria, the Social Housing Landlord may not consider the applicant. 
 

225



28 
 

 
6.12 Where an offer is being made to a current tenant of a Social Housing Landlord within the 
partnership, it is made subject to the satisfactory conduct of the present tenancy and approval of 
that Social Housing Landlord (which may include a home inspection). 
 
Withdrawal 
6.14 A property shortlist may be withdrawn at any stage during advertising or shortlisting or an 
offer of a tenancy may be withdrawn at any stage up to the signing of the tenancy agreement. 

6.15 This may happen in certain circumstances, such as the tenant of that particular property has 
failed to vacate the property or the property has been incorrectly labelled on the advert. 

6.16 If this happens, the Social Housing Landlord will inform the successful applicant that the 
property is no longer available. If the property is not ready for occupation following a successful bid 
and the applicant is likely to wait some considerable time before being able to sign the tenancy 
agreement, the Social Housing Landlord will inform the applicant and give them the option to 
withdraw their bid so they can bid for any other suitable properties. If the property was mis-labelled 
on the advert it will be re-advertised. 

Refusals 
6.17 Applicants are expected to take reasonable care when bidding for a property to ensure it 
meets their needs. If however an applicant decides to refuse an offer of accommodation, the 
property will be offered to the next suitable applicant on the shortlist. An application will be 
reviewed if an applicant refuses three offers of accommodation which the local authority or its 
agents deem suitable. This could lead to the applicant being suspended for a minimum of six months 
or being placed in a lower band. 

6.18 If an applicant in a time limited band refuses an offer of accommodation the application will 
be reviewed and may be suspended for a minimum of six months or placed in a lower band. 

 

Homelessness 
6.19 The local authority or its agents will normally expect an applicant to whom it has accepted a 
full homeless duty to bid for a wide range of suitable properties within the time limit in the Gold 
Band. 

6.20 If the main homeless duty is accepted, the applicant will be placed onto autobid from the 
start of this duty. 

6.21 At the same time the local authority or its agents may look to discharge the homeless duty 
into an affordable and suitable private sector tenancy. If one is identified, the Homeseekerplus 
application will be reviewed and any homeless banding priority awarded will be removed whether or 
not the applicant accepts the private sector property found.  This will still be subject to the statutory 
review process. 

6.22 If a homeless applicant has not been actively bidding for all suitable properties or a suitable 
private sector property is not available at the end of the one month time limit, the local authority or 
its agents will secure an offer of suitable, affordable settled accommodation for the household, 
subject to availability. 

226



29 
 

6.23 Due to limited resources, high demand, and duties to provide accommodation to some 
groups of applicants in urgent housing need the degree of choice that the local authority is able to 
offer may be limited.  

6.24 Applicants will be able to express a preference regarding the area in which they would like to 
live and the property type they would like, but should be aware that the local authority ability to 
satisfy a preference is  limited. Expressing a preference over where an applicant would like to live 
does not mean that this preference can be met, or that the local authority will not offer suitable 
accommodation outside of a preferred area. The local authority will consider whether the property 
is suitable and is a reasonable offer in order to meet its duties under Section 189B (2) relief of 
homelessness duty or the main section 193 (2) duty under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996. 

6.25 Not all properties that become available will be advertised and offered through the Band 
and date order procedure 

 

 

 

Direct matching 
6.26 A direct match is a property which is not available through Homeseekerplus. All the partner 
social housing landlords are committed to advertising as many of their vacant properties as possible 
through Homeseekerplus. There will be occasions when certain properties will not be advertised and 
the reasons for these exclusions will be monitored. Some examples are: - 

• Over-riding social reason to move the household for safety reasons, as recommended by the 
Police, partner organisations, or as agreed through multiagency need and risk assessment 
panels. 

• Those let to discharge statutory duties to Homeless applicants in certain circumstances. 
• Properties required for existing tenants whose properties are subject to major works 

requiring them to vacate their own properties (either on a temporary or permanent basis). 
• Extra-care vacancies and any supported accommodation where there is an applicant with a 

Care package that needs a specific property. 
• Applicants who have succeeded to a tenancy or, in certain circumstances such as following 

the death of a family member, left in occupation but who need to move to alternative 
accommodation. 

• Where a property has been adapted and meets the specific needs of a client. 
• Applications subject to the Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976. 

 
 
6.27 There will be circumstances where for urgent operational reasons there is a need to make 
direct offers of housing outside of the normal policy banding and date order criteria. 
 
6.28 This may also restrict the time an applicant is able to bid for accommodation. The offer of 
accommodation would be in any area of the district that is considered reasonable and the property 
is suitable and safe for the applicant to live in. 
A decision to make a direct match offer could be where: 

• An applicant is not being realistic in the areas they are bidding for accommodation and as a 
result they may be occupying accommodation provided as homeless longer than they need 
to. 

or 

227



30 
 

• To assist the local authority in effective management (including financial) of its homeless 
accommodation 
 

  

228



31 
 

7. Monitoring and review 
 

Review/appeal procedure 
7.1 All applicants have the right to request a review of any Homeseekerplus decisions. The 
review/appeal should include the reason why the applicant believes the decision is incorrect, 
together with any additional information. 

7.2 Stage One – Internal Review 

If you disagree with the way we have assessed your application for housing, or with the housing 
need band in which we have placed your application, you may request a review which will be 
decided by a senior housing officer who was not involved in the original decision from the local 
authority or the agent dealing with your application. To request a review: 

• You must complete a Stage 1 - Internal Review Request Form which can be downloaded 
from the Homeseekerplus website www.homeseekerplus.co.uk and when completed in full, 
send to the council you applied to within 14 days of receiving your letter or notification. 

• We will deal with your request within 14 days or let you know if we will require additional 
time. 

• We will write to you with the outcome of the review within a further seven days of being 
determined. 

7.3 Stage Two –Homeseekerplus Appeal Panel 
 
If you disagree with the outcome of the stage 1 internal review, you can request that your case be 
taken to the Homeseekerplus Appeal Panel. This Panel is made up of three or more Senior Housing 
Officers from three of the Partner Councils. These Officers will not have been involved in the original 
decision or the Officer decision on internal review. The applicant must submit a request for an 
appeal in writing and send to the Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator within 14 days of the review 
notification letter. The local authority or its agent will acknowledge receipt of the request for an 
appeal within 14 days and provide the applicant with contact details of the officer dealing with the 
request and the time it will take to reply to the applicant. If the review cannot be completed within 
56 days, the applicant will be informed and the timescales for the review set out. 
 
The panel will be made up of senior housing officers from three or more of the other local 
authorities. The appeal will consider the facts surrounding the case and your request should specify 
whether there are additional facts the Panel should take into consideration or whether you feel that 
the original facts you submitted with your application have not been fully taken into account. If you 
have additional evidence, such as additional medical reports, then these should also be submitted 
up to one week before the panel meet. 
 
The Panel will consider the review on the papers submitted by the applicant and the housing officer 
from the local authority involved in the case. If determined by the Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator the 
applicant or the relevant Housing Officer may be asked to attend this review hearing in person if 
additional information from either party is required.  The applicant can bring a representative. 
 

229



32 
 

The Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator will chair this panel and a nominated representative for the 
applicant will be present at the Hearing to ensure that all relevant information has been presented 
and is dealt with correctly. 
 
The panel must come to a majority decision, should this not be the case, the Homeseekerplus Co-
ordinator and chair of the panel will arbitrate. 
 
Once the appeal has been determined, or if the Panel require the applicant to attend a further 
Hearing, the Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator will write to the applicant giving full details within 14 
days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
 
7.4 Local Authority Complaints Procedure 
 
If you feel that you have been treated unfairly or you believe the process has not been carried out as 
described above you can use your Local Authority’s (or its agents) Complaints Procedure to make a 
formal complaint. 
 
The complaint must be made in writing to the appropriate authority within 14 days of the date of 
the written notification of the decision of the Homeseekerplus Appeal Panel. 
 
If the applicant is still dissatisfied, they may complain directly to the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 

Subject access requests 
7.5 Applicants are entitled under the Data Protection Act 2018 or any superseding legislation to 
request details of their personal data held by the seven local authorities.  

 

Use of statistical information 
7.6 The information supplied by Applicants on their housing application may also be used for 
housing management and research purposes within legal guidelines (such as identifying what size 
and where new housing is required). No individual will be identified in collating such information. 

Policy management 
7.7 The Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator will run regular reports to monitor performance of the 
scheme in meeting the aims of the policy. 

The Homeseekerplus policy will be regularly reviewed and at least annually to ensure that it takes 
into account change in demand and need within the district, that it continues to meet its aims and 
objectives and that it complies with any legislative changes. 

Any changes to the Homeseekerplus Policy will be implemented only with the majority agreement of 
the members of the Partnership. An interested party may contact any of the local authority partners 
to make observations to be considered at the next review. 

230



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

1 / 22

9.78% 22

47.11% 106

26.67% 60

12.89% 29

5.33% 12

Q1 Do you agree with the objectives of the allocation policy? (see page 3-5
of the common allocations consultation document)

Answered: 225 Skipped: 7

Total Respondents: 225  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

231



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

2 / 22

52.86% 120

48.46% 110

Q2 Are there any housing needs that you feel have not been addressed?
Answered: 227 Skipped: 5

Total Respondents: 227  

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

232



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

3 / 22

10.04% 23

42.79% 98

19.21% 44

23.58% 54

6.55% 15

Q3 Do you agree that the banding system will give priority to those most in
need of housing? (see Clarification of Band criteria page 15-19)

Answered: 229 Skipped: 3

Total Respondents: 229  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

233



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

4 / 22

Q4 Do you have any other comments on the allocation policy?
Answered: 157 Skipped: 75

234



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

5 / 22

36.73% 83

35.40% 80

92.92% 210

48.23% 109

Q5 What method of bidding (expressing an interest) do you think should be
available? (you may choose as many as you like)

Answered: 226 Skipped: 6

Total Respondents: 226  

Telephone

In person at
the council...

On the website

By text

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Telephone

In person at the council offices

On the website

By text

235



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

6 / 22

10.04% 23

44.54% 102

44.54% 102

1.75% 4

0.87% 2

Q6 Do you agree or disagree with the data retention statement? (see
section 2.2)

Answered: 229 Skipped: 3

Total Respondents: 229  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

236



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

7 / 22

27.19% 62

32.89% 75

24.12% 55

13.16% 30

4.39% 10

Q7 Do you agree that where an applicant have unreasonably disposed of
financial resources that they should be non-qualifying? (see section 3.9)

Answered: 228 Skipped: 4

Total Respondents: 228  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

237



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

8 / 22

22.27% 51

43.23% 99

19.21% 44

12.23% 28

6.99% 16

Q8 Do you agree with the objectives of the local connection clarification?
(see section 3.17-3.23)

Answered: 229 Skipped: 3

Total Respondents: 229  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

238



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

9 / 22

5.26% 12

39.91% 91

42.11% 96

10.53% 24

3.07% 7

Q9 Do you agree that the assessment of applications section is reflective
of the policies aims and objectives? (see page 3-5 of the common

allocations consultation document)
Answered: 228 Skipped: 4

Total Respondents: 228  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

239



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

10 / 22

14.54% 33

44.49% 101

26.87% 61

10.57% 24

3.52% 8

Q10 Do you agree with the inclusion of 4.2 of special rules for armed
forces?

Answered: 227 Skipped: 5

Total Respondents: 227  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

240



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

11 / 22

38.16% 87

50.44% 115

7.02% 16

3.95% 9

1.32% 3

Q11 Do you agree that before applicants can be offered a property they
must be verified?

Answered: 228 Skipped: 4

Total Respondents: 228  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

241



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

12 / 22

23.25% 53

51.32% 117

16.67% 38

7.02% 16

1.75% 4

Q12 The banding table has been updated to reflect the different needs of
medical and welfare. Previously these were joined and now are separate
bandings to signify their difference needs, do you agree that these should

be separate bandings?
Answered: 228 Skipped: 4

Total Respondents: 228  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

242



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

13 / 22

17.03% 39

42.36% 97

24.02% 55

11.35% 26

6.55% 15

Q13 Do you agree with the additional bedroom need criteria? (see section
4.42-4.47)

Answered: 229 Skipped: 3

Total Respondents: 229  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

243



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

14 / 22

7.46% 17

43.86% 100

37.72% 86

7.46% 17

4.39% 10

8.33% 19

Q14 Do you believe this reflects the equalities act?
Answered: 228 Skipped: 4

Total Respondents: 228  

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

If you
disagree,...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please explain why?

244



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

15 / 22

Q15 Any other comments?
Answered: 106 Skipped: 126

245



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

16 / 22

73.02% 157

32.56% 70

4.65% 10

4.19% 9

1.86% 4

2.79% 6

Q16 Are you:
Answered: 215 Skipped: 17

Total Respondents: 215  

An applicant
on the waiti...

A housing
association/...

An elected
member

From a
Statutory...

From a
voluntary...

Prefer not to
say

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

An applicant on the waiting list

A housing association/council tenant

An elected member

From a Statutory organisation

From a voluntary organisation

Prefer not to say

246



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

17 / 22

20.91% 46

17.27% 38

14.09% 31

16.36% 36

10.45% 23

10.45% 23

8.18% 18

1.36% 3

0.91% 2

Q17 Please specify which local authority area you have a connection to:
Answered: 220 Skipped: 12

TOTAL 220

Gloucester
City Council

Cheltenham
Borough Council

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

Stroud
District...

Forest of Dean
District...

West
Oxfordshire...

Cotswold
District...

None of the
above

Prefer not to
say

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Gloucester City Council

Cheltenham Borough Council

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Stroud District Council

Forest of Dean District Council

West Oxfordshire District Council

Cotswold District Council

None of the above

Prefer not to say

247



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

18 / 22

5.88% 13

42.08% 93

27.15% 60

14.03% 31

6.79% 15

3.17% 7

2.26% 5

Q18 What age are you?
Answered: 221 Skipped: 11

Total Respondents: 221  

16-24

25-39

40-54

55-64

65-74

75+

prefer not to
say

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

16-24

25-39

40-54

55-64

65-74

75+

prefer not to say

248



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

19 / 22

Q19 What is your ethnic group?
Answered: 220 Skipped: 12

249



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

20 / 22

English,
Welsh,...

Irish

Gypsy or Irish
Traveller

Any other
White...

White and
Black Caribbean

White and
Black African

White and Asian

Any other
Mixed or...

Indian

Pakistani

Bangladeshi

Chinese

Any other
Asian...

African

Caribbean

Any other
Black, Afric...

Arab

Any other
ethnic group

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

250



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

21 / 22

88.18% 194

0.45% 1

0.00% 0

2.73% 6

0.91% 2

0.45% 1

0.45% 1

0.45% 1

0.45% 1

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.91% 2

0.91% 2

0.45% 1

0.00% 0

3.64% 8

TOTAL 220

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish or British

Irish

Gypsy or Irish Traveller

Any other White background

White and Black Caribbean

White and Black African

White and Asian

Any other Mixed or Multiple ethnic background

Indian

Pakistani

Bangladeshi

Chinese

Any other Asian background

African

Caribbean

Any other Black, African or Caribbean background

Arab

Any other ethnic group

251



Homeseekerplus policy consultation

22 / 22

100.00% 100

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

97.00% 97

82.00% 82

Q20 If you would like a response to your input into this consultation, the
please provide your details below:

Answered: 100 Skipped: 132

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Name

Company

Address

Address 2

City/Town

State/Province

Postal Code

Country

Email Address

Phone Number

252



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 6 October 2021 

Subject: Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Council Tax Discounts 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services  

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Finance and Asset Management 

Number of Appendices: None

 

Executive Summary: 
There is a requirement to have a Council Tax Reduction Scheme to support residents who 
qualify for assistance in paying Council Tax.  The Local Government Finance Act 1992 
requires each billing authority in England to make a scheme specifying the reductions which 
are to apply to amounts of Council Tax payable by persons, or classes of person, whom the 
authority considers are in financial need (“a council tax reduction scheme”).   
The report also provides Members with an update on the annual review of Council Tax 
discounts and seeks approval for their adoption effective from 1 April 2022. 

Recommendation: 
To RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL: 
1. The adoption of the default Council Tax Reduction Scheme, effective from 1 April 

2022, with a minor revision to the national working age regulations to allow for a de 
minimis tolerance for income changes of £10 or less per week. 

2. That delegated authority is given to the Head of Finance and Asset Management, in 
consultation with the Lead Member for Finance and Asset Management, to agree the 
uprating of the working age regulations incorporated into the local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme in line with those announced by Department for Work and 
Pensions. 

3. That options for the working age Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023/24 are 
formally reviewed during the 2022/23 financial year.

4. The adoption of the following Council Tax discounts effective from 1 April 2022: 
• The discount for unoccupied and substantially unfurnished properties is 25% for 

a maximum period of six months. 
• The discount for properties which are vacant and require major repair work to 

render them habitable is 25% for a maximum period of 12 months. 
• The discount for unoccupied furnished properties (second homes) is zero. 
• An empty homes premium of an additional 100% is levied on properties that have 

remained unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least two years, but 
less than five years. 

253

Agenda Item 11



• An empty homes premium of an additional 200% is levied on properties that have 
remained unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least five years, but 
less than ten years. 

• An empty homes premium of an additional 300% is levied on properties that have 
remained unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least ten years.

Reasons for Recommendation: 
The report recommends that the Council continues with the default Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme that was first adopted in April 2013.  To reduce costs to the Council, changes would 
have to be made to the level of support provided to working age claimants.  Most authorities 
have already incorporated a reduced level of support into their local scheme however it is not 
considered appropriate to do so at the present time having consideration to the continuing 
financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the residents of the Borough.   
There was a minor revision made to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2021/22 to reduce 
the administratively complexity of the default scheme.  This means income changes of £10 or 
less per week do not require the reassessment of Council Tax Reduction. The de minimis 
tolerance has been successful in managing the workload of the Benefits Team and in giving 
claimants more certainty in managing their finances and it is therefore recommended that this 
continues for 2022/23.   
It is best practice to review Council Tax discounts annually to ensure they reflect any changes 
in legislation and best meet the financial needs of the Council. 

 

Resource Implications: 
For the past 10 years the Borough Council has absorbed the cost of the 10% initial reduction 
of funding imposed by the Government following the introduction of the local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and the subsequent reduction to needs based funding of 54%.  This 
significant cut to funding has resulted in most Councils making changes to their local scheme 
to balance their budgets.
Tewkesbury has made significant savings in a range of areas over the period as well as 
increasing income and Council Tax.  However, it still finds itself facing a shortfall in funding of at 
least £7.4million over the next five years according to the latest Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  It is therefore right that the Council examines all options for the making of necessary 
savings to close the budgetary gap.

Legal Implications: 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished Council Tax Benefit and instead required each billing 
authority to design a scheme specifying the reductions which are to apply to amounts of 
Council Tax.  The prescribed regulations set out the matters that must be included in such a 
scheme. 
All authorities in England are required to have a scheme identifying the reductions payable by 
their constituents who are in financial need under Section 13A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (updated in 2012).  Schedule 1A paragraph 5 of the Act states that for each 
financial year, Councils must consider whether to revise their scheme or replace it with another 
scheme and that such decisions need to be made by 11 March in the financial year preceding 
that for which the revision or replacement scheme is to take effect.  If the Council does not 
make/revise its scheme by 11 March 2022, a default scheme will be imposed on the Council 
which will be effective from 1 April 2022. 
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 amended the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  
Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) requires each billing 
authority to make a scheme specifying the reductions which are to apply to the amount of 
council tax payable. 

254



Section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) allows the Council to 
charge a council tax premium.  Section 67(2) of that Act provides that the power to decide to 
charge a premium can only be exercised by full Council.  Further, The Rating (Property in 
Common Occupation) and Council Tax Empty Dwellings Act 2018 allows billing authorities, 
from 1 April 2020, to apply a premium of an additional 200% of the council tax due where a 
dwelling has been empty for five years and over.  A premium of an additional 300% can be 
applied where the dwelling has been empty for ten years and over from April 2021. 

Risk Management Implications: 
To reduce the cost to the Council, changes would have to be made to the level of support made 
to working age claimants.  Most local authorities have already incorporated a reduced level of 
support into their local schemes, which should be reviewed on an annual basis.  There is a risk 
that the cost of maintaining the current local scheme will increase if the number of claimants 
rises due to the state of the local and national economy.  This is particularly relevant now due 
to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has seen the working age council tax reduction 
caseload rise significantly. 
Changes to council tax discounts may mean it becomes difficult to collect the increased council 
tax due, but all available enforcement remedies will be used to mitigate this risk.   

Performance Management Follow-up: 
The impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and its costs will be closely monitored and 
updated through Lead Member briefings. 

Environmental Implications: 
None. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 
1.1      In January 2020, Council approved a Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) for the 

2020/21 financial year.  The Council has remained on the national default scheme since 
Council Tax Reduction was first introduced from 1 April 2013.  Following public 
consultation on three options for a revised scheme, it was agreed that we would remain 
on the default scheme for working age claimants for 2021/22 with a minor revision of a 
tolerance for income changes.  This was due to the impact of the rules regarding the 
reassessment of Universal Credit and its impact on Council Tax Reduction.  It was also 
agreed that alternative options would again be reviewed to ensure any future scheme 
provides the right level of support for residents as well as its impact on the Council’s 
wider financial position.  Due to the current and likely ongoing impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic the advice of Officers is to remain on the default scheme for working age 
claimants for the 2022/23 financial year. 

2.0 BACKGROUND  
COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 

2.1 Since April 2013 the Council has been required to establish a Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme to help working age people on a low income to pay their Council Tax.  
This scheme replaced the national scheme for Council Tax Benefit which was fully 
funded by central government.  Tewkesbury Borough Council has remained on the 
default scheme since it was first introduced in April 2013. 

2.2 The Council is also required to administer the prescribed government Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for pension age customers and is not able to make any changes to 
this scheme. 

255



2.3 Council Tax Reduction is currently provided to 4,884 households in Tewkesbury Borough 
at an annual cost of £4.9million.  This includes working and pension age claimants.  At 
present there are 3,017 working age claimants and the cost for these is currently 
£3million.  The cost of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme is met by Tewkesbury 
Borough Council, and the major precepting authorities, in proportion to their share of the 
Council Tax.   The cost to the Council is approximately £343,000.

2.4 The legislation requires the Council to review its Council Tax Reduction Scheme on an 
annual basis.  If there are amendments to be made to the scheme these must be done 
by 11 March 2022.   

2.5 Since March 2020 we have seen a 24% in the working age Council Tax Reduction 
caseload due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Because of the continuing 
uncertainty regarding the caseload, it is proposed that we remain on the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme adopted for 2021/22, i.e. the default national scheme with a tolerance 
level for income changes of £10 or less per week. This will continue to reduce the level of 
administrative burden on the team who are required to reassess entitlement to Council 
Tax Reduction every time there is a change in a claimant’s income.  It will also make it 
easier for claimants to manage their finances as they won’t receive a new council tax bill 
every time there is a change in their income. 

 COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS 
2.6 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 abolished certain council tax discounts with 

effect from 1 April 2013 and replaced them with discounts which can be determined 
locally.  These have remained broadly the same since the 2013/14 financial year other 
than a change to the level of discount given to short term empty properties and the 
levying of an empty homes premium from 1 April 2019.  Options for council tax discounts 
have been reviewed in conjunction with proposals for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
to determine the most effective use of local discretions. 

2.7 Council determined that furnished chargeable dwellings which are not someone’s sole or 
main residence (i.e. second homes) should no longer receive a discount.  They had, prior 
to April 2013, received a discount of 10%.  If we continue to set the discount at zero it is 
estimated that this will result in additional income of £45,000 of which the Council would 
retain approximately £3,592. 

2.8 Council also determined that the discount in respect of unoccupied and substantially 
unfurnished properties should be 25% for six months.  This was changed for 2020/21 (it 
has been a discount 100% discount for one month followed by a 25% discount for five 
months) to prevent landlord/tenant disputes regarding tenancy end dates.  This change 
has proved successful and it is recommended the current level of discount is maintained 
for 2022/23. 

2.9 Council further exercised its discretion to determine those chargeable dwellings which 
are vacant and undergoing major repair work to render them habitable should be given a 
discount of 25% for 12 months.  This discount costs approximately £7,000 overall in lost 
council tax. 

2.10 Prior to 1 April 2013 billing authorities could charge up to a maximum 100% council tax 
on dwellings that have been empty for more than two years.  From April 2013 billing 
authorities were given new powers to charge a premium of up to 50% of the Council Tax 
payable.  New legislation was introduced which allows for a 100% empty homes 
premium to be levied from 1 April 2019.  This was first agreed by Members in February 
2019 and was again agreed for the 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years.  The additional 
income from this premium currently stands at £1,000 and is levied on two properties. The 
Council’s share of this income is approximately £70.   

2.11 From 1 April 2020 an additional power has been granted to allow the increase of the levy 
charge to 200% for properties which have been unoccupied and unfurnished for a period 
of over 5 years. Council adopted this option for the 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial year 
and the premium is currently levied on 10 properties resulting in additional income of 
£61,000 with the Council retaining approximately £4,000. 

256



2.12 From April 2021, a further power was granted to increase the empty homes premium to 
300% for properties that have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for more 
than 10 years.  For the financial year 2021/22 there were six properties that met this 
criteria and the levying of the additional charge resulted in further income of £10,000.  
For 2022/23 there are three further properties that meet these criteria and the levying of 
the additional charge will result in further income of £13,000, with our share being 
minimal as it was in 2021/22.  More widely, however, it would continue to support the 
Council’s strategy to bring empty properties back into use. 

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

3.1 To not agree a Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2022/23.  This would have financial 
implications for the Council and those residents affected by wider welfare reform as well 
as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

4.0 CONSULTATION 
4.1 The legislation requires consultation prior to making a change to the Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme, but there is no such requirement where no change is being made.  
Accordingly, no public consultation has taken place regarding the proposed scheme for 
2022/23 as the proposal is that it remains unchanged.  

5. RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 
5.1 The Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  
6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  
6.1 The Council is required to adopt a Council Tax Reduction Scheme for working age 

claimants on an annual basis. 
6.2 Legislation was drafted with an express intention to use Empty Homes Premium as a tool 

to support bringing empty properties back into use. 
7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 
7.1 None directly associated with this report other than officer time. 
8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 

Environment) 
8.1 None. 
9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 

And Safety) 
9.1 To support the preferred option an equalities impact assessment will be produced. 
10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  
10.1 None. 

 
Background Papers:   None 
Contact Officer:           Revenues and Benefits Manager 
 01684 272119 
 geni.hotchkiss@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
Appendices:                 None.   
 

257


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Executive Committee Forward Plan
	7 Council Plan Performance Tracker and COVID-19 Recovery Tracker - Quarter One 2021/22
	Appendix 1- Q1 Council plan-performance report to Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Q1 21-22 Performance management-OS covering report
	Appendix 1- Council Plan Performance Tracker Q1 2021-22 (Inc KPI)
	Appendix 2- Recovery Plan Performance Tracker Q1 2021-22 (Inc KPI)
	Appendix 3 - Revenue Budget Q1
	Summary

	Appendix 4 - Capital Budgets Q1
	Appendix 2

	Appendix 5 - Reserves Q1
	Appendix 3



	8 Home Office Consultation - Extending the Police and Crime Commissioners Power of Competence
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Document_Giving PCCs Greater Powers of Competence

	9 Tewkesbury Garden Town - Evolution of the Concept Plan
	TGT Evo ConceptPlan - Appendix

	10 Homeseeker Plus Sub-Regional Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy
	Appendix 1 - Homeseeker plus policy for adoption
	Contents
	1. Introduction and policy statement
	2. Legal
	3. Scheme conditions
	4. Assessment of applications
	5. Scheme Details
	6. Allocations
	7. Monitoring and review
	Introduction
	Overview of how the partnership functions
	Policy statement
	Equal opportunities and social inclusion

	Legal Framework
	Data retention
	Definition of social housing providers for Homeseekerplus
	Types of tenancies
	Who is eligible to register?
	Who is not eligible to register?
	Who does not qualify?
	Suspending and demoting an application
	Providing false information and change of circumstances
	Local Connections
	Local connection clarification
	How to register
	Assessment of an application
	Bedroom need assessment
	Verification
	Banding reasons
	Right to move
	Property size
	Property condition
	Homelessness
	Medical Need
	Welfare Need
	Move on/care leavers
	Multi-Agency

	Banding Table
	Additional bedroom needs criteria
	Time limited bands
	Demotion
	Global banding criteria
	Completed applications
	Annual Review process
	Removing applications
	Bidding
	Advertisements
	Property descriptions
	Rural settlements and local letting plans
	Shortlisting
	By-passing
	Withdrawal
	Refusals
	Homelessness
	Direct matching
	Review/appeal procedure
	Subject access requests
	Use of statistical information
	Policy management


	Appendix 2 - Consultation outcomes

	11 Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Council Tax Discounts

